The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski space.

Philippe G. LeFloch* and Yue Ma^{\dagger}

December 2017

*Laboratoire Jacques-Louis Lions and Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Sorbonne Université, 4 Place Jussieu, 75252 Paris, France. Email: contact@philippelefloch.org

[†] School of Mathematics and Statistics, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, 710049 Shaanxi, People's Republic of China. Email: yuemath@mail.xjtu.edu.cn

Abstract. We study the initial value problem for two fundamental theories of gravity, that is, Einstein's field equations of general relativity and the (fourth-order) field equations of f(R)-modified gravity. For both of these physical theories, we investigate the global dynamics of a self-gravitating massive matter field when an initial data set is prescribed on an asymptotically flat and spacelike hypersurface, provided these data are sufficiently close to data in Minkowski spacetime. Under such conditions, we thus establish the global nonlinear stability of Minkowski spacetime in presence of massive matter. In addition, we provide a rigorous mathematical validation of the f(R)-theory based on analyzing a singular limit problem, when the function f(R) arising in the generalized Hilbert-Einstein functional approaches the scalar curvature function R of the standard Hilbert-Einstein functional. In this limit we prove that f(R)-Cauchy developments converge to Einstein's Cauchy developments in the regime close to Minkowski space.

Our proofs rely on a new strategy, introduced here and referred to as the Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (EHFM). This is a major extension of the Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (HFM) which we used earlier for the Einstein-massive field system but for a restricted class of initial data. Here, the data are solely assumed to satisfy an asymptotic flatness condition and be small in a weighted energy norm. These results for matter spacetimes provide a significant extension to the existing stability theory for vacuum spacetimes, developed by Christodoulou and Klainerman and revisited by Lindblad and Rodnianski.

The EHFM approach allows us to solve the global existence problem for a broad class of nonlinear systems of coupled wave-Klein-Gordon equations. As far as gravity theories are concerned, we cope with the nonlinear coupling between the matter and the geometry parts of the field equations. Our method does not use Minkowski's scaling field, which is the essential challenge we overcome here in order to encompass wave-Klein-Gordon equations.

We introduce a spacetime foliation based on glueing together asymptotically Euclidian hypersurfaces and asymptotically hyperboloidal hypersurfaces. Well-chosen frames of vector fields (null-semi-hyperboloidal frame, Euclidian-hyperboloidal frame) allow us to exhibit the structure of the equations under consideration as well as to analyze the decay of solutions in time and in space. New Sobolev inequalities valid in positive cones and in each domain of our Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliation are established and a bootstrap argument is formulated, which involves a hierarchy of (almost optimal) energy and pointwise bounds and distinguishes between low- and high-order derivatives of the solutions. Dealing with the (fourth-order) f(R)-theory requires a number of additional ideas: a conformal wave gauge, an augmented formulation of the field equations, the quasi-null hyperboloidal structure, and a singular analysis to cope with the limit $f(R) \to R$.

Contents

Fo	rmula	ation of the problem	7
Pur	pose o	f this Monograph	7
1.1	Main	objectives	7
	1.1.1	Evolution of self-gravitating massive matter	7
	1.1.2	A new method for the global existence problem	8
	1.1.3	Two conjectures made by physicists	9
1.2	Backg	round and methodology	10
	1.2.1	Massless vs. massive problems	10
	1.2.2	The Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (EHFM) \ldots	11
	1.2.3	Kinetic equations and other generalizations	12
1.3	Gravit	y field equations	13
	1.3.1	The Hilbert-Einstein functional	13
	1.3.2	The generalized gravity functional	14
	1.3.3	Evolution of the spacetime scalar curvature	16
	1.3.4	Dynamics of massive matter	16
The	initia	l value formulation	17
2.1	The C	auchy problem for the Einstein equations	17
	2.1.1	Einstein's constraint equations	17
	2.1.2	Einstein's Cauchy developments	19
2.2	The fo	ormulation of the $f(R)$ -gravity theory	20
	2.2.1	Evolution of the scalar curvature	20
	2.2.2	Field equations for the conformal metric	21
	2.2.3	The conformal field formulation of $f(R)$ -gravity	23
2.3	The C	auchy problem for the $f(R)$ -field equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	24
	2.3.1	The $f(R)$ -constraint equations	24
	2.3.2	The notion of $f(R)$ -Cauchy developments	26
	2.3.3	Equivalent formulation in the conformal metric $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	27
	Fo Pur 1.1 1.2 1.3 The 2.1 2.2 2.3	Formula Purpose of 1.1 Main (1,1,1) 1.1,2 1.1,3 1.2 Backg 1.2,1 1.2,2 1.2,3 1.3 Gravit 1.3,1 1.3,2 1.3,3 1.3,4 The initia 2.1 The C 2.1,1 2.1,2 2.2 The fo 2.2,1 2.2,2 2.2,3 2.3 The C 2.3,1 2.3,2 2.3,3 1.3 Constants 1.3	Formulation of the problemPurpose of this Monograph1.1Main objectives

II	Ν	onlin	ear stability statements	28
3	The	global	l stability of Minkowski space	28
	3.1	Initial	data sets of interest	28
		3.1.1	Minkowski and Schwarzschild spacetimes	28
		3.1.2	The class of initial data sets of interest	29
	3.2	Three	main results of nonlinear stability	31
		3.2.1	The Einstein theory	31
		3.2.2	The theory of $f(R)$ -gravity	32
		3.2.3	The infinite mass problem $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	33
4	The	wave-	Klein-Gordon formulation in EH foliations	34
	4.1	A class	s of wave-Klein-Gordon systems	34
		4.1.1	Gauge freedom	34
		4.1.2	The formulation in coordinates	35
		4.1.3	The formal limit toward Einstein's equations	37
		4.1.4	Derivation of the wave-Klein-Gordon system	38
	4.2	The E	uclidian-hyperboloidal foliation (EHF)	39
		4.2.1	A decomposition of the spacetime	39
		4.2.2	Definition of the time foliation of interest	41
		4.2.3	Weighted Sobolev-type energy norms	43
5	The	nonlir	near stability in wave gauge	44
	5.1	Main 1	results	44
		5.1.1	Einstein equations in wave gauge	44
		5.1.2	The $f(R)$ -equations in wave gauge $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	45
	5.2	A new	strategy of proof: the EHF method	46
		5.2.1	Dealing simultaneously with the Einstein and $f(R)$ -equations .	46
		5.2.2	The notion of Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation (EFH)	46
		5.2.3	Main challenge and difficulties	47
		5.2.4	Main technical contributions in this Monograph $\ . \ . \ . \ .$.	48
		5.2.5	From geometric data to wave gauge data $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	49

11	The notion of Euclidian-Hyperboloidal foliations		51	
6 Defining Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliations (EHF)				
	.1 Defining the time function		. 51	
	.2 Defining the foliation		. 53	
	.3 Jacobian of the coordinate transformation	•	. 55	
7	rames of interest and the null condition		57	
	.1 The semi-hyperboloidal frame (SHF)		. 57	
	.2 The null frame (NF)		. 58	
	.3 The Euclidian-hyperboloidal frame (EHF)	•	. 59	
8	The weighted energy estimate		60	
	.1 Statement of the energy estimate	•	. 60	
	.2 Derivation of the energy estimate	•	. 61	
T				
	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHE		65	
-	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF		65	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities		65 65	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I		65 65 . 65	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I		65 65 65 67	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I	•	65 65 65 67 69	
9 10	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .1 Notation		65 65 65 67 69 69	
9 10	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I		65 65 65 67 69 69 70	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I	•	65 65 65 67 69 69 70 72	
9	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .2 A Sobolev inequalities for EHF 0.1 Notation 0.2 A sup-norm Sobolev estimate 0.3 A Sobolev inequality for the transition and exterior domains 0.4 A Sobolev inequality for the interior domain	•	65 65 65 67 69 69 70 70 72 73	
9 10 11	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I	•	65 65 65 67 69 69 70 72 73 73	
9 10 11	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .2 A Sobolev inequalities for EHF 0.1 Notation 0.2 A sup-norm Sobolev estimate 0.3 A Sobolev inequality for the transition and exterior domains 0.4 A Sobolev inequality for the interior domain A Sobolev inequality for the interior domain 1.1 Objective	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	65 65 65 67 69 69 70 70 72 73 73 75	
9 10 11	Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities .1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I .2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II .2 A Sobolev inequalities for EHF 0.1 Notation 0.2 A sup-norm Sobolev estimate 0.3 A Sobolev inequality for the transition and exterior domains 0.4 A Sobolev inequality for the interior domain Commutators in the interior domain. A summary 1.1 Objective 1.2 Commutators for vector fields in the interior domain	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	65 65 65 67 69 69 70 70 72 73 75 75 75 76	

12 A general framework for the commutator estimates on the EHF	79
12.1 Basic commutation relations and homogeneous functions	79
12.2 Decompositions of commutators. I	82
12.3 Decomposition of commutators. II	84
12.4 Decomposition of commutators. III	87
12.5 Decomposition of commutators. IV	87
V Field equations for self-gravitating matter	89
13 Nonlinear structure of the field equations in conformal wave gauge	89
13.1 The wave Klein-Gordon formulation in symbolic notation	89
13.2 Homogeneous functions and nonlinearities of the field equations \ldots	92
14 The quasi-null structure for the null-hyperboloidal frame	98
14.1 The nonlinear wave equations for the metric components \ldots \ldots \ldots	98
14.2 Reduction of the expression of quasi-null terms	101
14.3 The null-semi-hyperboloidal $(0,0)$ -component	105
15 Ricci curvature in conformal wave coordinates	108
15.1 Expression of the curvature	108
15.2 Higher-order contributions	109
15.3 Quadratic contributions \ldots	111
15.4 Concluding the calculation	114
References	215

Part I Formulation of the problem

1 Purpose of this Monograph

1.1 Main objectives

1.1.1 Evolution of self-gravitating massive matter

Two theories of gravity. We are interested in the global evolution problem for selfgravitating massive matter, which we formulate as an initial value problem associated with the Einstein equations of general relativity or with the field equations of the f(R)modified theory of gravity. Einstein's theory goes back to 1915, while the f(R)-theory was formulated in 1970 by Buchdahl [21]. In this latter gravity theory, the integrand of the Hilbert-Einstein functional, i.e. the spacetime scalar curvature R (cf. (1.1), below), is replaced by a nonlinear function satisfying $f(R) \simeq R + \frac{\kappa}{2}R^2$ for some small constant $\kappa > 0$ (cf. (1.5), below).

Both theories play a central role in the foundations of astrophysics and cosmology and it is natural to investigate the global nonlinear stability of the 'ground state' of these theories, i.e. Minkowski spacetime. This spacetime represents the geometry of a vacuum Universe at equilibrium. While building on the pioneering work by Christodoulou and Klainerman [33] on the vacuum stability problem (cf. our review in Section 1.2.1, below), our aim in this Monograph is to solve the global stability problem for massive matter, i.e. to study the global evolution of a self-gravitating massive field.

Three main results. More precisely, by prescribing an initial data set on a spacelike hypersurface which is asymptotically flat (in a suitable sense) and is sufficiently close to a slice of (empty, flat) Minkowski spacetime, we solve the following three nonlinear stability problems:

- (1) The global existence problem for the Einstein-massive field system.
- (2) The global existence problem for the field equations of f(R)-gravity.
- (3) The global validation of the f(R)-theory in the limit¹ $f(R) \to R$.

In particular, we prove that global Cauchy developments of f(R)-gravity are "close" (in a sense we specify) to global Cauchy developments of Einstein theory.

The problems under consideration are geometric in nature and require a choice of gauge. Our analysis relies on the wave gauge, i.e on coordinate functions satisfying the wave equation (in the unknown metric). We built here on Lindblad and Rodnianski's pioneering work [95] concerning the vacuum Einstein equations, while bringing in significantly new insights and techniques required in order to cope with the three new problems above. We emphasize that, even for vacuum spacetimes, our results are stronger than those established earlier in [95] since we include a broader class of initial data sets.

1.1.2 A new method for the global existence problem

The mathematical analysis of self-gravitating massive fields was initiated by the authors in [87, 88], where the first of the above three problems was solved for the restricted class of initial data sets coinciding with Schwarzschild data outside of a spatially compact domain. In the present Monograph, we remove this restriction entirely and, moreover, provide a resolution to all of the three problems above. Our stability theorems encompass initial data sets which are characterized in terms of weighted Sobolev-type norms and pointwise decay conditions at spacelike infinity.

Several novel techniques of analysis are introduced in this Monograph, which are expected to be useful also for other problems. Namely, the fourth contribution of the present Monograph is a vast generalization of the Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (HFM) discussed by the authors in the earlier work [87, 88]. We refer to our approach as:

(4) The Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (EHFM).

¹We can also refer to this problem as the *infinite mass problem*.

While we develop this approach primarily for problems arising in gravity theory, we expect it to be useful to tackle the global existence problem for a broad class of nonlinear systems of coupled wave-Klein-Gordon equations.

1.1.3 Two conjectures made by physicists

Asymptotically flat spacetimes. Numerical investigations of the stability problem (1) above for small perturbations of massive fields had originally suggested a potential mechanism for *nonlinear instability*. Indeed, the family of oscillating soliton stars (defined in [48, 116]) provides a potential candidate for instabilities that may develop during the evolution of matter governed by the Einstein equations. After several controversies, only the most recent numerical developments(cf. [106]) have finally led to a definite conjecture: in asymptotically flat spacetimes, one expects massive fields to be globally *nonlinearly stable*.

Advanced numerical methods (including mesh refinement and high-order accuracy) were necessary and, in the long-time evolution of arbitrarily small perturbations of oscillating soliton stars, the following nonlinear mechanism takes place: in a first phase of the evolution, the matter tends to collapse and, potentially, could evolve to a black hole; however, in an intermediate phase of the evolution and below a certain threshold in the mass amplitude, the collapse significantly slows down, until the final phase of the evolution is reached and a strong dissipation mechanism eventually prevents the collapse from occurring.

It was thus conjectured that *dispersion effects* are dominant in the long-time evolution of self-gravitating matter. The present work provides the first rigorous proof of this conjecture.

Asymptotically AdS spacetimes. It is worth mentioning that, in asymptotically anti-de Sitter (AdS) spacetimes, it was observed numerically that the evolution of generic (and arbitrarily small) initial perturbations leads to the formation of black holes. In such spacetimes, matter is confined (i.e. timelike geodesics reach the AdS boundary in a finite proper time) and *cannot disperse*; the effect of gravity remains dominant during all of the evolution, unavoidably leading to the formation of black holes; cf. Bizon et al. [16, 17, 18] and Dafermos and Holzegel [35, 36].

It is only in a recent work by Moschidis [103, 104] that the instability phenomena in asymptotically AdS spacetimes was rigorously established when the spherically symmetric Einstein–massless Vlasov system is considered.

The theory of f(R)-gravity. Another important conjecture made by physicists is relevant to the present study and concerns the theory of modified gravity theory. By construction, this theory is expected to be a "correction" to Einstein's theory, so that solutions to the f(R)-field equations (discussed below) are conjectured to be "close" to those of Einstein's equations when the defining function f(R) is close to the scalar curvature function R.

Of course, at a formal level it is straightforward to check that the field equations determined from the nonlinear function $f(R) \simeq R + \frac{\kappa}{2}R^2$ "converge" to Einstein's field equations when the defining parameter $\kappa \to 0$. The challenge is to establish this property rigorously for a class of solutions. Indeed, in this work we resolve this conjecture for the class of spacetimes under consideration.

We establish that f(R)-Cauchy developments converge to Einstein's Cauchy developments, and this result therefore provides a mathematical validation of the f(R)modified theory of gravity.

1.2 Background and methodology

1.2.1 Massless vs. massive problems

Previous works. As far as the global evolution problem in 3 + 1 dimension is concerned, only spacetimes satisfying the vacuum Einstein equations have received attention in the past twenty five years. The subject was initiated in 1993 when the global nonlinear stability of Minkowski spacetime was established by Christodoulou and Klainerman in a breakthrough and very influential work [33]. The method of proof introduced therein is fully geometric in nature and, among other novel ideas, relies on a clever use of the properties of the Killing fields of Minkowski spacetime in order to define suitably weighted Sobolev norms and on a decomposition of the Einstein equations within a (null) frame associated with the Lorentzian structure of the spacetimes.

Later on, Bieri succeeded to weaken the spacelike asymptotic decay assumptions required in [33]; cf. the monograph [15] written together with Zipser. Next, Lindblad and Rodnianski [95] discovered an alternative proof, which is technically simpler but provides less control on the asymptotic behavior of solutions. (For instance, Penrose's peeling estimates were not established in [95]. This method relies on a decomposition of the Einstein equations in wave coordinates [94] and takes its roots in earlier work by Klainerman [76, 77, 79, 80] on the global existence problem for nonlinear wave equations; see also [31] for a different approach and [67, 68].

Restriction to massless fields. Importantly, both methods [33, 95] only apply to vacuum spacetimes or, more generally, to massless fields, since the scaling vector field of Minkowski spacetime is used in a very essential manner therein. In contrast, massive fields considered in the present Monograph are governed by Klein-Gordon equations which are not invariant under scaling. Minkowski's scaling vector field does not commute with the Klein-Gordon operator and, therefore, cannot be used in defining weighted Sobolev norms and deriving energy estimates. Without this field, the weighted Sobolev norms in [33, 95] are too lax to provide a suitable control on solutions.

1.2.2 The Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (EHFM)

A new method. The main challenge we overcome in this Monograph is the resolution of the global evolution problem for massive matter fields. We introduce a method of mathematical analysis for nonlinear wave equations, which does not require Minkowski's scaling field. This new method, referred to here as the *Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method* (EHFM), generalizes the method we introduced in [85, 87, 88] and referred to there as the Hyperboloidal Foliation Method (HFM). The latter already allowed us to tackle a large class of nonlinear systems of coupled wave-Klein-Gordon equations.

In [85, 87, 88], we relied on a foliation of the interior of the light cone in Minkowski spacetime by spacelike hyperboloids and we derive sharp pointwise and energy estimates in order to be able to study the nonlinear coupling taking place between wave and Klein-Gordon equations. Our method had the advantage of relying on the Lorentz

boosts and the translations only, rather than on the full family of (conformal) Killing fields of Minkowski spacetime.

With the Hyperboloidal Foliation Method, we solved the global nonlinear stability problem when the Einstein equations are coupled to a massive scalar field and are expressed in wave gauge. Only the restricted class of initial data sets coinciding with Schwarzschild data outside a spatially compact domain was treated in [88].

The present Monograph provides a vast extension of our previous arguments and covers a broad class of initial data sets while, simultaneously, treating a significant generalization of Einstein's theory. The approach we propose here relies on a spacetime foliation based on glueing together asymptotically Euclidian hypersurfaces and asymptotically hyperboloidal hypersurfaces. For our main tools, we refer to Part III and IV below. A presentation of the method is also provided in [90].

Hyperboloidal foliations. In the case of wave-Klein-Gordon equations in 1 + 1 dimensions to be discussed in [98], solutions enjoy much better properties [37, 123]. The use of hyperboloidal foliations for wave equations was suggested first by Klainerman [77, 78] and, later, investigated by Hormander [62]. Earlier on, in [49, 50, 51], Friedrich also studied hyperboloidal foliations of Einstein spacetimes and succeed to establish global existence results for the Cauchy problem for the conformal vacuum field equations.

Hyperboloidal foliations can also be constructed in fully geometric manner by generalizing Christodoulou-Klainerman's method. In this direction, Wang [137] independently also obtained a very different proof of the restricted theorem [88]. We also mention that Donninger and Zenginoglu [40] recently studied cubic wave equations which exhibit a non-dispersive decay property. Furthermore, such foliations for the Einstein equations were constructed numerically by Moncrief and Rinne [100], and is a very active domain of research for numerical relativity [5, 45, 46, 59, 141].

1.2.3 Kinetic equations and other generalizations

Kinetic equations. We expect the Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation Method of this Monograph to be relevant also for the study of the coupling of the Einstein equations with *kinetic equations*, such as the Vlasov equation (cf. [4, 111] for an introduction).

In this direction, recall that Fajman, Joudioux, and Smulevici [41, 43] have analyzed the global existence problem for a class of relativistic transport equations and their coupling to wave equations, and relying on [88] together with a new vector field technique [121, 41], established the stability of Minkowski spacetime for the Einstein-Vlasov system [43] for initial data sets coinciding with vacuum Schwarzschild data outside a spatially compact domain. Such a stability result for the Einstein-Vlasov system was also independently proven by Lindblad and Taylor by a completely different method [96, 132].

The application to kinetic equations, therefore, needs to be be further investigated and it would be desirable to extend our new approach EHFM to the Einstein-Vlasov equations and, more generally, to the Einstein-Boltzmann equations.

Klein-Gordon equations. Concerning the global existence problem for the Einstein-Klein-Gordon system with non-compact data, we also mention an ongoing research project by Wang [138] based on the fully geometric approach [33, 137] and, while our project came under completion, we also learned that Ionescu and Pausader [66] were also studying this problem by using a completely different methodology including the notion of resonances from [118] and [14, 55, 56, 81, 109, 110]. In this direction, our wave-Klein-Gordon model in [87] is already successfully revisited by Ionescu and Pausader [65] for a class of non-compact matter fields.

We conclude this brief review by mentioning that nonlinear wave equations of Klein-Gordon type, especially when they are posed on curved spacetimes, have been the subject of extensive research in the past two decades. A vast literature is available in this topic and we refer the interested reader to our former review in the introduction of [88], as well as [8, 9, 62, 63, 69, 70, 78, 92, 117, 119, 125] and the references cited therein.

1.3 Gravity field equations

1.3.1 The Hilbert-Einstein functional

Einstein curvature. Throughout this Monograph, we are interested in four-dimensional spacetimes (\mathcal{M}, g) where \mathcal{M} is a topological manifold (taken to be $\mathcal{M} \simeq [1, +\infty) \times$

 \mathbb{R}^3) and g is a Lorentzian metric with signature (-, +, +, +). The Levi-Civita connection of the metric g is denoted by $\nabla_g = \nabla$ from which we can determine the (Riemann, Ricci, scalar) curvature of the spacetime.

The standard theory of gravity is based on the Hilbert-Einstein action defined from the scalar curvature $R_g = R$ of the metric g:

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} \left(R_g + 16\pi L[\phi, g] \right) dV_g, \tag{1.1}$$

where dV_g denotes the canonical volume form on (\mathcal{M}, g) . It is well-known that critical points of this action satisfy *Einstein's field equations*

$$G_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi T_{\alpha\beta} \qquad \text{in } (\mathcal{M}, g),$$
 (1.2)

in which

$$G_{\alpha\beta} := R_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{R_g}{2} g_{\alpha\beta} \tag{1.3}$$

is the *Einstein curvature tensor* and $R_{\alpha\beta}$ denotes the Ricci curvature of the metric g, which later we will express explicitly in coordinates in Proposition 13.1.

Matter tensor. The Lagrangian $16\pi L[\phi, g]$ describes the matter content of the spacetime and allows us to determine the right-hand side of (1.3), given by the energy-momentum tensor

$$T_{\alpha\beta} = T_{\alpha\beta}[\phi, g] := -2 \frac{\delta L}{\delta g^{\alpha\beta}}[\phi, g] + g_{\alpha\beta} L[\phi, g].$$
(1.4)

Throughout, Greek indices describe 0, 1, 2, 3 and we use the standard convention of implicit summation over repeated indices, as well as raising and lowering indices with respect to the metric $g_{\alpha\beta}$ and its inverse denoted by $g^{\alpha\beta}$. For instance, we write $X_{\alpha} = g_{\alpha\beta}X^{\beta}$ for the duality between vectors and 1-forms.

1.3.2 The generalized gravity functional

A modified gravity action. The so-called f(R)-modified theory of gravity is a generalization of Einstein's theory and is based on the following modified gravity action

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} \left(f(R_g) + 16\pi L[\phi, g] \right) dV_g, \tag{1.5}$$

in which $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a given (sufficiently smooth) function. In order for the modified theory to be a formal extension of Einstein's theory, we assume that $f(r) \simeq r$ in the zero curvature limit $r \to 0$. More precisely, we assume that

$$f(R) \simeq R + \frac{\kappa}{2}R^2 \quad \text{as } R \to 0$$
 (1.6)

for some positive coefficient¹ $\kappa > 0$. For some historical background about this theory, we refer to Buchdahl [21] and Brans and Dicke [19], as well as [25, 26, 105, 114] and the references therein.

Critical points of (1.5) satisfy the following f(R)-field equations

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi T_{\alpha\beta}[\phi, g] \qquad \text{in } (\mathcal{M}, g), \tag{1.7}$$

in which

$$N_{\alpha\beta} := f'(R_g) G_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \Big(f(R_g) - R_g f'(R_g) \Big) g_{\alpha\beta} + \Big(g_{\alpha\beta} \Box_g - \nabla_\alpha \nabla_\beta \Big) \big(f'(R_g) \big) \quad (1.8)$$

is referred to as the modified gravity tensor. Here, $\Box_g := \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla^{\alpha}$ is the wave operator associated with the metric g.

The limit problem $f(R) \to R$. We observe the following:

- Within the above theory, Einstein's equations are obviously recovered by choosing the function f(R) to be the linear function R.
- In the limit $\kappa \to 0$ in (1.6), one has $f(R) \to R$ and the field equations (1.7) formally converge to the Einstein equations (1.2).

Clearly, taking the limit $f(R) \to R$ is singular in nature, since (1.2) involves up to second-order derivatives of the unknown metric g, while (1.7) contains fourth-order terms. One of our objectives will be to rigorously prove that solutions of (1.7) converge (in a sense to be specified) to solutions of (1.2).

¹The positive sign of $\kappa := f''(0)$ is essential for the global-in-time stability of solutions, but is irrelevant for their local-in-time existence.

1.3.3 Evolution of the spacetime scalar curvature

Next, taking the trace of the field equations (1.7), we obtain

$$3\Box_g f'(R_g) + \left(-2f(R_g) + R_g f'(R_g)\right) = 8\pi g^{\alpha\beta} T_{\alpha\beta} \qquad \text{in } (\mathcal{M}, g), \qquad (1.9)$$

which is a second-order evolution equation for the spacetime curvature R. It will play a central role in our analysis. Interestingly enough, from (1.6), we have

$$(-2f(R) + f'(R)R) \simeq -R \quad (\text{when } R \to 0),$$

so that the linear part of the differential operator in (1.9) reads (with $\kappa > 0$)

$$\Box R_g - \frac{1}{3\kappa} R_g. \tag{1.10}$$

Hence, the scalar curvature function $R_g : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies a nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. In view of (1.10), we can refer to $1/\kappa$ as the mass parameter.

The study of the convergence problem "modified gravity toward Einstein gravity", or *infinite mass problem*, will require to understand the singular limit $\kappa \to 0$ in solutions to the differential operator (1.10).

1.3.4 Dynamics of massive matter

Massive scalar field. From the twice-contracted Bianchi identities $\nabla^{\alpha} R_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\beta} R$, the Einstein tensor as well as the modified gravity tensor are easily checked to be divergence free, that is,

$$\nabla^{\alpha}G_{\alpha\beta} = \nabla^{\alpha}N_{\alpha\beta} = 0 \tag{1.11}$$

and, consequently, the following matter evolution equations hold

$$\nabla^{\alpha} T_{\alpha\beta} = 0 \qquad \text{in } (\mathcal{M}, g). \tag{1.12}$$

We are interested here in massive scalar fields $\phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ corresponding to the following energy-momentum tensor:

$$T_{\alpha\beta} := \nabla_{\alpha}\phi\nabla_{\beta}\phi - \left(\frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\gamma}\phi\nabla^{\gamma}\phi + U(\phi)\right)g_{\alpha\beta},\tag{1.13}$$

in which the potential $U = U(\phi)$ is a prescribed function depending on the nature of the matter field under consideration.

Nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. By combining (1.12) and (1.13), we see that the field ϕ satisfies a nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation associated with the unknown curved metric g:

$$\Box_g \phi - U'(\phi) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (\mathcal{M}, g), \tag{1.14}$$

which is expected to uniquely determine the evolution of the matter (after prescribing suitable initial data). Throughout, we assume that

$$U(\phi) = \frac{c^2}{2}\phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^3).$$
 (1.15)

for some constant c > 0, referred to as the mass of the scalar field.

For instance, with the choice $U(\phi) = \frac{c^2}{2}\phi^2$, (1.14) is nothing but the Klein-Gordon equation $\Box_g \phi - c^2 \phi = 0$, which would be *linear* for a known metric g. However, our challenge is precisely to understand the *nonlinear coupling problem* when the metric g itself is one of the unknowns and is given by solving (1.3) or (1.7) (with suitably prescribed initial data).

2 The initial value formulation

2.1 The Cauchy problem for the Einstein equations

2.1.1 Einstein's constraint equations

We begin with a discussion of the initial value problem for Einstein's field equations coupled with a massive scalar field and, next, present our generalization to the f(R)field equations.

The formulation of the initial value problem for the Einstein equations is based on the prescription of an initial data set, denoted here by $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1)$, which provides us with the intrinsic and extrinsic geometry of the initial hypersurface (i.e. the induced metric and the second fundamental form of the hypersurface), and with the matter variables on this hypersurface, denoted here by (ϕ_0, ϕ_1) , which provide us with the initial value of the scalar field and its Lie derivative in the timelike direction (normal to the hypersurface).

Importantly, such an initial data cannot be chosen arbitrarily, but must satisfy certain constraint conditions of Gauss-Codazzi-type. We assume that the spacetime under consideration is foliated (at least locally, for the sake of this argument) by a time function $t : \mathcal{M} \to [1, +\infty)$, so that a local chart can be expressed as (t, x^a) with a = 1, 2, 3. Obviously, a solution to (1.2) may exist only if, in these coordinates, at least the equations¹

$$G_{00} = 8\pi T_{00}, \qquad G_{0a} = 8\pi T_{0a}, \tag{2.1}$$

are satisfied. However, these four equations turn out to involve only the induced metric and second fundamental form to the initial hypersurface $\{t = 1\}$ as well as matter data. This motivates the introduction of the following definition.

Observe that the following definition does not require any topological or asymptotic assumptions on the data.

Definition 2.1. An initial data set for the Einstein-massive field system (1.2) consists of data $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1)$ satisfying the following conditions:

- \mathcal{M}_0 is a 3-dimensional manifold, endowed with a Riemannian metric g_0 and a symmetric (0, 2)-tensor field k_0 .
- ϕ_0 and ϕ_1 are scalar fields defined on \mathcal{M}_0 .
- The so-called Hamiltonian constraint holds:

$$R_0 - k_{0,ab}k_0^{ab} + (k_{0,a}^a)^2 = 8\pi \left(\nabla_{0,a}\phi_0 \nabla_0^a \phi_1 + (\phi_1)^2 + 4 U(\phi_0) \right),$$
(2.2)

in which $R_0 = R_{g_0}$ denotes the scalar curvature of the Riemannian metric g_0 and ∇_0 denotes its Levi-Civita connection.

• The so-called momentum constraints hold:

$$\nabla_{0,b}k^a_{0,a} - \nabla_{0,a}k^a_{0,b} = 8\pi \,\phi_1 \nabla_{0,b}\phi_0. \tag{2.3}$$

Of course, the indices in (2.2) and (2.3) are raised or lowered with the metric g_0 , so that for instance $k_{0,ab}k_0^{ab} = g_0^{aa'}g_0^{bb'}k_{0,ab}k_{0,a'b''}$ and $\nabla_{0,a}\phi_0\nabla_0^a\phi_1 = g_0^{ab}\nabla_{0,a}\phi_0\nabla_{0,b}\phi_1$.

¹The remaining equations $G_{ab} = 8\pi T_{ab}$ provide us with genuine evolution equations.

2.1.2 Einstein's Cauchy developments

A geometric notion of solution. Relying on Definition 2.1, we can now formulate the Cauchy problem, as follows. (In the following, we focus on the future evolution of the data so that \mathcal{M}_0 is taken to be the past boundary of the spacetime.)

Definition 2.2. Given an initial data set $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1)$, the initial value problem for the Einstein equations consists of finding a Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) (endowed with a time-orientation) and a scalar field $\phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that:

- (\mathfrak{M}, g) satisfies Einstein's field equations (1.2)-(1.3)-(1.13).
- There exists an embedding i : (M₀, g₀) → (M, g) with pull-back metric i*g = g₀ and second fundamental form k₀, so one can write M₀ ⊂ M.
- The field ϕ_0 coincides with the restriction $\phi|_{\mathcal{M}_0}$, while ϕ_1 coincides with the Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_n \phi|_{\mathcal{M}_0}$, where n denotes the unit future-oriented normal along \mathcal{M}_0 .

A solution satisfying the conditions in Definition 2.8 is referred to as *Einstein's Cauchy development* of the initial data set $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1)$. Moreover, by definition, a globally hyperbolic development is a solution such that every inextendible causal curve (whose tangent vector is either timelike or null) meets the initial hypersurface exactly once. Furthermore, by analogy with the theory of ordinary differential equations, one actually seek for the maximal development associated with a given initial data set. These notions were introduced in Choquet-Bruhat together with Geroch [29]; see [44] and the textbook [30] for further details.

The main challenge of the gravitation theory. In general relativity, the main mathematical chalenge is to determine, at least for certain classes of initial data sets, the global geometry of the Cauchy developments. It is known that solutions can become "singular" and the evolution may lead to the formation of trapped surfaces and eventually to the formation of black holes. (Cf. the textbook by Hawking and Ellis [58].)

It is natural to restrict this problem to initial data sets that are perturbations of particular solutions and, of course, the Minkowski geometry stands out as the *ground state* of the theory of gravity. By considering perturbations of Minkowski spacetime, possibly in presence of matter as we do in this Monograph, the challenge is to establish that the Cauchy developments in Definition 2.2 are geodesically complete in future timelike directions. This means that a timelike geodesic can be extended for arbitrary large values of its affine parameter. From a physical standpoint, in such a spacetime, an observer (represented by a timelike curve) can live forever and its proper time may approach infinity.

2.2 The formulation of the f(R)-gravity theory

2.2.1 Evolution of the scalar curvature

A new unknown metric. Next, we turn our attention to the f(R)-field equations (1.7) which, as we already pointed out, are *fourth-order* in the metric g. Remarkably, these equations can be conformally transformed to a *third-order* form, as follows.

Definition 2.3. The (unphysical) conformal metric g^{\dagger} associated with a solution (\mathcal{M}, g) to the f(R)-field equations (1.7) is defined from the (physical) metric g by setting

$$g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = e^{\kappa\rho}g_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \rho = \frac{1}{\kappa}\ln(f'(R_g)), \qquad (2.4)$$

in which the conformal factor $\rho : (\mathcal{M}, g) \to \mathbb{R}$ is referred to as the scalar curvature field.

In view of (1.6), we have $f'(R) \simeq 1 + \kappa R$, so that the field ρ approaches the scalar curvature R in the limit $\kappa \to 0$. Denoting by ∇^{\dagger} and $\Box_{g^{\dagger}}$ the Levi-Civita connection and wave operator associated with the conformal metric g^{\dagger} , respectively, the trace equation (1.9) yields us

$$3\Box_{g^{\dagger}}f'(R_g) = 8\pi e^{-\kappa\rho}g^{\alpha\beta}T_{\alpha\beta} + e^{-\kappa\rho}\Big(2f(R_g) - f'(R_g)R_g\Big) - 3\kappa^2 g^{\alpha\beta}\nabla_{\alpha}\rho\nabla_{\beta}\rho.$$

It is straightforward to check the identity

$$\Box_{g^{\dagger}} f'(R_g) = \Box_{g^{\dagger}} e^{\kappa \rho} = e^{\kappa \rho} \Big(\kappa \,\Box_{g^{\dagger}} \rho - \kappa^2 \, g^{\dagger \alpha \beta} \nabla^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \rho \nabla^{\dagger}_{\beta} \rho \Big),$$

and we therefore obtain

$$3\kappa \Box_{g^{\dagger}} \rho = 8\pi e^{-2\kappa\rho} g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta} T_{\alpha\beta} + e^{-2\kappa\rho} \Big(2f(R_g) - f'(R_g)R_g \Big).$$
(2.5)

A Klein-Gordon equation. To better extract the structure of the equation (2.5), it is then convenient to introduce the following notation:

• We set

$$f_0(s) := \frac{f(R)}{f'(R)^2}, \qquad f_1(s) := \frac{f(R) - f'(R)R}{f'(R)^2},$$

$$e^{2\kappa s} := f'(R), \qquad R \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.6)

• The Legendre transform of the function f, by definition, reads

$$f^{*}(y) := \sup_{R \in \mathbb{R}} y R - f(R)$$

= $f'(R(y))R(y) - f(R(y)), \qquad f'(R(y)) = y = e^{\kappa s}.$ (2.7)

Hence, we find

$$f_1(s) = -e^{-2\kappa s} f^*(e^{\kappa s}), \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}$$

and thus the last term in (2.5) reads

$$e^{-4\kappa\rho} \Big(2f(R_g) - f'(R_g)R_g \Big) = f_0(\rho) + f_1(\rho) =: \rho + f_2(\rho).$$
(2.8)

We can thus rewrite (2.5) as follows.

Proposition 2.4. With the notation above, the f(R)-field equations (1.7) imply the following Klein-Gordon equation for the curvature field

$$3\kappa \Box_{g^{\dagger}} \rho - \rho = f_2(\rho) + 8\pi e^{-\kappa\rho} g^{\dagger \alpha\beta} T_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.9)$$

in which $f_2(\rho) = \kappa \mathcal{O}(\rho^2)$ is of quadratic order at least, as follows from (1.6).

2.2.2 Field equations for the conformal metric

Modified gravity tensor. Next, rewriting (1.8) as

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = e^{\kappa\rho} R_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} f(R) g_{\alpha\beta} + \kappa e^{\kappa\rho} \left(g_{\alpha\beta} \Box_g - \nabla_\alpha \nabla_\beta \right) \rho + \kappa^2 e^{\kappa\rho} \left(g_{\alpha\beta} g(\nabla\rho, \nabla\rho) - \nabla_\alpha \rho \nabla_\beta \rho \right)$$

and, recalling the conformal transformation formula for the Ricci curvature

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = R_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger} + \nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta}\rho - \frac{\kappa^2}{2}\nabla_{\alpha}\rho\nabla_{\beta}\rho + \frac{\kappa}{2}\Big(\Box_g\rho + \kappa g(\nabla\rho,\nabla\rho)\Big)g_{\alpha\beta},$$

we obtain

$$N_{\alpha\beta} = e^{\kappa\rho} R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{3\kappa^2}{2} e^{\kappa\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \rho \nabla_{\beta} \rho + \frac{3\kappa}{2} e^{\kappa\rho} g_{\alpha\beta} \Box_g \rho + \frac{3\kappa^2}{2} e^{2\kappa\rho} g_{\alpha\beta} g(\nabla\rho, \nabla\rho) - \frac{1}{2} f(R) g_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(2.10)

The trace of this tensor reads

tr
$$(N) = f'(R)R - 2f(R) + 3 \Box_g f'(R)$$

= $f'(R)R - 2f(R) + 3\kappa e^{2\kappa\rho} \Box_{g^{\dagger}}\rho + 3\kappa^2 e^{\kappa\rho}g(\nabla\rho,\nabla\rho)$

and, therefore, from (2.10) we deduce that

$$3\kappa e^{2\kappa\rho}\Box_{g^{\dagger}}\rho = \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\ (N_g) + f(R) - \frac{R}{2}f'(R) - 6\kappa^2 e^{2\kappa\rho}g(\nabla\rho,\nabla\rho).$$

Hence, the identity (2.10) is equivalent to saying

$$N_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\alpha\beta} \operatorname{tr}(N) = e^{2\kappa\rho}R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\Big(f(R) - Rf'(R)\Big)g_{\alpha\beta} - 6\kappa^2 e^{2\kappa\rho}\nabla_{\alpha}\rho\nabla_{\beta}\rho. \quad (2.11)$$

In view of this relation, we have reached the following.

Proposition 2.5. With the notation above, the f(R)-field equations (1.7) take the equivalent form

$$e^{2\kappa\rho}R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - 6\kappa^2 e^{2\kappa\rho}\nabla^{\dagger}_{\alpha}\rho\nabla^{\dagger}_{\beta}\rho - \frac{1}{2}f_1(\rho) g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi \Big(T_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}g^{\dagger\alpha'\beta'}T_{\alpha'\beta'}\Big), \quad (2.12)$$

which will be referred to as the conformal field equations of the f(R)-gravity theory and in which $f_1(\rho) = \kappa \mathcal{O}(\rho^2)$ is of quadratic order.

A third-order modification of Einstein equations. At this stage, the following observations are in order:

• Our reduced equations involve up to three derivatives of the new metric, only.

- The expression (2.12) contains
 - Ricci curvature terms,
 - only up to first-order derivatives of the scalar curvature,
 - but no other third-order derivatives,
 - nor fourth-order derivative of the new metric.
- Also, it is easy to compute the limit $\kappa \to 0$ in (2.12) and, since $f(r) \to r$ and $f_1(r) \to 0$, we obtain $g \to g^{\dagger}$,

$$\rho \to R,$$

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - 6\kappa^2 \nabla^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha}\rho \nabla^{\dagger}_{\ \beta}\rho + \frac{1}{2}e^{-4\kappa\rho}f^*(e^{2\kappa\rho}) g^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\beta} \to R_{\alpha\beta}$$
(2.13)

and in this limit (2.12) are nothing but Einstein's equations

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi T_{\alpha\beta} - 4\pi g_{\alpha\beta} \left(g^{\alpha'\beta'} T_{\alpha'\beta'} \right).$$
(2.14)

2.2.3 The conformal field formulation of f(R)-gravity

Coupling to matter fields. Although the vacuum f(R)-equations are interesting in their own sake, in our analysis we also allow for the coupling with a massive scalar field, denoted again by ϕ and described by the same energy-momentum tensor (1.13). In the physics literature, the f(R)-equations (1.7)-(1.13) are referred to as the Jordan coupling.

On the other hand, we point out that the alternative formulation of the matter model in which the physical metric is replaced by the conformal metric leads to an *illposed evolution problem*; see [89] for more details. We also point out that it would not be difficult to generalize the nonlinear stability theory established in this Monograph and encompass the coupling with a *massless* scalar field.

A summary. In summary, in terms of the conformal metric g^{\dagger} defined in (2.4), the field equations of modified gravity (1.7) contain only up to *third-order* derivatives of the metric g^{\dagger} and read

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - 6\kappa^2 \partial_{\alpha}\rho \partial_{\beta}\rho + \frac{1}{2}e^{-4\kappa\rho}f^*(e^{2\kappa\rho}) g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}$$

= $8\pi \left(e^{-2\kappa\rho}\nabla^{\dagger}_{\alpha}\phi\nabla^{\dagger}_{\beta}\phi + e^{-4\kappa\rho}U(\phi) g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}\right),$ (2.15)

while the scalar curvature field $\rho : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$3\kappa \Box_{g^{\dagger}} \rho - \rho = f_2(\rho) - 8\pi \Big(g^{\dagger \alpha \beta} \nabla^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha} \phi \nabla^{\dagger}{}_{\beta} \phi + 4e^{-2\kappa\rho} U(\phi) \Big), \qquad (2.16)$$

and the matter field $\phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$\widetilde{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}}\phi - c^{2}\phi = c^{2} \left(e^{-\kappa\rho} - 1 \right) \phi + \kappa g^{\dagger \alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \rho.$$
(2.17)

The following definition (cf. [89]) is motivated by the fact that the compatibility condition $\rho = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \ln(f'(R_g))$ does hold throughout the spacetime, provided it holds (together with a timelike Lie derivative of this condition) on a Cauchy hypersurface. This property is stated in Proposition 2.9, below, after introducing a suitable notion of Cauchy development.

Definition 2.6. The conformal field formulation of f(R)-gravity consists of

- the equations (2.15)–(2.17), which provide one with a second-order system in $(g^{\dagger}, \rho, \phi)$,
- together with the defining condition relating ρ to the spacetime scalar curvature R_g of the physical metric $g_{\alpha\beta} = e^{-2\kappa\rho} g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}$:

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \ln(f'(R_g)). \tag{2.18}$$

2.3 The Cauchy problem for the f(R)-field equations

2.3.1 The f(R)-constraint equations

Since ρ satisfies a second-order evolution equation, we may anticipate that, similarly to what we did for the matter field ϕ , two initial data for ρ are required for formulating the initial value problem. Indeed, the formulation of the initial value problem associated with the f(R)-equations requires an initial data set $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \phi_0, \phi_1)$ which, in addition to the intrinsic and extrinsic geometry and matter content, also provides us with the spacetime scalar curvature, denoted by R_0 , and its Lie derivative in time R_1 . Observe again that the following definition is very general and does not require any topological or asymptotic assumptions. Definition 2.7. An initial data set for modified gravity consists of data

 $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \rho_0, \rho_1)$

satisfying the following conditions:

- \mathcal{M}_0 is a 3-dimensional manifold, endowed with a Riemannian metric g_0 and a symmetric 2-covariant tensor field k_0 .
- R_0 and R_1 denote two scalar fields defined on \mathcal{M}_0 , which represent the scalar curvature field and a timelike Lie derivative of this field.
- φ₀ and φ₁ denote two scalar fields defined on M₀, which represent the matter field and a timelike Lie derivative of this field.
- In terms of the conformal metric g^{\dagger}_{0} and the conformal second fundamental form k^{\dagger}_{0} defined (by analogy with (2.4)) by

$$g^{\dagger}_{0,\alpha\beta} := f'(R_0)g_{0,\alpha\beta}, k^{\dagger}_{0,\alpha\beta} := f'(R_0)k_{0,\alpha\beta} + f''(R_0)R_1g_{0,\alpha\beta},$$
(2.19)

the Hamiltonian constraint of modified gravity holds:

$$R^{\dagger}_{0} - g^{\dagger}_{0}^{aa'} g^{\dagger}_{0}^{bb'} k^{\dagger}_{0,ab} k^{\dagger}_{0,a'b'} + (k^{b}_{0,b})^{2}$$

$$= 8\pi e^{-\kappa\rho_{0}} \left(g^{\dagger}_{0}^{ab} \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,a} \phi_{0} \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,b} \phi_{0} + (\phi_{1})^{2} + 4e^{-\kappa\rho_{0}} U(\phi_{0}) \right)$$

$$+ 6\kappa^{2} (\rho_{1})^{2} + 6\kappa^{2} g^{\dagger}_{0}^{ab} \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,a} \rho_{0} \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,b} \rho_{0} - e^{-2\kappa\rho_{0}} f^{*}(e^{2\kappa\rho_{0}}),$$

$$(2.20)$$

in which R^{\dagger}_{0} denotes the scalar curvature of the Riemannian metric g_{0}^{\dagger} , and ∇^{\dagger}_{0} is the corresponding Levi-Civita connection.

• The momentum constraints of modified gravity hold:

$$\nabla^{\dagger}_{0b}k^{\dagger a}_{\ 0a} - \nabla^{\dagger}_{0a}k^{\dagger a}_{\ 0b} = 8\pi \, e^{-\kappa\rho_0} \, \phi_1 \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,b} \phi_0 + 6\kappa^2 \rho_1 \nabla^{\dagger}_{0,b} \rho_0. \tag{2.21}$$

2.3.2 The notion of f(R)-Cauchy developments

We are now able to generalize Definition 2.2 (which concerned the Einstein equations), as follows.

Definition 2.8. Given an initial data set $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \phi_0, \phi_1)$ as in Definition 2.7, the initial value problem for modified gravity consists of finding a Lorentzian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g) (endowed with a time-orientation) and scalar fields ρ, ϕ defined on \mathcal{M} such that:

- The field equations of modified gravity (1.7)-(1.8)-(1.13) are satisfied.
- There exists an embedding i : (M₀, g₀) → (M, g) with pull-back metric i*g = g₀ and second fundamental form k₀, hence one can write M₀ ⊂ M.
- The field ρ_0 coincides with the restriction $\rho|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$, while ρ_1 coincides with the Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_n \rho|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$, where n denotes the unit future-oriented normal to \mathfrak{M}_0 .
- The scalar fields φ₀ and φ₁ coincide with the restriction of φ and its Lie derivative *L_nφ* on M₀, respectively.

A solution satisfying the conditions in Definition 2.8 is referred to as a modified gravity Cauchy development of the initial data set $(\mathcal{M}_0, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \phi_0, \phi_1)$. The notion of maximally hyperbolic development then follows by straightforwardly extending the definition in Choquet-Bruhat [30]. In comparison with the classical gravity theory, the modified gravity theory has two extra degrees of freedom specified from the two additional data (R_0, R_1) . Similarly as in classical gravity, these fields cannot be arbitrarily prescribed and suitable constraint equations must be assumed, as stated by (2.20)-(2.21).

The following observations are in order:

- From Definition 2.8, in the special case of vanishing geometric data $R_0 = R_1 = \phi_0 = \phi_1 \equiv 0$ we recover the classical formulation in Definition 2.8.
- On the other hand, by taking a vanishing matter field $\phi \equiv 0$ but non-vanishing geometric data (R_0, R_1) , the spacetimes in Definition 2.8 generally do not satisfy Einstein's vacuum equations.

2.3.3 Equivalent formulation in the conformal metric

All of the above notions could be equivalently stated in terms of the conformal metric g^{\dagger} , while regarding the field ρ as an independent unknown. This standpoint is justified by the following property of the f(R)-field equations [89].

Proposition 2.9. If $(\mathcal{M}, g^{\dagger}, \rho, \phi)$ is a Cauchy development to the augmented conformal system of modified gravity (2.15)-(2.16)-(2.17), then by introducing the physical metric

$$g_{\alpha\beta} = e^{-2\kappa\rho} g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta},$$

the condition

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \ln(f'(R_g)) \tag{2.22}$$

holds throughout the spacetime \mathcal{M} , provided it holds on the initial Cauchy hypersurface \mathcal{M}_0 and the same identity also holds for the normal time Lie derivative on \mathcal{M}_0 .

While the conformal formulation will play an essential role in the forthcoming proofs, as far as the statements of our main results are concerned it is more natural to give statements in the physical metric g rather than in the unphysical metric g^{\dagger} , as we have done in this section. However, let us also observe that the scalar curvature data R_0, R_1 can be equivalently replaced by initial data ρ_0, ρ_1 with the correspondence:

$$\rho_0 = \frac{1}{\kappa} \ln(f'(R_0)), \qquad \rho_1 = \frac{1}{\kappa} \frac{f''(R_0)}{f'(R_0)} R_1.$$
(2.23)

Part II Nonlinear stability statements

3 The global stability of Minkowski space

3.1 Initial data sets of interest

3.1.1 Minkowski and Schwarzschild spacetimes

Minkowski metric. We are interested in solving the initial value problem when the initial data sets represent perturbations of a flat hypersurface in Minkowski spacetime. The initial data sets are assumed to have the topology of \mathbb{R}^3 and be covered by a single coordinate chart denoted by $x = (x^a) = (x_a) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ with a = 1, 2, 3. Our spacetimes will also be endowed with a foliation determined by a global time function denoted by $t: M \mapsto [1, +\infty)$ in which $\{t = 1\}$ represents the initial hypersurface. It is convenient also to define the radial vector (ω_a) and the radius r > 0 by

$$\omega_a := \frac{x_a}{r}, \qquad r^2 := \sum_{a=1}^3 (x^a)^2.$$
 (3.1)

Recall first that, in standard Cartesian coordinates (which are also wave coordinates, in the sense (4.2) below), the Minkowski metric g_M reads

$$g_M = (g_{M,\alpha\beta}) = -dt^2 + \sum_{a=1}^3 (dx^a)^2$$

= $-dt^2 + (g_{M,ab}) = -dt^2 + (\delta_{ab}).$ (3.2)

We also use the notation

$$g_{M,0} = (\delta_{ab}) \tag{3.3}$$

to denote the restriction of the Minkowski metric on t = 1.

Schwarzschild metric. By the positive mass theorem [115, 139], a metric coinciding with the flat metric outside a compact region necessarily coincides with the Minkowski metric. Hence, only mild decay in spacelike directions is compatible with the Einstein equations.

Given any parameter $m_S > 0$, consider next the so-called Schwarzschild metric defined for $r > m_S$ by its components

$$g_{S,00} = -\frac{r - m_S}{r + m_S},$$

$$g_{S,0a} = 0,$$

$$g_{S,ab} = \frac{r + m_S}{r - m_S} \omega_a \omega_b + \frac{(r + m_S)^2}{r^2} (\delta_{ab} - \omega_a \omega_b),$$

(3.4)

in which we use the notation (3.1). This metric represents the geometry of a spherically symmetric and static black hole with mass $m_S > 0$ and, more precisely, the domain of outer communication of this solution to the vacuum Einstein equations. As observed in [7], the formulas (3.4) provide the metric in wave coordinates (cf. (4.2) below).

Furthermore, the restriction of the Schwarzschild metric to a hypersurface of constant time t = and the corresponding second fundamental form $k_{S,ab}$ of this hypersurface satisfy

$$g_{S,ab} \simeq \left(1 + \frac{2m_S}{r}\right) \delta_{ab} + (m_S)^2 \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}), \qquad r \to +\infty,$$

$$k_{S,ab} = 0,$$
(3.5)

since the coefficients in (3.4) is independent of t.

For our purpose, the Schwarzschild metric only tells us about the asymptotic behavior at spacelike infinity which is compatible with the constraint equations and, therefore, physically admissible. We conclude that (3.5) is the typical asymptotic behavior that our global stability theory should cover. In fact, our framework will be more general and will include (3.5) as a special case.

3.1.2 The class of initial data sets of interest

Asymptotically tame data. We begin by presenting our sup-norm conditions which play a special role in the present work and have no analogue within the standard global existence theory for nonlinear wave equations. These conditions concern the geometry of the initial hypersurface but not the matter and curvature components of the initial data sets. In addition the conditions below, "small energy" conditions will be also required on the initial data sets (cf. (3.11) and (3.12), below).

Definition 3.1. Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\sigma \in [0, 1/2)$ be given parameters and N be an integer. An initial data set

$$(\mathcal{M}_0 \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1) \qquad (as in Definition 2.2)$$

or $(\mathcal{M}_0 \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \phi_0, \phi_1) \qquad (as in Definition 2.8)$

is said to be (σ, ϵ, N) -asymptotically tame if in a coordinate chart $(x^a) = (r, \omega^A)$ (with r = |x| and A = 1, 2) the components of the metric $h_0 = g_0 - \delta$ and the 2-tensor field k

$$h_0^{rr} := \frac{1}{r^2} h_{0,ab} x^a x^b, \qquad k_{0,A}^A := \frac{1}{r^2} k_{0,ab} \left(\delta^{ab} - x^a x^b \right), \tag{3.6}$$

satisfy the decay conditions for all $r = |x| \leq R$:

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial^{I} h_{0}^{rr}(x)| &\leq \epsilon \, (1+r)^{-|I|-1+\sigma}, \qquad |I| \leq N+1, \\ |\partial^{I} k_{0,A}^{A}(x)| &\leq \epsilon \, (1+r)^{-|I|-2+\sigma}, \qquad |I| \leq N, \end{aligned}$$
(3.7)

$$\frac{1}{1+R} \left| \int_{S_R(x)} \left(h_0^{rr}(y), (y-x) \nabla h_0^{rr}(y), R k_{0,A}^A(y) \right) d\sigma(y) \right| \le \epsilon,$$
(3.8)
where $S_R(x) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |x-y| = R \}$

over the sphere $S_R(x) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^3 / |x - y| = R \}.$

Examples of initial data sets. Other formulations of our asymptotic decay conditions will be provided and discussed below. At this stage, let us mention that it is straightforward to check that the Schwarzschild metric does satisfy both conditions (3.7) and (3.8) with $\sigma = 0$ while ϵ can be taken to be a multiple of the mass m_S (arising in (3.5)). Our theory for the stability of Minkowski spacetime for instance applies to this important class of metrics with Schwarzschild-like behavior. Our decay conditions in (3.7) allow for a decay at a slower rate in comparison to the Schwarzschild metric. For instance let us recall that the condition $\sigma < 1/2$ suffices in order for the ADM mass to be well-defined. Observe also that the decay (3.7) is guaranteed in [28] for a broad class of data sets with σ possibly arbitrarily close to 1.

3.2 Three main results of nonlinear stability

3.2.1 The Einstein theory

The global existence statement. The first mathematical result concerning the local-in-time existence for the Einstein equations (possibly coupled to matter fields) was established by Choquet-Bruhat in 1952 and in subsequent works; see the textbook [30] and the references therein. Solutions are defined according to Definition 2.2. Several theorems that are global-in-nature are established in this work.

We begin with our existence statements. The initial data are assumed to have small "energy" defined as a *weighted Sobolev-type norm* which involves the Killing fields of Minkowski spacetime. As far as the initial data sets are concerned, in addition to the **spatial translations** corresponding to the vector fields

$$\partial_a, \quad a = 1, 2, 3, \tag{3.9}$$

we also rely on the spatial rotations corresponding to the vector fields

$$\Omega_{ab} := x_b \partial_a - x_a \partial_b, \quad a, b = 1, 2, 3.$$
(3.10)

The notation $\partial^{I_1}\Omega^{I_2}$ is used in which I_1 and I_2 are multi-indices in 1, 2, 3.

Theorem 3.2 (Nonlinear stability of Minkowski space for self-gravitating massive fields). For all sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ and all sufficiently large integer N, one can find $\sigma, \eta > 0$ depending upon (ϵ, N) so that the following property holds.

Consider any (σ, ϵ, N) -asymptotically tame initial data set (cf. Definitions 2.2 and 3.1) for the Einstein-massive field system (1.2), i.e.

$$(\mathcal{M}_0 \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g_0, k_0, \phi_0, \phi_1),$$

which is assumed to be sufficiently close to a flat and vacuum spacelike slice of Minkowski spacetime (\mathbb{R}^{3+1}, g_M) in the sense that, in a global coordinate chart $x = (x^a)$ with r = |x|,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|} Z^{I} \partial(g_{0} - g_{M,0})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|} Z^{I} k_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} \phi_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} \phi_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \end{aligned}$$
(3.11)

for all $Z^I = \partial^{I_1} \Omega^{I_2}$ with $|I_1| + |I_2| \leq N$, in which $g_{M,0} = (\delta_{ab})$. Then, the corresponding initial value problem associated with (1.2) admits a globally hyperbolic Cauchy development (\mathcal{M}, g, ϕ) , which is future causally geodesically complete¹ and asymptotically approaches Minkowski spacetime.

Properties of the solutions. The following observations should be made:

- In our proof we will establish energy and sup-norm estimates on the difference $g g_M$, which show that the spacetime metric and the Minkowski metric are globally close to each other and the difference tends to zero in causal and spacelike directions.
- For instance, for the Schwarzschild metric (in the domain of outer communication away from the horizon), the energy (3.11) is finite and, therefore, our theorem applies to metrics that have a Schwarzschild-like decay (3.5) at spacelike infinity.
- In comparison with the geometric data (g_0, k_0) , a stronger decay is assumed on the matter data (ϕ_0, ϕ_1) . Analyzing a possible long-range effect² in these fields is out of the scope of the present work.

Remark 3.3. Our proof will use the radial part of the spacetime boosts, defined as $L_r := t\partial_r + r\partial_t$. Our energy functional will be formulated in terms of the derivatives $\partial_{\alpha}h$ of the spacetime correction $h := g - g_M$, and the weight arising in the first two inequalities in (3.11) will be motivated from the following <u>schematic</u> calculation:

$$\partial_{\alpha}^{I} L_{r}^{J} \partial(g - g_{M})|_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}} \simeq \partial_{\alpha}^{I} \partial_{r}^{J} \partial(g - g_{M})|_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}} + (1 + r)^{|J|} \partial_{\alpha}^{I} \partial_{t}^{J} \partial(g - g_{M})|_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}$$
$$\simeq (1 + r)^{|J|} \partial^{I} \partial^{J} \partial(g_{0} - g_{M,0}) + (1 + r)^{|J|} \partial^{I} \partial^{J} k_{0}.$$

3.2.2 The theory of f(R)-gravity

The method leading to Theorem 3.2 can be generalized in order to establish the following result in which κ is viewed as a fixed parameter.

¹We recall that a future causally geodesically complete spacetime, by definition, has the property that every affinely parameterized geodesic (of null or timelike type) can be extended toward the future (for all values of its affine parameter).

²This question was recently studied in [24, 123] for 1 + 1 scalar equations.

Theorem 3.4 (Nonlinear stability of Minkowski space in modified gravity). Let f = f(R) be a function satisfying the condition (1.6) for some $\kappa \in (0, 1)$. For all sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ and all sufficiently large integer N, one can find σ, η depending upon (ϵ, N) so that the following property holds.

Consider any (σ, ϵ, N) -asymptotically tame initial data set (cf. Definitions 2.8 and 3.1) for the field equations of modified gravity (1.7), i.e.

$$(\mathcal{M}_0 \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g_0, k_0, R_0, R_1, \phi_0, \phi_1)$$

which is assumed to be sufficiently close to a flat spacelike slice of Minkowski spacetime (\mathbb{R}^{3+1}, g_M) in the sense that, in a global coordinate chart $x = (x^a)$ with r = |x|,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|} Z^{I} \partial(g_{0} - g_{M})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|} Z^{I} k_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} R_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} R_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} \phi_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon, \\ \|(1+r)^{\eta+|I|+1/2} Z^{I} \phi_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} &\leq \epsilon \end{aligned}$$
(3.12)

for all $Z^{I} = \partial^{I_1} \Omega^{I_2}$ with $|I_1| + |I_2| \leq N$. Then, the corresponding initial value problem associated with (1.7) admits a globally hyperbolic Cauchy development (\mathcal{M}, g, ϕ) , which is causally geodesically complete and asymptotically approaches Minkowski spacetime.

More precise versions of our existence results will be stated in Section 5, after introducing a spacetime foliation and weighted Sobolev-type energy norms adapted to our problem. (Cf. Theorems 5.1 and 5.2.)

3.2.3 The infinite mass problem

The nonlinear function f(R). In order to study the limit $f(R) \to R$, we will be able to specify the dependency of our estimates with respect to the parameter $\kappa \in (0, 1)$:

• We are primarily interested in the quadratic action

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} \left(R_g + \frac{\kappa}{2} (R_g)^2 + 16\pi L[\phi, g] \right) dV_g, \qquad (3.13)$$

which is most often considered in the physics literature (and corresponds to a vanishing right-hand side in (3.14) below).

• More generally, expanding the function f at the origin we can assume that, in some interval $[-r_*, r_*]$ at least,

$$\left|\frac{d^n}{dr^n} \left(f(r) - r - \frac{\kappa}{2}r^2\right)\right| \lesssim \kappa^{n+2}r^3, \qquad r \in [-r_*, r_*],\tag{3.14}$$

at any order n = 0, ..., M up to a sufficiently large (but fixed) M.

Hence, the pointwise convergence property $f(R) \to R$ is equivalent to the condition that κ converges to zero.

Resolution of the singular limit problem. Our convergence statement below addresses the fundamental question of the mathematical consistency of the modified gravity theory: the field equations admit a well-defined limit $\kappa \to 0$ and we recover the Einstein theory. Our theorem applies to a sequence of initial data sets for the f(R)-theory which is assumed to satisfy suitable κ -independent uniform bounds (to be specified later).

Theorem 3.5 (Convergence of the modified gravity theory toward Einstein's gravity theory). Suppose that the condition (3.14) holds. Then, in the limit $\kappa \to 0$ when the defining function f(R) arising in the generalized action (1.5) approaches the scalar curvature function R, the Cauchy developments (\mathcal{M}, g, ϕ) of f(R)-modified gravity given by Theorem 3.4 converge to Einstein's Cauchy developments given by Theorem 3.2.

4 The wave-Klein-Gordon formulation in EH foliations

4.1 A class of wave-Klein-Gordon systems

4.1.1 Gauge freedom

Choosing the coordinate functions. Since the field equations under consideration are geometric in nature, it is essential to fix the degrees of gauge freedom before tackling any stability issue from the perspective of the initial value problem for partial differential equations. As already pointed out, our analysis relies on a single global coordinate chart $(x^{\alpha}) = (t, x^{\alpha})$ and, more specifically, on a choice of coordinate functions x^{α} satisfying the homogeneous linear wave equation in the unknown metric. This means that we impose that the functions $x^{\alpha} : \mathcal{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfy the so-called wave gauge conditions $(\alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3)$

$$\Box_g x^{\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{for the Einstein field equations,} \tag{4.1}$$

and, more generally, these functions are chosen to satisfy the conformal wave gauge conditions as we call them here ($\alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3$)

$$\Box_{g^{\dagger}} x^{\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{for the } f(R) \text{-field equations.}$$
(4.2)

Second-order systems. In such a gauge, we obtain a nonlinear system of *second-order partial differential equations* with second-order constraints, as follows:

- For the Einstein theory, the unknowns are the metric coefficients $g_{\alpha\beta}$ in the chosen coordinates together with the scalar field ϕ . It is well-known that the constraints are preserved during the time evolution [30].
- For the f(R)-theory, the unknowns are also the conformal metric coefficients $g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}$, the scalar curvature field ρ , and the matter field ϕ . It was established in [89] that the associated constraints are preserved during the time evolution.

In the present section, we write the equations in a schematic form, while the algebraic structure of this system of nonlinear and coupled equations will be analyzed in further details later in Part V. In the case of Einstein's gravity theory and a massless scalar field, we recover the nonlinear structure exhibited first by Lindblad and Rodnianski [94].

4.1.2 The formulation in coordinates

Christoffel symbols and Ricci curvature. Following [89], we thus choose coordinate functions x^{α} satisfying (4.2) or, equivalently,

$$\Gamma^{\dagger \alpha} = g^{\dagger \alpha \beta} \Gamma^{\dagger \lambda}_{\ \alpha \beta} = 0, \tag{4.3}$$

in terms of the Christoffel symbols of the conformal metric g^{\dagger} :

$$\Gamma^{\dagger}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\dagger}{}^{\lambda\lambda'} \left(\partial_{\alpha} g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\lambda'} + \partial_{\beta} g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\lambda'} - \partial_{\lambda'} g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(4.4)

We also introduce the modified wave operator

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger} = \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} := g^{\dagger \alpha' \beta'} \partial_{\alpha'} \partial_{\beta'}, \qquad (4.5)$$

which, in the coordinates under consideration, coincides with the geometric wave operator whenever the conditions (4.3) are enforced.

While we postpone the discussion of the expression of the Ricci curvature to Proposition 13.1, below, let us just recall here that the Ricci curvature reads

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = \partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \beta\lambda} + \Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \lambda\delta} - \Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\delta}\Gamma^{\dagger}_{\ \beta\lambda}, \tag{4.6}$$

which is second-order in the unknown metric. The functions $F_{\alpha\beta} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g^{\dagger}, \partial g^{\dagger})$ arising in (4.7) below represent the quadratic nonlinearities of the Ricci curvature.

The nonlinear wave system. The following formulation is explained further in Section 4.1.4, below.

Proposition 4.1 (The f(R)-gravity equations in conformal wave gauge). In the conformal wave gauge (4.3), the field equations of modified gravity (1.7) for a massive field ϕ satisfying (1.13) take the following form of a nonlinear system of 11 coupled wave and Klein-Gordon equations for the conformal metric components $g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}$, the scalar curvature field ρ , and the matter field ϕ :

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}g_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g^{\dagger},\partial g^{\dagger}) + A_{\alpha\beta} + B_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$3\kappa \,\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\rho - \rho = W_{\kappa}(\rho) - \sigma,$$

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\phi - U'(\phi) = 2\kappa \, g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\rho\partial_{\beta}\phi,$$

(4.7)

in which

$$A_{\alpha\beta} := -3\kappa^2 \partial_{\alpha} \rho \partial_{\beta} \rho - V_{\kappa}(\rho) g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$B_{\alpha\beta} := 16\pi \left(-e^{-\kappa\rho} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi + U(\phi) e^{-2\kappa\rho} g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} \right),$$

$$\sigma := 8\pi e^{-\kappa\rho} \left(g^{\dagger\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi + 4 e^{-\kappa\rho} U(\phi) \right),$$

(4.8)

for some nonlinear functions $V_{\kappa} = V_{\kappa}(\rho)$ and $W_{\kappa} = W_{\kappa}(\rho)$.
The algebraic and differential constraints. We observe the following:

• The functions V_{κ} and W_{κ} are quadratic, since (with the notation $\rho = \frac{1}{\kappa} \log f'(R)$)

$$V_{\kappa}(\rho) := \frac{f(R) - Rf'(R)}{f'(R)^2} = -\frac{\kappa}{2}\rho^2 + \kappa^2 \mathcal{O}(\rho^3),$$

$$W_{\kappa}(\rho) := 6\frac{V_{\kappa}(\rho)}{f'(R)} - \rho + \frac{f(R)}{f'(R)^2} = \kappa \mathcal{O}(\rho^2).$$
(4.9)

• The system (4.7) is also supplemented with the algebraic constraint on the scalar curvature, that is,

$$\rho = \frac{1}{\kappa} \log f'(R_g), \qquad g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} = e^{\kappa\rho} g_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{4.10}$$

• It must as well be supplemented with the gauge wave constraints (4.3)-(4.4), and the Hamiltonian and momentum constraints of modified gravity (2.20)-(2.21).

4.1.3 The formal limit toward Einstein's equations

In the limit $\kappa \to 0$ we can formally recover the Einstein equations since we find $f(R) \to R$ and $g^{\dagger} \to g$, so that

$$A_{\alpha\beta} \to 0, B_{\alpha\beta} \to 16\pi \left(-\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + U(\phi) g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(4.11)

Moreover, the wave equation for ρ yields us (again formally)

$$\rho \to 8\pi \left(g^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} \phi \nabla_{\beta} \phi + 4 U(\phi) \right) \quad \text{when } \kappa \to 0,$$
(4.12)

which is the standard expression for the spacetime curvature of an Einstein-scalar field spacetime.

Proposition 4.2 (The Einstein equations in wave gauge). In wave gauge (4.1), the Einstein equations (1.2) for a massive field ϕ satisfying (1.13) take the following form of a nonlinear system of 10 coupled wave-Klein-Gordon equations for the metric components $g_{\alpha\beta}$ and the scalar field ϕ :

$$\widehat{\Box}g_{\alpha\beta} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g,\partial g) + 16\pi \left(-\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + U(\phi) g_{\alpha\beta} \right),$$

$$\widehat{\Box}\phi - U'(\phi) = 0.$$
(4.13)

Furthermore, the system (4.13) must be supplemented

• with the gauge wave constraints (4.3)-(4.4), that is,

$$\Gamma^{\alpha} = g^{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} = 0,$$

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'} (\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\lambda'} + \partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda'} - \partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\beta}),$$
(4.14)

• and with Einstein's Hamiltonian and momentum constraints (2.2)-(2.3).

4.1.4 Derivation of the wave-Klein-Gordon system

We give a proof of Proposition 4.1, which relies on the previous calculations made in [89]. We recall the following set of equations:

$$N_{g_{\alpha\beta}} - \frac{g_{\alpha\beta}}{2} \operatorname{tr} (N_g) = e^{2\rho^{\sharp}} R_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger} + \frac{1}{2} e^{2\rho^{\sharp}} g_{\alpha\beta} W_2^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) - 6e^{2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}} \partial_{\alpha} \rho^{\sharp\sharp} \partial_{\beta} \rho^{\sharp\sharp},$$

$$T_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\alpha\beta} \operatorname{tr} (T) = \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi - U(\phi) g_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$\Box_{g^{\dagger}} \rho^{\sharp\sharp} = \frac{W_2(\rho^{\sharp\sharp})}{6e^{2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}} + \frac{W_3^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp})}{6e^{4\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}} + \frac{\operatorname{tr} (N_g)}{6e^{4\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}},$$

$$\nabla^{\dagger\alpha} T_{\alpha\beta} = e^{-2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}} \nabla^{\alpha} T_{\alpha\beta} + 4g^{\dagger\alpha\gamma} \partial_{\gamma} \rho^{\sharp\sharp} T_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$\Box_{g^{\dagger}} \phi - U'(\phi) = 2 g^{\dagger} (\nabla \rho^{\sharp\sharp}, \nabla \phi),$$

$$(4.15)$$

in which, in [89], we set $g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = e^{2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}g_{\alpha\beta}$ for the conformal metric and $\rho^{\sharp\sharp} = \frac{1}{2}\log f'(R_g)$ is regarded as an additional unknown. The potential functions $W_2^{\sharp\sharp}$ and $W_3^{\sharp\sharp}$ are defined by

$$W_{2}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) := \frac{f(r) - f'(r)r}{f'(r)},$$

$$W_{3}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) := f(r), \qquad e^{2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}} = f'(r), \qquad r \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.16)

Let us define the new functions (with $\rho^{\sharp\sharp} = \frac{1}{2} \log f'(r)$):

$$V_{\kappa}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) := \frac{f(r) - rf'(r)}{f'(r)^2}, \qquad W_{\kappa}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) := \frac{W_{\kappa}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp})}{f'(r)} - \frac{\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}{3\kappa} + \frac{f(r)}{6f'(r)^2}, \tag{4.17}$$

With the notation above and according to [89], the field equations of modified gravity in conformal wave gauge read

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g^{\dagger},\partial g^{\dagger}) + A_{\alpha\beta} + B_{\alpha\beta},$$
$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\rho^{\sharp\sharp} - \frac{\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}{3\kappa} = W^{\sharp\sharp}_{\kappa}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}) - \Sigma^{\sharp\sharp},$$
$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\phi - U'(\phi) = 2 g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\rho^{\sharp\sharp}\partial_{\beta}\phi,$$
(4.18)

where we have set

$$A_{\alpha\beta} = -12\partial_{\alpha}\rho^{\sharp\sharp}\partial_{\beta}\rho^{\sharp\sharp} - V_{\kappa}^{\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp})g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$B_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi \left(-2e^{-2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + 2U(\phi)e^{-4\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}\right),$$

$$\Sigma^{\sharp\sharp} = \frac{4\pi}{3}e^{-2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}\left(g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + 4e^{-2\rho^{\sharp\sharp}}U(\phi)\right).$$
(4.19)

Expressing the above equations in our notation, we write $\rho = \frac{2}{\kappa} \rho^{\sharp\sharp}$ and we set $V_{\kappa}(\rho) := V_{\kappa}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}), W_{\kappa}(\rho) := 6 W_{\kappa}^{\sharp\sharp}(\rho^{\sharp\sharp}), \text{ and } \sigma := 6 \Sigma^{\sharp\sharp}$. This is equivalent to the system stated in Proposition 4.1.

4.2 The Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliation (EHF)

4.2.1 A decomposition of the spacetime

Three distinct regions. It remains to specify the time slicing of our spacetime. Our choice of a foliation is based on a decomposition of the future \mathcal{M} of the initial hypersurface \mathcal{M}_0 , which distinguishes between three regions, referred to as the *interior* domain, transition domain, and exterior domain, respectively, and denoted by

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}} \cup \mathcal{M}^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}^{\text{ext}}.$$
(4.20)

Without loss of generality, we label the initial hypersurface as $\{t = 1\}$ in our global coordinate chart (t, x^1, x^2, x^3) . Recall also that $r^2 = \sum (x^a)^2$.

After identification, we thus write

$$\mathcal{M} \simeq \left\{ t \ge 1 \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{3+1},\tag{4.21}$$

and we can use the symmetries of Minkowski spacetime and regard them as approximate symmetries for our spacetime \mathcal{M} . The symmetries of Minkowski spacetime. The vector field method we propose in this Monograph relies on the following:

• The translations generated by the vector fields

$$\partial_{\alpha}, \quad \alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3, \tag{4.22}$$

which, for instance, will be tangent to the time slices in the exterior domain.

• The Lorentz boosts generated by the vector fields

$$L_a = x_a \partial_t + t \partial_a, \quad a = 1, 2, 3, \tag{4.23}$$

which, for instance, will be tangent to the time slices in the interior domain.

• The spatial rotations generated by the vector fields

$$\Omega_{ab} = x_a \partial_b - x_b \partial_a, \quad a = 1, 2, 3, \tag{4.24}$$

which will be tangent to the time slices in, both, the exterior and the interior domains.

We refer to (4.22)–(4.24) as the family of admissible vector fields. Importantly, these fields *commute* with the wave and Klein-Gordon operators in Minkowski spacetime, namely

$$\left[Z, \Box_{g_M} - c^2\right]\phi = 0 \quad \text{for all admissible fields } Z, \tag{4.25}$$

so that, for any solution to the wave equation or Klein-Gordon equation,

$$\Box_{g_M}\phi - c^2\phi = f \quad \text{imply} \quad \Box_{g_M}Z\phi - c^2Z\phi = Zf, \tag{4.26}$$

for any vector field Z in the list above.

Importantly, throughout our analysis we avoid to rely on *Minkowski's scaling field*, defined as

$$S = t\partial_t + r\partial_r, \tag{4.27}$$

or, at least, we never apply this vector field to our equations, since it does not commute with the Klein-Gordon operator in Minkowski spacetime. Decay of solutions. More precisely, our basic strategy is as follows:

• Within an interior domain denoted by \mathcal{M}^{int} , we rely on the foliation based on the hyperboloidal slices

$$\{t^2 - r^2 = s^2\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{3+1} \tag{4.28}$$

with hyperbolic radius¹ $s \geq 2$. These slices are most convenient in order to analyze wave propagation issues and establish the decay of solutions in timelike directions.

• Within an exterior domain denoted by \mathcal{M}^{ext} , we rely on Euclidian slices of constant time $c \geq 1$

$$\{t=c\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{3+1}.$$

These slices are most relevant in order to analyze the asymptotic behavior of solutions in spacelike directions and the properties of asymptotically flat spacetimes.

4.2.2 Definition of the time foliation of interest

The time function. In order to take advantage of both foliations above, we propose to glue them together by introducing a transition region $\mathcal{M}^{\text{tran}}$, as follows. Consider a cut-off function $\chi = \chi(y)$ (see next paragraph) satisfying

$$\chi(y) = \begin{cases} 0, & y \le 0, \\ 1, & y \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(4.29)

which is globally smooth and is increasing within the interval (0, 1). Then, we introduce the following *transition function*

$$\xi(s,r) := 1 - \chi(r+1-s^2/2) \in [0,1], \tag{4.30}$$

which is globally smooth and is defined for all $s \ge 1$ and all $r \ge 0$. It also satisfies

$$\xi(s,r) = \begin{cases} 1, & r \le -1 + s^2/2, \\ 0, & r \ge s^2/2. \end{cases}$$
(4.31)

¹The region $s \in [1, 2]$ will require a specific treatment.

Hence, the function ξ is not constant precisely in a transition region around the light cone $2r \simeq s^2 = t^2 - r^2$.

Definition 4.3. The Euclidian-hyperboloidal time function is the function T = T(s, r) defined by the following ordinary differential problem:

$$\partial_r T(s,r) = \chi(s-1)\xi(s,r)\frac{r}{\sqrt{r^2+s^2}},$$

 $T(s,0) = s \ge 1.$
(4.32)

Then, by definition, the *Euclidian-Hyperboloidal foliation* is determined from this time function and consists of the following family of spacelike hypersurfaces

$$\mathcal{M}_s := \{(t, x) / t = T(s, |x|)\}.$$
(4.33)

Analyzing the spacetime foliation. It is convenient to also define the following spacetime regions:

$$\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]} := \left\{ (t,x) \,/\, T(s_0,|x|) \le t \le T(s_1,|x|) \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{3+1}, \\ \mathcal{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)} := \left\{ (t,x) \,/\, T(s_0,|x|) \le t \right\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{3+1},$$
(4.34)

and the interior, transition, and exterior domains (with r = |x|)

$$\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\text{int}} := \left\{ t^{2} = s^{2} + r^{2}, \quad r \leq -1 + s^{2}/2 \right\}$$
 hyperboloidal region,
$$\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\text{tran}} := \left\{ t = T(s, r), \quad -1 + s^{2}/2 \leq r \leq s^{2}/2 \right\}$$
 transition region, (4.35)
$$\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\text{ext}} := \left\{ t = T(s), \quad r \geq s^{2}/2 \right\}$$
 Euclidian region.

By construction, we thus have:

- In the interior, the relation $T^2 = s^2 + r^2$ holds and the slices consist of hyperboloids of Minkowski spacetime.
- In the exterior, one has $T = T(s) \simeq s^2$ which is independent of r and represents a "slow time", and the slices consists of flat hyperplanes of Minkowski spacetime.

One important task will be to analyze the geometric and algebraic properties of this foliation; see Part III.

4.2.3 Weighted Sobolev-type energy norms

In order to state our nonlinear stability theorems, we still need to define the Sobolevtype norm of interest. We use the energy norm associated to the wave and Klein-Gordon equations and induced on our Euclidian-hyperboloidal slices. In addition, in the exterior domain we introduce a weight function which provides us with the required control of the decay in spacelike directions.

Our weight depends upon the variable

$$q := r - t, \tag{4.36}$$

that is, the distance to the light cone from the origin and so, for some $\eta \in (0, 1]$ and using our cut-off function (4.29), we set

$$\omega_{\eta}(t,r) := \chi(q)(1+q)^{\eta} = \chi(r-t)(1+r-t)^{\eta}.$$
(4.37)

Clearly, ω_{η} is a smooth function vanishing in $\{r < t\}$.

To any function v defined in the domain $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$ limited by two slices of our foliation (say $1 \leq s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$), we define the (flat) energy functional

$$E_{\eta,c}(s,v)$$

$$:= \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \left(\left(1-\chi(1-s)^2\xi^2 \frac{r^2}{t^2}\right) \left(\partial_t v\right)^2 + \sum_a \left(\xi \frac{x^a}{t} \partial_t v + \partial_a v\right)^2 + c^2 v^2 \right) dx,$$

in which, by definition, one has t = T(s, r) and r = |x| on \mathcal{M}_s . With the notation (see Part III, below)

$$\overline{\partial}_a := \partial_a T(s, r) \partial_t + \partial_a$$

= $\chi(1-s)\xi(s, r) \frac{x^a}{T(s, r)} \partial_t v + \partial_a,$ (4.38)

we obtain the alternative form

$$E_{\eta,c}(s,v) = \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \left(|\zeta(s,r)\partial_t v|^2 + \sum_a |\overline{\partial}_a v|^2 + c^2 v^2 \right) dx, \tag{4.39}$$

in which the coefficient $\zeta = \zeta(s, r) \in [0, 1]$ is defined as

$$\zeta := \chi(1-s)\sqrt{\frac{s^2 + \chi^2(r-1+s^2/2)r^2}{s^2 + r^2}}.$$
(4.40)

This energy (together with its generalization to a curved metric) will lead us to a control of the weighted wave-Klein-Gordon energy associated with the operator $\Box v - c^2 v$ with $c \ge 0$.

The choice of the cut-off function will be presented later in Part 3.

5 The nonlinear stability in wave gauge

5.1 Main results

5.1.1 Einstein equations in wave gauge

We are now in a position to state our main results in coordinates. We treat first the Einstein equations (1.2) in which case the physical and the conformal metrics coincide. It is convenient to denote by

$$Z^I := \partial^{I_1} L^{I_2} \Omega^{I_3}, \quad I = (I_1, I_2, I_3),$$

an arbitrary combination of translations, boosts, and rotations, that is

$$\partial \in \{\partial_0, \partial_1, \partial_2, \partial_3\}, \quad L \in \{L_1, L_2, L_3\}, \quad \Omega \in \{\Omega_{12}, \Omega_{13}, \Omega_{23}\}.$$
(5.1)

Theorem 5.1 (Global nonlinear stability of self-gravitating massive fields). For all sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ and all sufficiently large integer N, one can find $\sigma \in [0, 1)$, $\eta, \delta \in (0, 1)$, and $C_0 > 0$ depending upon (ϵ, N) so that the following property holds for the Einstein-massive field equations in wave gauge (4.13) in the Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation (EHF) (cf. Definition 4.3).

Consider any (σ, ϵ, N) -asymptotically tame initial data $(h_{\alpha\beta} := g_{\alpha\beta} - g_{M,\alpha\beta}, \phi)$, prescribed on the hypersurface $\{t = 1\} = \{s = 1\}$ and satisfying the energy bounds

$$E_{\eta}(1, Z^{I}h_{\alpha\beta})^{1/2} + E_{c,\eta+1/2}(1, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \le \epsilon, \qquad |I| \le N,$$
(5.2)

as well as the sup-norm estimates (3.7) in Definition 3.1. Then, a global solution $(h_{\alpha\beta} := g_{\alpha\beta} - g_{M,\alpha\beta}, \phi)$ satisfying the Einstein equations (4.13) exists, which enjoys the following bounds (for all $s \ge 1$)

$$E_{\eta}(s, Z^{I}h_{\alpha\beta})^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta}, \qquad |I| \leq N, E_{c,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta+1/2}, \qquad |I| \leq N, E_{c,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta}, \qquad |I| \leq N-4.$$
(5.3)

Moreover, the spacetime $(\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g, \phi)$ determined by this solution is future timelike geodesically complete.

5.1.2 The f(R)-equations in wave gauge

Next, our statement for the f(R)-theory reads as follows.

Theorem 5.2 (Global nonlinear stability for the theory of modified gravity). Let f = f(R) be a function satisfying the condition (1.6) for some $\kappa \in (0, 1)$. For all sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ and all sufficiently large integer N, one can find $\sigma \in [0, 1)$, $\eta, \delta \in (0, 1)$, and $C_0 > 0$ depending upon (ϵ, N, κ) so that the following property holds for the f(R)-field equations in wave gauge (4.7) in the Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation (EHF) (cf. Definition 4.3).

Consider any (σ, ϵ, N) -asymptotically tame initial data consisting of a metric $h_{\alpha\beta} := g_{\alpha\beta} - g_{M,\alpha\beta}$, a scalar curvature field ρ , and a matter field ϕ prescribed on the hypersurface $\{t = 1\} = \{s = 1\}$ and satisfying the energy bounds

$$E_{\eta}(1, Z^{I}h_{\alpha\beta})^{1/2} + \frac{1}{b}E_{b,\eta+1/2}(1, Z^{I}\rho)^{1/2} + E_{c,\eta+1/2}(1, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \le \epsilon, \qquad |I| \le N, \quad (5.4)$$

in which $b := \kappa^{-1/2}$, as well as the sup-norm estimates (3.7) in Definition 3.1. Then a global solution $(h_{\alpha\beta} = g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} - g^{\dagger}{}_{M,\alpha\beta}, \rho, \phi)$ satisfying the f(R)-field equations in conformal wave gauge (4.7) exists, which enjoys the following bounds for all $s \ge 1$

$$E_{\eta}(s, Z^{I}h_{\alpha\beta})^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta}, \qquad |I| \leq N,$$

$$E_{b,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\rho)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}b\epsilon s^{\delta+1/2}, \qquad |I| \leq N,$$

$$E_{b,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\rho)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}b\epsilon s^{\delta}, \qquad |I| \leq N-4. \qquad (5.5)$$

$$E_{c,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta+1/2}, \qquad |I| \leq N,$$

$$E_{c,\eta+1/2}(s, Z^{I}\phi)^{1/2} \leq C_{0}\epsilon s^{\delta}, \qquad |I| \leq N-4.$$

Moreover, the spacetime $(\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathbb{R}^3, g^{\dagger}, \rho, \phi)$ determined by this solution is future timelike geodesically complete.

The mathematical validity of the theory of modified gravity will be justified by establishing that our estimates can be made to be essentially independent of $\kappa \in (0, 1)$ and by next analyzing the convergence $\kappa \to 0$.

Remark 5.3. 1. Note that the energy may grow in time. We will actually show that the exponent $\delta = \delta(\epsilon)$ can be chosen to approach zero when the initial norms approach zero, that is, $\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \delta(\epsilon) = 0$. This type of behavior was first observed by Lindblad and Rodnianski [95] for asymptotically flat foliations of vacuum spacetimes.

2. Sup-norm bounds will also be established for $g - g_M$ which shows that our supnorm conditions (3.7) in Definition 3.1 also hold within the spacetime.

5.2 A new strategy of proof: the EHF method

5.2.1 Dealing simultaneously with the Einstein and f(R)-equations

While a more technical description of our method will be given in the next parts, at this stage we can already outline our strategy of proof.

Before we can proceed with the analysis of the Cauchy problem for the f(R)-system we perform a conformal formulation based on the unknown scalar curvature. Namely, as explained earlier, we propose to express the field equations and the initial value problem in terms of a conformally equivalent metric denoted by g^{\dagger} . Following [89], we supplement the field equations (1.7) with the equation (1.9) satisfied by the scalar curvature field.

We also emphasize that Theorems 5.1 and 5.2 are going to be established simultaneously. We write all of our estimates in the context of the f(R)-gravity equations. By taking $\kappa = 0$ and suppressing the equation for the scalar curvature field, we will establish that (essentially) all of our estimates carry over to the Einstein equations. In the last part of the analysis, we will give a proof of Theorem 3.5 by analyzing carefully the dependency of our estimates with respect to the mass parameter κ .

5.2.2 The notion of Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation (EFH)

Our method is based on distinguishing between interior and exterior spacetime domains, in which different foliations are required, which we will glue together along a transition region concentrated near the light cone from the origin in our coordinate system.

• Interior domain. In our approach, this region $\mathcal{M}^{\text{int}} \subset \mathcal{M}$ is foliated by spacelike hypersurfaces which are (truncated) hyperboloids in Minkowski spacetime \mathbb{R}^{3+1}

and coincides with the future of a truncated asymptotically hyperboloidal initial hypersurface. We could solve the field equations globally from an initial data set prescribed on such a hypersurface.

- Exterior domain. In our approach, this region $\mathcal{M}^{\text{ext}} \subset \mathcal{M}$ is foliated by asymptotically flat hypersurfaces of \mathcal{M} , which are flat spacelike hypersurfaces in Minkowski spacetime \mathbb{R}^{3+1} . We can solve the field equations in this exterior domain (containing spacelike infinity) by prescribing suitable initial data.
- **Transition domain.** These two domains are glued together by introducing a transition region around the light cone in which the geometry of the foliation changes drastically from begin hyperboloidal to being Euclidian in nature.

We distinguish between several frames of vector fields. The Cartesian frame ∂_{α} , the semi-hyperboloidal frame $\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}$, as well as the null frame $\widetilde{\partial}_{a}$ will be used at various stages of our analysis:

- Vector fields tangent to the foliation: $\underline{\partial}_a = (x_a/t)\partial_t + \partial_a$ in the interior domain and ∂_a in the exterior domain, which for instance are used in expressing the energy estimates.
- Vector fields relevant for decomposing the metric and the nonlinearities: $\underline{\partial}_a$ in the interior domain and $\widetilde{\partial}_a = (x^a/r)\partial_t + \partial_a$ in the exterior domain.

5.2.3 Main challenge and difficulties

A major challenge is to cope with the nonlinear coupling taking place between the geometry and the matter terms of the gravity field equations, which potentially could lead to a blow-up phenomena and prevent global existence. To proceed, we need to handle the following difficulties:

• The Einstein equations, and more generally the f(R)-equations as we discuss them here, do not satisfy the standard null condition. Importantly, understanding the quasi-null structure of the (Einstein or f(R)) field equations is essential in the proof and requires understanding the interplay with the wave gauge condition and identifying certain cancellations.

- According to the positive mass theorem, physically admissible initial data (with the exception of Minkowski spacetime itself) must have a non-trivial tail at spatial infinity which typically behaves like Schwarzschild spacetime. We include a spatial weight ω_{η} in our energy norm which allows to encompass this behavior.
- We will formulate a bootstrap argument and establish (uniform in κ) energy bounds of sufficiently high order satisfied by the metric, the scalar curvature field, and the scalar matter field. Our bootstrap involves a suitable hierarchy of (almost optimal) energy and pointwise bounds, and distinguishes between lowand high-order derivatives of the solutions.

5.2.4 Main technical contributions in this Monograph

We rely on basic high-order energy estimates obtained by applying the translations, boosts, and spatial rotations of Minkowski spacetime.

- Considering a simpler model first and then analyzing the full problem of interest, we provide a *classification of the nonlinearities* arising in wave-Klein-Gordon equations and systematically we compare them with the terms we control with our energy functional.
- By proposing a general and synthetic proof, we establish that our frames of vector fields enjoy *favorable commutator estimates* in order for high-order energy estimates to be derived, and, especially, enjoy good commutation properties with the Killing fields of Minkowski spacetime
- We derive new Sobolev inequalities for Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliations, which are established by studying cone-like domains first.
- We establish *sharp sup-norm estimates* for solutions to wave and Klein-Gordon equations on curved spacetime, after decomposing the solution operators in suitable frames and building on the following three approaches: an ordinary differential equation argument along rays, a characteristic integration argument, and Kirchhoff's explicit formula.

The wave gauge conditions play a central role in the derivation of energy and pointwise bounds and especially provide a control on the components of the metric associated with a propagation equation that does not satisfy the null condition.

Importantly, the dependency w.r.t. the mass parameter κ must be carefully traced throughout, in order to encompass the regime $\kappa \to 0$. We introduce a scaling of the scalar curvature field which is most suitable for deriving uniform bounds and analyzing the singular convergence $\kappa \to 0$.

5.2.5 From geometric data to wave gauge data

Wave conditions on the initial hypersurface In order to complete the formulation in coordinates (4.7), we must connect the initial data required in wave coordinates to the prescribed geometric initial data introduced in Definitions 2.1 and 2.7. While the field equations are coordinate-independent, our analysis does require a choice of coordinates and all geometric degrees of freedom must be fixed.

This is a standard issue which is extensively treated in the literature on the local-intime existence theory [30, 136] and we only briefly discuss this issue here. The starting point is the four wave gauge conditions for the conformal metric g^{\dagger} , that is,

$$g^{\dagger \alpha \beta} \left(2 \partial_{\alpha} g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta \gamma} - \partial_{\gamma} g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha \beta} \right) = 0, \qquad \gamma = 0, \dots, 3.$$
 (5.6)

By imposing the orthogonality condition

$$g^{\dagger}_{\ 0a} = 0 \quad \text{on } t = 1,$$
 (5.7)

on the *initial* slice (only), we obtain

$$g^{\dagger 00} \partial_t g^{\dagger}{}_{00} - g^{\dagger ab} \partial_t g^{\dagger}{}_{ab} = 0,$$

$$2 g^{\dagger 00} \partial_t g^{\dagger}{}_{0a} + 2 g^{\dagger bc} (\partial_b g^{\dagger}{}_{ac} - \partial_a g^{\dagger}{}_{bc}) = 0.$$
(5.8)

This suggests us how to define the initial data in coordinates on the initial hypersurface from the prescribed geometric data g_0^{\dagger} and k_0^{\dagger} .

Lapse function The precise definition may depend on the choice of asymptotic conditions assumed on the initial data set. When the lapse function on the initial

hypersurface is chosen to be 1, one defines the initial data for (4.7) on $\{t = 1\}$ as follows:

$$g^{\dagger}{}_{00}|_{t=1} = -1, \qquad g^{\dagger}{}_{0a}|_{t=1} = 0, \qquad g^{\dagger}{}_{ab}|_{t=1} = g^{\dagger}{}_{0ab},$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}{}_{00}|_{t=1} = 2g_{0}^{\dagger ab}k^{\dagger}{}_{0ab},$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}{}_{0a}|_{t=1} = g_{0}^{\dagger bc}\partial_{c}g^{\dagger}{}_{0ba} - \frac{1}{2}g_{0}^{\dagger bc}\partial_{a}g^{\dagger}{}_{0bc},$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}{}_{ab}|_{t=1} = -2k^{\dagger}{}_{0ab},$$

(5.9)

while, for the matter and curvature fields,

$$\rho\big|_{t=1} = \rho_0, \quad \partial_t \rho\big|_{t=0} = \rho_1, \quad \phi\big|_{t=1} = \phi_0, \quad \partial_t \phi\big|_{t=0} = \phi_1.$$
 (5.10)

On the other hand, for the class of metrics that are asymptotic to a given Schwarzschild metric with mass m_S , we can choose the lapse function l > 0 on the initial hypersurface from its expression for the Schwarzschild metric expressed in wave gauge. In this case, we select a smooth interpolating function l satisfying

$$l(r) = \begin{cases} 1, & r \le 1/2, \\ \frac{r-2m_S}{r+2m_S}, & r \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.11)

We define the initial data for (4.7) on $\{t = 1\}$ as follows:

$$g^{\dagger}_{00}|_{t=1} = -l^{2}, \qquad g^{\dagger}_{0a}|_{t=1} = 0, \qquad g^{\dagger}_{ab}|_{t=1} = g^{\dagger}_{0ab},$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}_{00}|_{t=1} = 2l^{3}g_{0}^{\dagger ab}k^{\dagger}_{0ab},$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}_{0a}|_{t=1} = l^{2}g_{0}^{\dagger bc}\partial_{c}g_{0ba}^{\dagger} - \frac{l^{2}}{2}g_{0}^{\dagger bc}\partial_{a}g_{0bc}^{\dagger} - l\partial_{a}l,$$

$$\partial_{t}g^{\dagger}_{ab}|_{t=1} = -2l k_{0ab}^{\dagger},$$

(5.12)

while, for the matter and curvature fields, we have

$$\rho|_{t=1} = \rho_0, \quad \partial_t \rho|_{t=0} = l\rho_1, \quad \phi|_{t=1} = \phi_0, \quad \partial_t \phi|_{t=1} = l\phi_1.$$
 (5.13)

Part III The notion of Euclidian-Hyperboloidal foliations

6 Defining Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliations (EHF)

6.1 Defining the time function

The cut-off function This part together with the next one presents some of main tools required for the EHF method (with the exception of the sup-norm estimates that will be presented later), while the treatment of a class of equations is presented in the following. From now on we focus on the region $s \ge s_0 = 2$, so that the factor $\chi(s-1)$ introduced in the previous part is now identically 1. For this reason and for clarity in the presentation, we allow ourselves to repeat some of the notation that were introduce earlier. Hence, this Part together with the next one can be read mostly independently from the previous two Parts and therefore provide the reader an introduction to the new tools required in our method.

First of all, a cut-off function $\chi : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$ is defined by introducing first a function $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty)$ by

$$\rho(y) := \begin{cases} e^{\frac{-2}{1 - (2y-1)^2}}, & 0 < y < 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

which is clearly globally smooth. Setting

$$\rho_0 := \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \rho(y) \, dy = \int_0^1 \rho(y) \, dy > 0, \tag{6.2}$$

our cut-off function is defined as

$$\chi(y) := \rho_0^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^y \rho(y') \, dy', \quad y \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.3)

It follows that χ is a smooth function satisfying

$$\chi(y) = \begin{cases} 0, & y \le 0, \\ 1, & y \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(6.4)

which is also strictly increasing on the interval (0, 1).

Within the spacetime, we define a smooth function $\chi = \chi(s, r)$ by

$$\xi(s,r) := 1 - \chi(r - 1 + s^2/2), \quad s \ge 2, \, r > 0, \tag{6.5}$$

which satisfies

$$\xi(s,r) = \begin{cases} 1, & r \le -1 + s^2/2, \\ 0, & r \ge s^2/2. \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

This function is chosen to be non-constant precisely in a neighborhood of the light cone, as will become clear below.

The time function. We define the function $T = T(s, r) \ge 1$ by the following two conditions:

$$\partial_r T(s,r) = \xi(s,r) \frac{r}{\sqrt{r^2 + s^2}}, \qquad T(s,0) = s.$$
 (6.7)

In view of (6.6), it is clear that, for sufficiently small values of r,

$$T(s,r) = \sqrt{s^2 + r^2}$$
 for all $r \le -1 + s^2/2$. (6.8)

On the other hand, in the intermediate region, we find

$$T(s,r) = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s^4 + 4} + \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r (s^2 + \rho^2)^{-1/2} \rho \,\xi(s,\rho) d\rho$$

for all $s^2/2 \ge r \ge -1 + s^2/2$, (6.9)

and finally

$$T(s,r) = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s^4 + 4} + \int_{-1+s^2/2}^{s^2/2} (s^2 + \rho^2)^{-1/2} \rho \,\xi(s,\rho) d\rho$$

=: $T(s)$ for all $r \ge s^2/2$, (6.10)

which does not depend upon the radius r. Observe that this last coefficient satisfies

$$\frac{\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s^4 + 4}}{2} < T(s) < \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s^4 + 4s^2}.$$
(6.11)

¹We now restrict attention to $s \ge 2$.

6.2 Defining the foliation

The slices. Consider the family of slices associated with the time function T:

$$\mathcal{M}_s := \left\{ (t, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3 / t = T(s, r), \, r = |x| \right\}.$$
(6.12)

The following property is easily checked. The slices \mathcal{M}_s form a family of smooth 3-dimensional spacelike hypersurfaces, whose future oriented normal vector n_s (with respect to the Euclidian metric) reads

$$n_s = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+\xi^2(s,r))r^2 + s^2}} \left(\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}, -x^a\xi(s,r)\right)$$
(6.13)

and whose volume element σ_s (with respect to the Euclidian metric) reads

$$\sigma_s = \frac{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2(1 + \xi(s, r)^2)}}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} dx.$$
(6.14)

We introduce the following notation:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{int}} := \left\{ (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{3+1} / t = \sqrt{s^{2} + r^{2}}, r \leq -1 + s^{2}/2 \right\}, \\
\mathfrak{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{tran}} := \left\{ (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{3+1} / t = T(s,r), -1 + s^{2}/2 \leq r \leq s^{2}/2 \right\} \tag{6.15}$$

$$\mathfrak{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{ext}} := \left\{ (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{3+1} / t = t(s), r \geq s^{2}/2 \right\}.$$

The decomposition of the spacetime. Our construction provides us with a decomposition of each slice in three parts

$$\mathcal{M}_s := \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{int}} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}}.$$
(6.16)

Next, we set

$$\mathfrak{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)} := \{(t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{3+1} / t \ge t(s_0,r)\}, \\
\mathfrak{M}_{[s_0,s_1]} := \{(t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^{3+1} / t(s_0,r) \le t \le t(s_1,r)\},$$
(6.17)

and we thus have

$$\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)} = \bigcup_{s \ge s_0} \mathcal{M}_s.$$
(6.18)

This foliation is referred to as the Euclidian-Hyperboloidal Foliation (EHF). We also write

$$\mathfrak{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}^{\mathrm{int}} = \bigcup_{s \ge s_0} \mathfrak{M}_s^{\mathrm{int}}, \\
\mathfrak{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}^{\mathrm{tran}} = \bigcup_{s \ge s_0} \mathfrak{M}_s^{\mathrm{tran}}, \\
\mathfrak{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}^{\mathrm{ext}} = \bigcup_{s \ge s_0} \mathfrak{M}_s^{\mathrm{ext}},$$
(6.19)

and we refer to these regions as the *interior*, *transition*, and exterior domains of the spacetime, respectively.

Choice of coordinates. In $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}$ we rely on the coordinate functions

$$\overline{x}^0 = s, \qquad \overline{x}^a = x^a,$$

and the natural frame associated with this parametrization reads

$$\partial_s = \partial_s T(s, r) \partial_t,$$

$$\overline{\partial}_a = \partial_a + \partial_a T(s, r) \partial_t = \partial_a + \frac{x^a \xi(s, r)}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} \partial_t.$$
(6.20)

Then we analyse the transition region $\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{tran}}_s$ we can write

$$t - r = T(s, r) - r = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s^4 + 4} - 1 + \frac{s^2}{2} + \int_{-1 + \frac{s^2}{2}}^{r} \frac{\xi(s, r)\rho d\rho}{\sqrt{s^2 + \rho^2}} - (r - 1 + \frac{s^2}{2})$$
$$= \frac{2}{\sqrt{1 + 4s^{-4}} + 1 - 2s^{-2}} + \int_{-1 + \frac{s^2}{2}}^{r} \frac{\xi(s, r)\rho d\rho}{\sqrt{s^2 + \rho^2}} - (r - 1 + \frac{s^2}{2}),$$
(6.21)

thus we obtain the following lower and upper bounds for the distance to the light cone within the transition region:

$$1 < \frac{2}{\sqrt{1+4s^{-4}}+1-2s^{-2}} - 1 < t-r \le \frac{2}{\sqrt{1+4s^{-4}}+1-2s^{-2}} < 2$$
(6.22)

in the transition region $\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}}$.

6.3 Jacobian of the coordinate transformation

The following identity relates the volume elements in both coordinates (t, x) and (s, x):

$$dxdt = Jdxds, \tag{6.23}$$

in which J denotes the Jacobian of the corresponding change of variables, that is, $J = |\partial_s T(s, r)|$. The following technical observation will play a role later.

Lemma 6.1. The Euclidian-hyperboloidal time-function T = T(s, r) satisfies

$$\left|\partial_{s}T(s,r)\right| \lesssim \begin{cases} \frac{s}{T(s,r)} = \frac{s}{(s^{2}+r^{2})^{1/2}}, & r \leq -1+s^{2}/2, \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)s}{(s^{2}+r^{2})^{1/2}} + 2(1-\xi(s,r))s, & -1+s^{2}/2 \leq r \leq s^{2}/2, \\ 2s, & r \geq s^{2}/2, \end{cases}$$
(6.24)

in which the implied constant is a universal constant.

Thanks for this lemma, we thus obtain

$$J \lesssim \begin{cases} s/t = \frac{s}{(s^2 + r^2)^{1/2}}, & r \le -1 + s^2/2, \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)s}{(s^2 + r^2)^{1/2}} + 2(1 - \xi(s,r))s, & -1 + s^2/2 \le r \le s^2/2, \\ 2s, & r \ge s^2/2. \end{cases}$$
(6.25)

Proof. We have

$$\partial_r \partial_s T(s,r) = \partial_s \partial_r T(s,r) = \frac{r \partial_s \xi(s,r)}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} - \frac{sr\xi(s,r)}{(s^2 + r^2)^{3/2}}$$

and observe that $\partial_s \xi(s,r) = -s \partial_r \xi(s,r)$, so that

$$\partial_r \partial_s T(s,r) = \frac{-s\partial_r \xi(s,r)r}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} - \frac{sr\xi(s,r)}{(s^2 + r^2)^{3/2}}.$$
(6.26)

Recall that, at the center r = 0, one has t(s, 0) = s and thus $\partial_s T(s, 0) = 1$. Then we see that for $0 \le r \le -1 + s^2/2$,

$$\partial_s T(s,r) = 1 - \int_0^r \frac{s\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} d\rho = \frac{s}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} = s/t.$$

For $-1 + s^2/2 \le r \le \frac{s^2}{2}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \partial_s T(s,r) &= 1 - \int_0^{-1+s^2/2} \frac{s\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} d\rho - \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \frac{s\rho\xi(s,\rho)d\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} \\ &\quad -s \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \frac{\partial_r\xi(s,\rho)\rho d\rho}{\sqrt{s^2 + \rho^2}} \\ &= \frac{2s}{\sqrt{s^4 + 4}} - \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \frac{s\rho\xi(s,\rho)d\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} - s \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \frac{\partial_r\xi(s,\rho)\rho d\rho}{\sqrt{s^2 + \rho^2}} \\ &= \frac{s\xi(s,r)}{(s^2 + r^2)^{1/2}} - 2s \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \frac{\rho\partial_r\xi(s,r)d\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{1/2}} \\ &= \frac{s\xi(s,r)}{(s^2 + r^2)^{1/2}} + 2sT_1(r). \end{split}$$

We write $T_s(\rho) := \frac{\rho}{s^2 + \rho^2}$ and, by integration by parts, we find

$$\begin{aligned} T_1(r) &= \xi(s,\rho)T_s(\rho) \bigg|_r^{-1+s^2/2} + \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \xi(s,\rho)T_s'(\rho)d\rho \\ &= (\xi(s,-1+s^2/2) - \xi(s,r))T_s(r) + \xi(s,-1+s^2/2) \left(T_s(-1+s^2/2) - T_s(r)\right) \\ &+ \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \xi(s,\rho)T_s'(\rho)d\rho \\ &= (1-\xi(s,r))T_s(r) + \left(T_s(-1+s^2/2) - T_s(r)\right) + \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \xi(s,\rho)T_s'(\rho)d\rho. \end{aligned}$$

We observe that $T_s'(\rho) \ge 0$ and $\xi(s, r) \le 1$, hence

$$\int_{-1+s^2/2}^r \xi(s,\rho) T'_s(\rho) d\rho \le \int_{-1+s^2/2}^r T'_s(\rho) d\rho \le T_s(r) - T_s(-1+s^2/2).$$

Thus we see that

$$T_1(r) \le (1 - \xi(s, r))T_s(r) \le 1 - \xi(s, r)$$

and this conclude the case $-1 + s^2/2 \le r \le s^2/2$. For $r \ge s^2/2$, we see that

$$\begin{split} \partial_s T(s,r) = & 1 - \int_0^{-1+s^2/2} \frac{s\rho d\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} - \int_{-1+s^2/2}^{s^2/2} \frac{s\rho\xi(s,\rho)d\rho}{(s^2 + \rho^2)^{3/2}} \\ & - s \int_{-1+s^2/2}^{s^2/2} \frac{\partial_r \xi(s,\rho)\rho d\rho}{\sqrt{s^2 + \rho^2}}, \end{split}$$

thus we keep the bound given in the last case with $r = s^2/2$.

7 Frames of interest and the null condition

7.1 The semi-hyperboloidal frame (SHF)

We now introduce several frames of vector fields, which will play a key role on our analysis. From [85], we recall the definition of the *semi-hyperboloidal frame* defined globally in $\mathcal{M}_{[2,+\infty)}$ by

$$\underline{\partial}_0 := \partial_t, \qquad \underline{\partial}_a := \frac{x^a}{t} \partial_t + \partial_a. \tag{7.1}$$

The transition matrix between this frame and the natural frame ∂_{α} is given by the relations

$$\underline{\partial}_{\alpha} = \underline{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \partial_{\alpha'}, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\alpha} = 1, \quad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{0} = x^{a}/t, \tag{7.2}$$

that is

$$\left(\underline{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\beta}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{1}/t & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{2}/t & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ x^{3}/t & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.3)

The inverse of $\underline{\Phi}$ is denoted by $\underline{\Psi}$ and satisfies

$$\partial_{\alpha} = \underline{\Psi}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\partial}_{\alpha'}, \qquad \underline{\Psi}_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -x^{1}/t & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -x^{2}/t & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -x^{3}/t & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.4)

We also introduce the corresponding dual frame associated with $\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}$, that is,

$$\underline{\theta}^{0} = dt - (x^{a}/t)\partial_{a}, \quad \underline{\theta}^{a} = dx^{a}.$$
(7.5)

Finally, observe that, in the semi-hyperboloidal frame, the Minkowski metric $g_M = m$ reads as follows:

$$\left(\underline{g}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\right) = \left(\underline{m}^{\alpha\beta}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - (r/t)^{2} & x^{1}/t & x^{2}/t & x^{3}/t \\ x^{1}/t & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{2}/t & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ x^{3}/t & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.6)

The semi-hyperboloidal frame will be most suitable in the interior domain in order to exhibit the (quasi-)null form structure of the nonlinearities of the field equations.

7.2 The null frame (NF)

Within the region $\{r > t/2\} \cap \mathcal{M}_{[2,+\infty)}$, we have $r > \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}$ so that the radial variable is bounded below and we can introduce the *null frame* (NF):

$$\widetilde{\partial}_0 = \partial_t, \qquad \widetilde{\partial}_a := \frac{x^a}{r} \partial_t + \partial_a.$$
(7.7)

The transition matrix between this frame and the canonical frame is given by

$$\widetilde{\partial}_{\alpha} = \widetilde{\Phi}^{\beta}_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta}, \qquad \widetilde{\Phi}^{\beta}_{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{1}/r & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{2}/r & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ x^{3}/r & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.8)

The inverse of this transition matrix reads

$$\widetilde{\Psi}_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -x^{1}/r & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -x^{2}/r & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -x^{3}/r & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.9)

We also note that the dual frame associated with this null frame is

$$\widetilde{\theta}^0 := dt - (x^a/r)dx^a, \qquad \widetilde{\theta}^a = dx^a.$$
(7.10)

Finally, in the null frame, the Minkowski metric takes the following simple form:

$$\left(\tilde{g}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\right) = \left(\tilde{m}^{\alpha\beta}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x^{1}/r & x^{2}/r & x^{3}/r \\ x^{1}/r & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ x^{2}/r & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ x^{3}/r & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.11)

The null frame will be most suitable in the exterior domain in order to exhibit the (quasi-)null form structure of the nonlinearities of the field equations.

7.3 The Euclidian-hyperboloidal frame (EHF)

Based on the parametrization of $\mathcal{M}_{[2,+\infty)}$ by (s, x^a) , we introduce the following Euclidianhyperboloidal frame (EHF)

$$\widetilde{\partial}_0 = \partial_t,
\widetilde{\partial}_a = \partial_a t \,\partial_t + \partial_a = (x^a/r)\partial_r t \,\partial_t + \partial_a = \frac{\xi(s,r)x^a}{\sqrt{r^2 + s^2}}\partial_t + \partial_a,$$
(7.12)

(which we sometimes call the Euclidian-semi-hyperboloidal frame (ESHF)). The transition matrix between this frame and the canonical natural frame is given by

$$\breve{\partial}_{\alpha} = \breve{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\beta} \partial_{\beta}, \qquad \breve{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{1}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{2}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{3}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(7.13)$$

while its inverse reads

$$\widetilde{\Psi}_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{-\xi(s,r)x^{1}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{-\xi(s,r)x^{2}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \frac{-\xi(s,r)x^{3}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.14)

This frame coincides with the semi-hyperboloidal frame in the interior domain, but with the canonical frame in the exterior domain. In the region of transition, $\check{\partial}_a$ are also tangent to the slices $\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}}$.

The corresponding dual frame is given by

$$\breve{\theta}^{0} = dt - \frac{\xi(s, r)x^{a}}{\sqrt{s^{2} + r^{2}}}dx^{a}, \qquad \breve{\theta}^{a} = dx^{a}.$$
(7.15)

In this frame the Minkowski metric g_M takes the form

$$\left(\breve{g}_{M}^{\alpha\beta} \right) = \left(\breve{m}^{\alpha\beta} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \frac{\xi^{2}(s,r)r^{2}}{s^{2}+r^{2}} & \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{1}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{3}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{1}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{2}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ \frac{\xi(s,r)x^{3}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (7.16)

The Euclidian-hyperboloidal frame is appropriate in order to express our (high-order) energy functionals associated with solutions to the field equations.

Later, it will be convenient to use the coefficient $\zeta = \zeta(s, r)$ defined by

$$\zeta(s,r) := \sqrt{1 - \frac{\xi^2(s,r)r^2}{s^2 + r^2}}.$$
(7.17)

Finally, we also point out the relation

$$\partial_t = (\partial_s t)^{-1} \partial_s = J^{-1} \partial_s. \tag{7.18}$$

Of course, a tensor can be expressed in different frames and we adopt the following notation for any two-tensor T:

$$T = T^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \otimes \partial_{\beta} = \underline{T}^{\alpha\beta}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha} \otimes \underline{\partial}_{\beta}$$

= $\overline{T}^{\alpha\beta}\overline{\partial}_{\alpha} \otimes \overline{\partial}_{\beta} = \widetilde{T}^{\alpha\beta}\overline{\partial}_{\alpha} \otimes \overline{\partial}_{\beta}.$ (7.19)

8 The weighted energy estimate

8.1 Statement of the energy estimate

In the domain $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}$, we introduce the distance to the light cone

$$q = r - t$$

and for any $\eta > 0$ we define

$$\omega_{\eta}(q) := \begin{cases} 0, & q \le 0 \Leftrightarrow t \ge r, \\ \chi(q)(1+q)^{\eta}, & q \ge 0 \Leftrightarrow r \ge t. \end{cases}$$
(8.1)

Clearly, ω_{η} is smooth within $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,+\infty)}$ and

$$\partial_{\alpha}\omega_{\eta} = \omega_{\eta}'(q)\partial_{\alpha}q$$

$$= \begin{cases} 0, & q \le 0 \Leftrightarrow t \ge r, \\ \left(\chi'(q)(1+q)^{\eta} + \eta\chi(q)(1+q)^{\eta-1}\right)\partial_{\alpha}q, & q \ge 0 \Leftrightarrow r \ge t, \end{cases}$$
(8.2)

while $\omega'_{\eta}(q) \ge 0$.

We are ready to establish a basic energy estimate. Recall that the wave operator on Minkowski spacetime is denoted by

$$\Box = \Box_{g_M} = -\partial_t \partial_t + \sum_{a=1}^3 \partial_a \partial_a.$$
(8.3)

A weighted energy estimate valid in a general curved spacetime will also be established later on.

Proposition 8.1 (Weighted energy estimate in flat spacetime). Let u be a smooth function defined in $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$ and decaying sufficiently fast at infinity (with respect to $r \to \infty$). If

$$\Box u - c^2 u = f, \tag{8.4}$$

then the following estimate holds

$$E_{\eta,c}(s,u)^{1/2} \leq E_{\eta,c}(s_0,u)^{1/2} + C \|f\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{int})} + C \|(1 + (1 - \xi(s,r))^{1/2}s)f\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{tran})}$$
(8.5)
+ $C \|s(1 + \omega_\eta)f\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{ext})}$

for some uniform constant C > 0, in which the energy on the slice \mathcal{M}_s is defined by

$$E_{\eta,c}(s,u) := \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} (1+\omega_\eta) \left(\frac{s^2 + (1-\xi^2(s,r))r^2}{s^2 + r^2} \left(\partial_t u\right)^2 + \sum_a \left(\frac{\xi(s,r)x^a}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} \partial_t u + \partial_a u \right)^2 + c^2 u^2 \right) dx.$$
(8.6)

8.2 Derivation of the energy estimate

We provide here a proof of Proposition 8.1 by applying the classical multiplier $\partial_t u$ to the equation (8.4). We obtain

$$2(1+\omega_{\eta})^{2}\partial_{t}u\Box u = \partial_{t}\left((1+\omega_{\eta})^{2}|\partial_{t}u|^{2} + \sum_{a}\left(\partial_{a}u\right)^{2}\right)$$
$$-\partial_{a}\left(2(1+\omega_{\eta})^{2}\partial_{t}u\partial_{a}u\right)$$
$$+ 2(1+\omega_{\eta})\omega_{\eta}'(q)\sum_{a}\left((x^{a}/r)\partial_{t}u - \partial_{a}u\right)^{2}.$$
(8.7)

Let

$$V_{\eta} = (1 + \omega_{\eta})^2 \left(|\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\partial_a u \right)^2, -2\partial_t u \partial_a u \right)$$
(8.8)

be the associated energy flux. Integrating the identity (8.7) in the region $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$ and assuming that u tends to zero sufficiently fast, Stokes' theorem applies and gives us

$$2\int_{\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \partial_t u \,\Box u \,dxdt$$

=
$$\int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_1}} V_\eta \cdot n_{s_1} d\sigma_{s_1} - \int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_0}} V_\eta \cdot n_{s_0} d\sigma_{s_0}$$

+
$$2\sum_a \int_{\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}} (1+\omega_\eta) \omega'_\eta(q) \left((x^a/r) \partial_t u - \partial_a u \right)^2 dxdt.$$

This leads us to the energy identity

$$2\int_{\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \partial_t u \,\Box u \,J dx ds$$

=
$$\int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_1}} V_\eta \cdot n_{s_1} d\sigma_{s_1} - \int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_0}} V_\eta \cdot n_{s_0} d\sigma_{s_0}$$

+
$$2\sum_a \int_{\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}} (1+\omega_\eta) \omega'(q) \left((x^a/r) \partial_t u - \partial_a u \right)^2 J dx ds.$$

We then differentiate the above equation with respect to s and obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}} (1+\omega_{\eta})\partial_{t}u \,\Box u \,Jdx = \frac{d}{ds} \int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_{1}}} V_{\eta} \cdot n_{s} d\sigma_{s} + \sum_{a} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}} (1+\omega_{\eta}(q))\omega'(q^{\eta}) \left((x^{a}/r)\partial_{t}u - \partial_{a}u\right)^{2} Jdx \quad (8.9)$$
$$\geq \frac{d}{ds} \int_{\mathcal{F}_{s_{1}}} V_{\eta} \cdot n_{s} d\sigma_{s}.$$

Introducing as in (8.6)

$$\begin{split} E_{\eta,c}(s,u) &= \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} V_\eta \cdot n_s d\sigma_s \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \left(|\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\partial_a u\right)^2 + \frac{2\xi(s,r)x^a}{\sqrt{s^2+r^2}} \partial_t u \partial_a u \right) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{M}_s} (1+\omega_\eta)^2 \left(\frac{s^2 + (1-\xi^2(s,r))r^2}{s^2+r^2} |\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\frac{\xi(s,r)x^a}{\sqrt{s^2+r^2}} \partial_t u + \partial_a u \right)^2 \right) \, dx \end{split}$$

or

$$\begin{split} E_{\eta,c}(s,u) &= \int_{\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{int}}} \left((s/t)^2 |\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\frac{x^a}{t} \partial_t u + \partial_a u \right)^2 \right) dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}}} \left(\frac{s^2 + (1 - \xi^2(s, r))r^2}{s^2 + r^2} |\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\frac{\xi(s, r)x^a}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} \partial_t u + \partial_a u \right)^2 \right) dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}}} (1 + \omega_\eta)^2 \left(|\partial_t u|^2 + \sum_a \left(\partial_a u \right)^2 \right) dx, \end{split}$$

we see that

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}} (1+\omega_{\eta})^{2} \partial_{t} u \, \Box u \, J dx
= \left(\int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}^{int}} + \int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}_{s}^{ext}} \right)
\frac{J\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+(1-\xi^{2}(s,r))r^{2}}} (1+\omega_{\eta})^{2} \frac{\sqrt{s^{2}+(1-\xi^{2}(s,r))r^{2}}}{\sqrt{s^{2}+r^{2}}} \partial_{t} u \, \Box u \, J dx.$$
(8.10)

Finally, we use the following bound deduced from (6.25)

$$\frac{J\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}}{\sqrt{s^2 + (1 - \xi^2(s, r))r^2}} \le \begin{cases} 1, & \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{int}}, \\ C(1 + s\sqrt{1 - \xi(s, r)}), & \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}}, \\ 2s, & \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}}. \end{cases}$$
(8.11)

Now (8.10) leads to (observing also that $|\omega_{\eta}(q)| = 1$ on $\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\text{int}}$)

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_{s}} (1+\omega_{\eta})^{2} \partial_{t} u \, \Box u \, J dx
\leq C \, E_{\eta,c}(s,u)^{1/2} \left(\| \Box u \|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{int}})} + \| (1+s(1-\xi_{s}(r))^{1/2})(1+\omega_{\eta}) \Box u \|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{tran}})} + \| s(1+\omega_{\eta}) \Box u \|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\mathrm{ext}})} \right).$$
(8.12)

Combining the above estimate with (8.9), we arrive at

$$\frac{d}{ds} E_{\eta,c}(s,v)
\leq C E_{\eta,c}(s,v)^{1/2} \Big(\|\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{int}})} + \|(1+s(1-\xi_s(r))^{1/2})(1+\omega_\eta)\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}})}
+ \|s(1+\omega_\eta)\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}})} \Big)$$

which leads us to

$$\frac{d}{ds} E_{\eta,c}(s,v)^{1/2} \le C \Big(\|\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{int}})} + \|(1+s(1-\xi_s(r))^{1/2})(1+\omega_\eta)\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}})} \\ + \|s(1+\omega_\eta)\Box u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}})} \Big).$$

It remains to integrate this inequality in s over an interval $[s_0, s_1]$.

Part IV Sobolev and commutator estimates for EHF

9 Revisiting standard Sobolev's inequalities

9.1 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. I

With the notation $x = (x^a) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a = 1, \ldots, n$ we introduce the region

$$\mathbb{R}^n_+ := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \, / \, x^a \ge 0 \}$$

and throughout this Part we restrict attention to sufficiently regular functions defined in \mathbb{R}^n_+ and smoothly extendible outside \mathbb{R}^n_+ . As usual, a function $u : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be compactly supported if there exists a real R > 0 such that u(x) vanishes for all $|x| \ge R$.

We begin with the following result.

Proposition 9.1. For all sufficiently regular and compactly supported functions u defined on \mathbb{R}^3_+ , one has the inequality

$$\|u\|_{L^{6}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})} \lesssim \sum_{a=1}^{3} \|\partial_{a}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})},$$
(9.1)

where the implied constant is a universal constant.

Proof. Writing $\partial_a u^6 = 6u^5 \partial_a u$ and integrating this identity with respect to the variable x^a , we obtain

$$u^{4} \le 6 \int_{0}^{+\infty} |u^{3}| \partial_{a} u| \, dx^{a}.$$
(9.2)

Then, introducing the functions

$$w^{1}(x) = w^{1}(x^{2}, x^{3}) := \sup_{x^{1} \ge 0} |u(x)|^{2},$$

$$w^{2}(x) = w^{2}(x^{1}, x^{3}) := \sup_{x^{2} \ge 0} |u(x)|^{2},$$

$$w^{3}(x) = w^{3}(x^{1}, x^{2}) := \sup_{x^{3} \ge 0} |u(x)|^{2}.$$
(9.3)

We thus see that

$$|w^{a}(x)|^{2} \leq 6 \int_{0}^{+\infty} |u^{3}| |\partial_{a}u| \, dx^{a}.$$
(9.4)

Next, writing $d\hat{x}^1 = dx^2 dx^3$, $d\hat{x}^2 = dx^1 dx^3$, and $d\hat{x}^3 = dx^1 dx^2$, we can write for each a = 1, 2, 3

$$\int_{x^{b} \ge 0, b \ne a} (w^{a})^{2} d\hat{x}^{a} \le 6 \int_{x^{b} \ge 0, b \ne a} \int_{0}^{+\infty} |u^{3}| |\partial_{a}u| dx^{a}
= 6 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+}} |u^{3}| |\partial_{a}u| dx
\le 6 ||u^{3}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})} ||\partial_{a}u||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})}.$$
(9.5)

On the other hand, we can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3_+} u^6 dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^3_+} w^1(x) \, w^2(x) \, w^3(x) \, dx. \tag{9.6}$$

We see that

$$\int_{x_1 \ge 0} w^2(x^1, x^3) \, w^3(x^1, x^2) dx^1 \Big| \le \|w^2(x^1, x^2)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x_1})} \, \|w^3(x^1, x^2)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x_1})} \tag{9.7}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{x_{1},x_{2}\geq 0} w^{1}(x^{2},x^{3}) w^{2}(x^{1},x^{3}) w^{3}(x^{1},x^{2}) dx^{1} dx^{2} \right| \\ &\leq \|w^{2}(x^{1},x^{3})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1}})} \int_{x_{2}\geq 0} |w^{1}(x^{2},x^{3})| \|w^{3}(x^{1},x^{2})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1}})} dx^{2} \\ &\leq \|w^{2}(x^{1},x^{3})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1}})} \|w^{1}(x^{2},x^{3})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{2}})} \left\| \|w^{3}(x^{1},x^{2})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1}})}^{2} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{2}})} \\ &= \|w^{2}(x^{1},x^{3})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1}})} \|w^{1}(x^{2},x^{3})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{2}})} \|w^{3}(x_{1},x_{2})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}_{x_{1},x^{2}})}. \end{split}$$
(9.8)

Then we have

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3_+} w^1(x^2, x^3) \, w^2(x^1, x^3) \, w^3(x^1, x^2) dx^1 dx^2 dx^3 \right| \\ & \leq \|w^3(x_1, x_2)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1, x^2})} \int_{x^3 \ge 0} \|w^2(x^1, x^3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x_1})} \|w^1(x^2, x^3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x_2})} dx^3 \\ & \leq \|w^3(x_1, x_2)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1, x^2})} \left\| \|w^1(x^2, x^3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x_2})}^2 \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^3})} \left\| \|w^2(x^1, x^3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1})}^2 \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1, x^2})} \\ & = \|w^1(x_2, x_3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^2, x^3})} \|w^2(x_1, x_3)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1, x^3})} \|w^3(x_1, x_2)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^+_{x^1, x^2})}. \end{split}$$

Then applying (9.5), we find

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3_+} w^1(x^2, x^3) \, w^2(x^1, x^3) \, w^3(x^1, x^2) dx^1 dx^2 dx^3 \right| \\ \leq C \|u^3\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_+)} \|\partial_1 u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_+)} \|\partial_2 u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_+)} \|\partial_3 u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_+)}$$

and combined with (9.6), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{L^{6}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})} &\leq C\left(\|\partial_{1}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})}\|\partial_{2}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})}\|\partial_{3}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})}\right)^{1/3} \\ &\leq C\sum_{a}\|\partial_{a}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}_{+})}.\end{aligned}$$

9.2 A Sobolev inequality on positive cones. II

Next, to any point $x \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$ and any scale $\rho > 0$, we associate the cube

$$C_{\rho,x} := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^3_+ | x^a \le y^a \le x^a + \rho \}.$$
(9.9)

We then establish the following result.

Proposition 9.2. For all sufficiently regular functions u defined on \mathbb{R}^3_+ , one has

$$|u(x)| \le C(\rho) \sum_{|I| \le 2} \|\partial^{I} u\|_{L^{2}(C_{\rho,x})}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^{3}_{+}, \, \rho > 0, \tag{9.10}$$

where $C(\rho) > 0$ is a constant depending upon ρ only.

Proof. Fix a point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$ and consider the cube C_{ρ,x_0} . For all $x \in C_{\rho,x_0}$, we have

$$|u(x_0) - u(x)| \le \int_0^1 |(x - x_0) \cdot \nabla u(x_0 + (x - x_0)t)| \, dt,$$

which leads us to

$$\begin{aligned} \left| u(x_0) - \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} u(x) dx \right| &\leq \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} |u(x) - u(x_0)| dx \\ &\leq \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} \int_0^1 |(x - x_0) \cdot \nabla u(x_0 + (x - x_0)t)| \, dt dx \\ &= \rho^{-3} \int_0^1 \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} |(x - x_0) \cdot \nabla u(x_0 + (x - x_0)t)| \, dt dx \end{aligned}$$

and, therefore,

$$\left| u(x_0) - \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} u(x) dx \right| \le C \rho^{-2} \int_0^1 \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} \left| \nabla u(x_0 + (x - x_0)t) \right| dx \, dt$$

$$= C \rho^{-2} \int_0^1 t^{-3} \int_{C_{t\rho,0}} \left| \nabla u(x_0 + y) \right| dy \, dt.$$
(9.11)

We then observe that

$$\int_{C_{t\rho,0}} |\nabla u(x_0 + y)| dy \le \|\nabla u(x_0 + \cdot)\|_{L^6(C_{t\rho,0})} (t\rho)^{5/2} \le \|\nabla u\|_{L^6(C_{\rho,x_0})} (t\rho)^{5/2}$$

and we write

$$\left| u(x_0) - \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho, x_0}} u(x) dx \right| \le C \rho^{1/2} \| \nabla u \|_{L^6(C_{\rho, x_0})}.$$
(9.12)

In the same manner we obtain

$$\left| u(x_1) - \rho^{-3} \int_{C_{\rho,x_0}} u(x) dx \right| \le C \rho^{1/2} \| \nabla u \|_{L^6(C_{\rho,x_0})}.$$
(9.13)

Combining (9.12) and (9.12), we thus arrive at the inequality:

$$|u(x_0) - u(x_1)| \le C\rho^{1/2} \|\nabla u\|_{L^6(C_{\rho,x_0})}.$$
(9.14)

Next, we introduce a cut-off function χ defined on \mathbb{R} , which is smooth and satisfy $\chi(x) = 0$ for $x \leq 0$ and $\chi(x) = 1$ for $x \geq 1$. We use this cut-off function in order to construct, from the given function u, an auxiliary function v defined by

$$v_{x_0}(x) := \left(1 - \chi(d^{-2}|x - x_0|^2)\right) u(x), \qquad x \in C_{d,x_0}.$$
(9.15)

We also set $x_1 := (x_0^1 + d, x_0^2 + d, x_0^3 + d)$ and then we see that

$$v_{x_0}(x_0) = u(x_0), \qquad v_{x_0}(x_1) = 0$$
(9.16)

as well as

$$|v_{x_0}(x_0) - v_{x_0}(x_1)| \le C(d) \|\nabla v_{x_0}\|_{L^6(C_{d,x_0})}.$$
(9.17)

The function $\partial_{\alpha} v_{x_0}$ is sufficiently regular and by construction is compactly supported in \mathbb{R}^3_+ , thus we conclude that

$$|v_{x_0}(x_0) - v_{x_0}(x_1)| \le C(d) \sum_{1 \le |I| \le 2} \|\partial^I v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_+)}$$

= $C(d) \sum_{1 \le |I| \le 2} \|\partial^I v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(C_{d,x_0})}.$

This establishes the desired result since, in view of (9.15), the norm of v can be bounded by the norm of u, namely

$$\sum_{1 \le |I| \le 2} \|\partial^I v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(C_{d,x_0})} \le C \sum_{|I| \le 2} \|\partial^I u\|_{L^2(C_{d,x_0})}.$$

10 Sobolev inequalities for EHF

10.1 Notation

We introduce the following regions in \mathbb{R}^3 :

$$D_{\rm trs}(s) := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \, / \, |x| \ge -1 + s^2/2 \right\}, D_{\rm ext}(s) := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \, / \, |x| \ge s^2/2 \right\},$$
(10.1)

consider functions defined on $D_{trs}(s)$ or on $D_{ext}(s)$, which are assumed to be sufficiently regular and extendible outside their domain of definition. As usual, such a function u is said to be compactly supported, if there exists a real $R \ge -1 + s^2/2$ or a real $R \ge s^2/2$ such that u vanishes outside the ball $\{|x| > R\}$.

Recall our expressions of the boosts and rotations generated by the vector fields:

$$L_a = x^a \partial_t + t \partial_a, \qquad \Omega_{ab} = x^a \partial_b - x^b \partial_a, \qquad a, b = 1, 2, 3.$$
(10.2)

In the parametrization (s, x^a) of $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0, +\infty)}$ introduced earlier, the associated canonical frame is

$$\partial_s = \frac{\partial t}{\partial s} \partial_t, \qquad \overline{\partial}_a = \partial_a + \frac{\partial t}{\partial x^a} \partial_t.$$

Observe that, in the interior domain $\{r \leq -1 + s^2/2\} \cap \mathcal{M}_{[s_0\infty)}$, one has

$$\overline{\partial}_s = (s/t)\partial_t,$$

$$\overline{\partial}_a = \partial_r t(x^a/t)\partial_t + \partial_a = \frac{x^a}{t}\partial_t + \partial_a.$$
(10.3)

First of all, by combining Propositions 9.1 and 9.2 together, we deduce the following result.

Proposition 10.1. For any sufficiently regular and compactly supported function u defined on $D_{trs}(s)$ or $D_{ext}(s)$, respectively, one has

$$\sup_{D_{trs}(s)} |u| \le C \sum_{|I|\le 2} \|\partial^{I}u\|_{L^{2}(D_{trs}(s))},$$

$$\sup_{D_{ext}(s)} |u| \le C \sum_{|I|\le 2} \|\partial^{I}u\|_{L^{2}(D_{ext}(s))},$$
(10.4)

respectively

10.2 A sup-norm Sobolev estimate

We begin with the following preliminary inequality.

Proposition 10.2. For any sufficiently regular function u defined on $D_{trs}(s)$ or $D_{ext}(s)$, respectively, the following inequalities hold:

$$|u(x)| \leq C(1+|x|^{-1}) \sum_{|I|+|J|\leq 2} \|\partial^{I}\Omega^{J}u\|_{L^{2}(D_{trs}(s))}, \quad |x| \geq -1 + s^{2}/2,$$

$$|u(x)| \leq C(1+|x|^{-1}) \sum_{|I|+|J|\leq 2} \|\partial^{I}\Omega^{J}u\|_{L^{2}(D_{ext}(s))}, \quad |x| \geq s^{2}/2,$$

(10.5)

respectively.

Proof. We only treat the case of $D_{\text{ext}}(s)$, since the case of $D_{\text{trs}}(s)$ is completely analogous. For a point $x_0 \in D_{\text{ext}}(s)$, without loss of generality we can suppose that $x_0 = (r_0, 0, 0)$ (by a rotation). Then we consider the standard spherical coordinates, and we consider the following region:

$$R_{x_0} := \{ r_0 \le r \le r_0 + 1, \ 0 \le \theta \le \pi/6, \ \pi/3 \le \varphi \le \pi/2 \}.$$
(10.6)

Case $r_0 \ge 1$. We focus first on the difficut case $r_0 \ge 1$ and we consider the function

$$v_{x_0}(r,\theta,\varphi) := u(x^1,x^2,x^3)$$

with

$$x^1 = r \sin \varphi \, \cos \theta, \qquad x^2 = r \sin \varphi \, \sin \theta, \qquad x^3 = r \cos \varphi.$$

Observe that

$$\partial_{\theta} = \sin \varphi \,\Omega_{12}, \qquad \partial_{\varphi} = -\sin \varphi \,\Omega_{23} - \cos \theta \,\Omega_{13},$$
$$\partial_{\theta} \partial_{\theta} = \sin^2 \varphi \,\Omega_{12} \Omega_{12},$$
$$\partial_{\theta} \partial_{\varphi} = -\sin^2 \varphi \,\Omega_{12} \Omega_{23} + \sin \theta \cdot \Omega_{13} - \sin \varphi \cos \theta \,\Omega_{12} \Omega_{13},$$
$$\partial_{\varphi} \partial_{\varphi} = \sin^2 \varphi \,\Omega_{23} \Omega_{23} + \sin \varphi \cos \theta \,\Omega_{12} \Omega_{23}$$
$$+ \cos \theta \sin \varphi \,\Omega_{23} \Omega_{13} + \cos^2 \theta \,\Omega_{13} \Omega_{13} - \cos \varphi \,\Omega_{23}.$$

Now we observe the function v_{x_0} taking (r, θ, ϕ) as its variables with $\phi = \pi/2 - \varphi$, is a function defined in the truncated positive cone

$$\{r_0 \le r \le r_0 + 1, \ 0 \le \theta \le \pi/6, \ 0 \le \phi \le \pi/6\}.$$

Thus by Proposition 9.2 we have

$$|u(x_0)| = |v_{x_0}(0)| \le C \sum_{|I| \le 2} \|\partial^I v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(C_{1/2,0})}.$$
(10.7)

And we observe that

$$|\nabla v_{x_0}| \le C \sum_{\alpha} |\partial_{\alpha} u| + C \sum_{a \ne b} |\Omega_{ab} u|$$

and

$$|\partial^{I'} v_{x_0}| \le C \sum_{|I|+|J|\le 2} |\partial^I \Omega^J u|, \qquad |I'| \le 2.$$

On the other hand, we see that for a

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial^{I'} v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_{+,1/2})}^2 &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3_{+,1/2}} |\partial^{I'} v_{x_0}(r,\theta,\phi)|^2 \, dr d\theta d\phi \\ &\leq \sum_{|I|+|J|\leq 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3_{+,1/2}} |\partial^I \Omega^J u|^2 \, dr d\theta d\varphi \\ &\leq C r_0^{-2} \sum_{|I|+|J|\leq 2} \int_{R_{x_0}} |\partial^I \Omega^J u|^2 \, r^2 \sin \varphi dr d\theta d\varphi, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that, in R_{x_0} , $1 \le r/r_0 \le 2$ and that $\sqrt{3}/2 \le \sin \varphi \le 1$. Then we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial^{I'} v_{x_0}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3_{+,1/2})}^2 &\leq C r_0^{-2} \sum_{|I|+|J| \leq 2} \|\partial^I \Omega^J u\|_{L^2(R_{x_0})}^2 \\ &\leq C (1+r_0)^{-2} \sum_{|I|+|J| \leq 2} \|\partial^I \Omega^J u\|_{L^2(D_{\text{ext}}(s))}^2. \end{aligned}$$

In combination with (10.7), the desired result is established for $r_0 \ge 1$.

Case $r_0 \leq 1$. This region is treated by a standard Sobolev inequality and details are omitted.

10.3 A Sobolev inequality for the transition and exterior domains

Proposition 10.3 (Global Sobolev inequality for the transition and exterior domains). For all sufficiently regular functions defined on $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$ with $2 \leq s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$, one has
for all $x \in \mathcal{M}_s^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{ext}$

$$|u(x)| \le C(1+r)^{-1} \sum_{|I|+|J|\le 2} \|\overline{\partial}_x^I \Omega^J\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{ext})},$$
(10.8)

and for all $x \in \mathcal{M}_s^{ext}$

$$|u(x)| \le C(1+r)^{-1} \sum_{|I|+|J|\le 2} \|\partial_x^I \Omega^J\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{ext})}.$$
 (10.9)

Here, $\overline{\partial}_x^I$ denotes any |I|-order operator determined from the fields $\{\overline{\partial}_a\}_{a=1,2,3}$, while ∂_x^I denotes any a |I|-order operator determined from the fields $\{\partial_a\}_{a=1,2,3}$.

Proof. We consider the parametrization (s, r) of $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0, +\infty)}$, and recall that on $\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}}$, s is constant and t = T(s, r), $-1 + s^2/2 \leq r$. We consider the restriction of u on $\mathcal{M}_s^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}_s^{\text{ext}}$, that is, the function

$$v_s(x) = u(T(s,r),x)$$
 (10.10)

and we remark the relations

$$\partial_a v_s = \overline{\partial}_a u = (x^a/r) \frac{\partial t}{\partial r} \partial_t u + \partial_a u = \frac{\xi_s(r)x^a}{t} \partial_t u + \partial_a u,$$

$$\partial_b \partial_a v_s = \overline{\partial}_b \overline{\partial}_a u,$$

$$\Omega_{ab} v_s = (x^a \partial_b - x^b \partial_a) u = \Omega_{ab} u.$$
(10.11)

Now we apply Proposition 10.2 on v_s , and we see that (10.8) is established, while (10.9) is established in the same manner.

10.4 A Sobolev inequality for the interior domain

Proposition 10.4 (Global Sobolev inequality for interior domain). For all sufficiently regular functions defined in a neighborhood of the hypersurface \mathcal{M}_s^{int} , the following estimate holds

$$t^{3/2} |u(x)| \le \sum_{|J|\le 2} \|L^J u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{M}_s^{int})}, \qquad x \in \mathcal{M}_s^{int}$$
(10.12)

for some uniform constant C > 0.

Proof. We consider the restriction of the function u on the hyperboloid \mathcal{H}_s with $|x| \leq -1 + s^2/2$:

$$v_s(x) := u(\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}, x).$$

Then we see that

$$\partial_a v_s = \overline{\partial}_a u = t^{-1} L_a u = (s^2 + r^2)^{-1/2} L_a u.$$

Take a $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}_s$, with out loss of generality, we can suppose that $x_0 = -3^{-1/2}(r_0, r_0, r_0)$. We consider the positive cone $C_{s/2,x_0} \subset \{|x| \leq -1 + s^2/2\}$. (Recall that $s \geq 2$ is assumed throughout.)

In this cone we introduce the following change of variable:

$$y^a := s^{-1}(x^a - x_0^a).$$

and we define

$$w_{s,x_0}(y) := v_s(sy + x_0), \quad y \in C_{1/2,0}.$$
 (10.13)

Therefore, we obtain

$$\partial_a w_{s,x_0} = s \partial_a v_s = \frac{s}{\sqrt{s^2 + r^2}} L_a u,$$

$$\partial_b \partial_a w_{s,x_0} = \frac{s^2}{s^2 + r^2} L_b L_a u - s^2 x^b (s^2 + r^2)^{-3/2} L_a u.$$
(10.14)

Thus, for $|I| \leq 2$, we obtain

$$|\partial^I w_{s,x_0}| \le C \sum_{|J| \le 2} |L^J u|$$

Then by Proposition 9.2, we see that

$$|w_{s,x_0}(0)|^2 \le C \sum_{|I|\le 2} \int_{C_{1/2,0}} |\partial^I w_{s,x_0}|^2 dy = Cs^{-3} \sum_{|J|\le 2} \int_{C_{1/2,0}} |L^J u|^2 dx,$$

which leads to

$$|u(x_0)| \le Cs^{-3/2} ||L^J u||_{L^2(\mathcal{H}_s)}.$$
(10.15)

On the other hand, when $r_0 \ge 1$, we consider the cone $C_{r_0/2,x_0}$ and we introduce the function

$$w_{x_0}(y) := v_s(r_0y + x_0), \quad y \in C_{1/2,0}.$$

It is clear that

$$\partial_a w_{x_0} = \frac{r_0}{\sqrt{r^2 + s^2}} L_a u \tag{10.16}$$

and

$$\partial_b \partial_a w_{x_0} = \frac{r_0^2}{r^2 + s^2} L_b L_a u - r_0^2 x^b (s^2 + r^2)^{-3/2} L_a u.$$

In the cube $C_{r_0/2,x_0}$ one has $r \ge \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}r_0$. Thus for $|I| \le 2$ we find

$$|\partial^I w_{x_0}| \le \sum_{|J| \le 2} |L^J u|.$$

Then by Proposition 9.2, we have

$$\begin{aligned} u(x_0)|^2 &= |w_{x_0}(0)|^2 \le C \sum_{|J| \le 2} \int_{C_{1/2,0}} |\partial^I w_{x_0}|^2 dy \\ &= C r_0^{-3} \sum_{|J| \le 2} \int_{C_{1/2,0}} |L^J u|^2 dx, \end{aligned}$$

which leads us to

$$|u(x_0)| \le Cr_0^{-3/2} \sum_{|J| \le 2} \|L^J u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{H}_s)}.$$
(10.17)

When $r_0 \leq 1$, we have $\sqrt{s^2 + r_0^2} \leq 2s$, thus it remains to combine (10.16) with (10.17) and the desired result is proved.

11 Commutators in the interior domain. A summary

11.1 Objective

An essential role will be played by the commutators [X, Y]u := X(Yu) - Y(Xu)of certain operators X, Y, applied to function u and associated with the Euclidianhyperboloidal foliation and the wave operators. We therefore present here various results concerning such commutators, by distinguishing between the exterior and interior domains. Considering commutators involving the translations, Lorentz boosts, and hyperboloidal frame vectors, we will begin by deriving the estimates in \mathcal{M}^{int} , since this is comparatively easier and, in order to derive suitably uniform bounds, we will rely on homogeneity arguments and on the observation that all the coefficients in the following decomposition are smooth in \mathcal{M}^{int} . On the other hand, dealing with \mathcal{M}^{ext} is more involved and require to introduce suitable weights, as we discuss below.

First of all, all admissible vector fields ∂_{α} , L_a under consideration are Killing fields for the flat wave operator \Box , so that the following commutation relations hold:

$$[\partial_{\alpha}, \Box] = 0, \qquad [L_a, \Box] = 0. \tag{11.1}$$

11.2 Commutators for vector fields in the interior domain

We find it convenient to summarize our results in this section first for \mathcal{M}^{int} , before providing a detailed proof covering both the interior and the exterior domains in the next section. All the estimates this section are restricted to \mathcal{M}^{int} .

We now analyze the relevant commutators of the vector fields under consideration (in the future of the hypersurface \mathcal{H}_{s_0}). On one hand, we need to decompose the differential operators of interest in the frame ∂_t, ∂_a and, on the other hand, we will be using the translations ∂^I and the boosts L_a^J . In any given equation or inequality, the contribution due to the commutators have better decay (compared to the vector fields under consideration): they either involve good derivatives (tangential to the hyperboloids) or contain a weight providing better decay in time.

• Commutators of the semi-hyperboloidal frame:

$$[\partial_t, \underline{\partial}_a] = -\frac{x_a}{t^2} \partial_t, \qquad [\underline{\partial}_a, \underline{\partial}_b] = 0.$$
(11.2)

• Commutators for the boosts and tangent fields:

$$[L^{I}, \underline{\partial}_{b}] = \sum_{|J,K| < |I|} \sigma_{bJ}^{Ia} \underline{\partial}_{a} L^{J}, \qquad \left| \partial^{I_{1}} L^{J_{1}} \sigma_{bJ}^{Ia} \right| \lesssim t^{-|I_{1}|}.$$
(11.3)

• Commutators for the translations and tangent fields:

$$[\partial^{I}, \underline{\partial}_{a}] = t^{-1} \sum_{|J,K| \le |I|} \rho^{I}_{aJ} \partial^{J}, \qquad \left| \partial^{I_{1}} L^{J_{1}} \rho^{I}_{aJ} \right| \lesssim t^{-|I_{1}|}.$$
(11.4)

• Commutators for the translations and boosts:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial^{I}, L_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|J,K| \le |I| \\ \gamma = 0, \dots, 3}} \xi^{I}_{aJ} \partial^{J}, \qquad \xi^{I}_{aJ} \text{ being constant,}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} L^{I}, \partial_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|J,K| < |I| \\ \gamma = 0, \dots, 3}} \theta^{I\gamma}_{\alpha J} \partial_{\gamma} L^{J}, \qquad \theta^{I\gamma}_{\alpha J} \text{ being constant.}$$
(11.5)

• Commutators of the semi-hyperboloidal frame and the admissible fields:

$$\left[\partial^{I}L^{J},\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\right] = \sum_{\substack{|J'| \le |J| \\ |I'| \le |I| \\ \beta = 0,\dots,3}} \underline{\theta}_{\alpha I'J'}^{IJ\beta}\partial_{\beta}\partial^{I'}L^{J'}$$
(11.6)

and

$$\left|\partial^{I_{1}}L^{J_{1}}\underline{\theta}_{\alpha I'J'}^{IJ\beta}\right| \lesssim \begin{cases} t^{-|I_{1}|}, & |J'| < |J|, \\ t^{-|I_{1}|-1}, & |I'| < |I|, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(11.7)

Next from the decompositions above, for the operators $\partial^I L^J$ we deduce that

$$\left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \underline{\partial}_{a} \right] u \right| \lesssim \sum_{\substack{|J'| < |J| \\ |I'| \le |I|}} \sum_{b=1,2,3} \left| \underline{\partial}_{b} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right| + t^{-1} \sum_{\substack{|I| \le |I'| \\ |J,K| \le |J'|}} \left| \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right|,$$

$$\left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \partial_{\alpha} \right] u \right| \lesssim \sum_{\substack{|J'| < |J| \\ \beta = 0, \dots, 3}} \left| \partial_{\beta} \partial^{I} L^{J'} u \right|,$$

$$(11.8)$$

and

$$\left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \underline{\partial}_{\alpha} \right] u \right| \lesssim t^{-1} \sum_{\substack{|I'| < |I| \\ |J'| \le |J|}} \sum_{\beta = 0, \dots, 3} \left| \partial_{\beta} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right| + \sum_{\substack{|I'| \le |I| \\ |J'| < |J|}} \sum_{\beta = 0, \dots, 3} \left| \partial_{\beta} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right|.$$
(11.10)

Observe again that the terms in the right-hand sides contain either fewer derivatives in L or a favorable factor 1/t.

11.3 Commutators and estimates for second-order operators

Similarly, still in the interior region, for the second-order operators $\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}$ and $\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{\partial}_{\beta}$, we find

$$\left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} \right] u \right| \lesssim \sum_{\substack{|I| \le |I'| \\ |J'| < |I|}} \sum_{\gamma, \gamma' = 0, \dots, 3} \left| \partial_{\gamma} \partial_{\gamma'} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right|$$
(11.11)

and

$$\begin{split} \left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \underline{\partial}_{a} \underline{\partial}_{\beta} \right] u \right| + \left| \left[\partial^{I} L^{J}, \underline{\partial}_{\alpha} \underline{\partial}_{b} \right] u \right| \\ \lesssim \sum_{\substack{|I'| \le |I| \\ |J'| < |J|}} \sum_{\substack{c=1,2,3 \\ \gamma=0,\dots,3}} \left| \underline{\partial}_{c} \underline{\partial}_{\gamma} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right| + \sum_{\substack{|I'| < |I| \\ |J'| \le |J|}} \sum_{\substack{c=1,2,3 \\ \gamma=0,\dots,3}} t^{-1} \left| \underline{\partial}_{c} \underline{\partial}_{\gamma} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right| \\ + \sum_{\substack{|I'| \le |I| \\ |J'| \le |J|}} \sum_{\substack{\gamma=0,\dots,3}} t^{-1} \left| \partial_{\gamma} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} u \right|. \end{split}$$
(11.12)

We now derive further identities involving the semi-hyperboloidal frame and the boosts. These inequalities allow us to replace tangential derivatives (arising in our decomposition of the wave and Klein-Gordon operators) by Lorentz boosts (arising in our definition of the high-order energy). First of all, since $\underline{\partial}_a = t^{-1}L_a$, we write

$$\partial^{I} L^{J} \underline{\partial}_{a} u = \partial^{I} L^{J} (t^{-1} L_{a} u) = \sum_{I_{1} + I_{2} = I \ J_{1} + J_{2} = J} \partial^{I_{1}} L^{J_{1}} (t^{-1}) \partial^{I_{2}} L^{J_{2}} L_{a} u,$$

therefore we have proven the following.

Lemma 11.1. An expression involving the semi-hyperbloidal derivatives $\underline{\partial}_a$ can be controlled from the boosts and translations, as follows:

$$\left|\partial^{I} L^{J} \underline{\partial}_{a} u\right| \lesssim t^{-1} \sum_{\substack{|I'| \le |I| \\ |J'| \le |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'} L^{J'} L_{a} u\right|.$$
(11.13)

It follows that, with now one tangential derivative and one arbitrary derivative,

$$\left|\partial^{I}L^{J}\underline{\partial}_{\underline{a}}\underline{\partial}_{\nu}u\right| \lesssim t^{-1}\sum_{\substack{|I'| \leq |I| \\ |J'| \leq |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}L_{\underline{a}}\underline{\partial}_{\nu}u\right| = t^{-1}\sum_{\substack{|I'| \leq |I| \\ |J'| \leq |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}L_{\underline{a}}\left(\underline{\Phi}_{\nu}^{\nu'}\partial_{\nu'}u\right)\right|,$$

in which the coefficients $\underline{\Phi}_{\nu}^{\nu'}$ are homogeneous of degree 0, implying the following result.

Lemma 11.2. An expression involving a tangential derivative and a semi-hyperboloidal derivative can be controlled as follows:

$$\left|\partial^{I}L^{J}\underline{\partial}_{a}\underline{\partial}u\right| + \left|\partial^{I}L^{J}\underline{\partial}\underline{\partial}_{a}u\right| \lesssim t^{-1}\sum_{\substack{|I'| \le |I| \\ |J'| \le |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}L_{a}\partial u\right|$$
(11.14)

Finally, with two tangential derivatives, we find

$$\begin{aligned} \partial^{I} L^{J} (\underline{\partial}_{a} \underline{\partial}_{b} u) &= \partial^{I} L^{J} (t^{-1} L_{a} (t^{-1} L_{b}) u) \\ &= \partial^{I} L^{J} (t^{-2} L_{a} L_{b} u) + \partial^{I} L^{J} (t^{-1} L_{a} (t^{-1}) u) \\ &= \sum_{I_{1}+I_{2}=I \atop J_{1}+J_{2}=J} \partial^{I_{1}} L^{J_{1}} (t^{-2}) \partial^{I_{2}} L^{J_{2}} L_{a} L_{b} u + \sum_{I_{1}+I_{2}=I \atop J_{1}+J_{2}=J} \partial^{I_{1}} L^{J_{1}} (t^{-1} L_{a} (t^{-1})) \partial^{I_{2}} L^{J_{2}} L_{b} u, \end{aligned}$$

so that (improving upon (11.14), since we now consider only tangential derivatives) we reach the following conclusion.

Lemma 11.3. An expression involving two tangential derivative can be controlled as follows:

$$\left|\partial^{I}L^{J}(\underline{\partial}_{a}\underline{\partial}_{b}u)\right| \lesssim t^{-2} \sum_{\substack{|I'| \leq |I| \\ |J'| \leq |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}L_{a}L_{b}u\right| + t^{-2} \sum_{\substack{|I'| \leq |I| \\ |J'| \leq |J|}} \left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}L_{b}u\right|.$$
(11.15)

12 A general framework for the commutator estimates on the EHF

12.1 Basic commutation relations and homogeneous functions

We now present a general framework for establishing commutator estimates valid for the Euclidian-hyperboloidal foliation. We point out the following relations:

$$\begin{aligned} [\partial_t, L_b] &= \partial_b, & [\partial_a, L_b] = \delta_{ab} \partial_t, \\ [\partial_t, \Omega_{bc}] &= 0, & [\partial_a, \Omega_{bc}] = \delta_{ab} \partial_c - \delta_{ac} \partial_b, \\ [L_a, \Omega_{bc}] &= \delta_{ab} L_c - \delta_{ac} L_b. \end{aligned}$$
(12.1)

In $\{r < t - 1\} \cap \{t > 1\}$ one has

$$\begin{split} &[(s/t)\partial_t, L_b] = (s/t)\underline{\partial}_b, \\ &[\underline{\partial}_a, L_b] = (x^a/t)\underline{\partial}_b, \\ &[(s/t)\partial_t, \Omega_{bc}] = 0, \\ &[\underline{\partial}_a, \Omega_{bc}] = \delta_{ab}\frac{t-x^b}{t}\underline{\partial}_c - \delta_{ac}\frac{t-x^c}{t}\underline{\partial}_b + \delta_{ac}\frac{(t-x^c)x^b}{t^2} - \delta_{ab}\frac{(t-x^b)x^c}{t^2}\partial_t. \end{split}$$
(12.2)

In $\{r > t/2\} \cap \{t > 1\}$ one has

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{r-t}{r}\partial_t, L_b \end{bmatrix} = \frac{r-t}{r}\widetilde{\partial}_b + \frac{t}{r}\frac{r-t}{r}\partial_t,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\partial}_a, L_b \end{bmatrix} = \frac{x^a}{r}\widetilde{\partial}_b + \left(\delta_{ab} - \frac{x^a x^b}{r^2}\right)\frac{r-t}{r}\partial_t,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{r-t}{r}\partial_t, \Omega_{bc} \end{bmatrix} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\partial}_a, \Omega_{bc} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ca}\widetilde{\partial}_b - \delta_{cb}\widetilde{\partial}_a.$$
(12.3)

For convenience, we introduce the following families of vector fields:

$$\mathcal{T} := \{\partial_{\alpha}\}, \qquad \underline{\mathcal{T}} := \{(s/t)\partial_t, \underline{\partial}_a\}, \qquad \mathcal{T} := \{(r-t)r^{-1}\partial_t, \overline{\partial}_a\}$$
$$\mathcal{T}_x := \{\partial_a\}, \qquad \underline{\mathcal{T}}_x := \{\underline{\partial}_a\}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_x := \{\overline{\partial}_a\}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_x := \{\overline{\partial}_a\},$$
$$\mathcal{L} := \{L_a\}, \qquad \mathcal{R} := \{\Omega_{ab}\}.$$

We also introduce a special class of smooth functions defined in the interior domain $\{t - 1 > r\}$ or in the exterior domain $\{r > t/2\}$.

Definition 12.1 (Homogeneous functions in the exterior domain). A smooth function u defined in the region $\{r > t/2\} \cap \{t > 0\}$ is called homogeneous of degree k in the exterior domain (EH of degree k for short) if u satisfies the following two properties:

$$u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^k u(t, x), \qquad \lambda > 0,$$
$$|\partial^I u(t, \omega)| \le C(I), \qquad \omega \in \mathbb{S}^2, \ 0 < t < 2$$

The set of EH functions of degree k is denoted by EH_k . We also denote by

$$\mathcal{EH}_k := \bigcup_{j \leq k} EH_j.$$

An example of EH functions is given by the functions x^a/r , which are of degree zero.

Definition 12.2 (Homogeneous functions in the interior domain). A smooth function u defined in the region $\{r < t\} \cap \{t > 1\}$ is called homogeneous of degree k in the interior domain (IH of degree k for short) if u satisfies the following two properties:

$$u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^k u(t, x), \qquad \lambda > 0,$$
$$|\partial^I u(2, 2x)| \le C(I), \qquad |x| < 1.$$

The set of IH functions of degree k is denoted by IH_k and one also write

$$\mathfrak{IH}_k := \bigcup_{j \leq k} IH_j.$$

An example of IH functions is the functions x^a/t , which are of degree zero. Then we discuss the relation between homogeneous functions and vector fields.

Lemma 12.3. One has

$$f \in EH_k, \quad A \in \mathscr{L} \cup \mathscr{R}, Af \in EH_k,$$

and

$$f \in IH_k, \quad A \in \mathscr{L} \cup \mathscr{R}, Af \in IH_k.$$

Furthermore, one has

$$f \in EH_k, \quad A \in \mathscr{T} \cup \underline{\mathscr{T}}_x \cup \widetilde{\mathscr{T}}_x, Af \in EH_{k-1},$$

and

$$f \in IH_k, \quad A \in \mathscr{T} \cup \underline{\mathscr{T}}_x \cup \widetilde{\mathscr{T}}_x, Af \in IH_{k-1},$$

Lemma 12.4. Let u be EH of degree k. Then there exists a positive constant C, determined by I, J, K and u such that the following estimate holds in $\{r > t/2\} \cap \{t > 1\}$:

$$|\partial^I \Omega^K L^J u| \le C r^{-|I|}. \tag{12.4}$$

Furthermore, $\partial^I \Omega^K L^J u$ is EH of degree k - |I|.

Proof. Differentiate the following identity

$$u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^k u(t, x),$$

we obtain

$$\partial_{\alpha} u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^{k-1} u(t, x) \tag{12.5}$$

that is, $\partial_{\alpha} u$ is EH of degree k - 1. This fact leads to

$$L_a u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^k L_a u(t, x), \quad \Omega_{ab} u(\lambda t, \lambda x) = \lambda^k \Omega u(t, x).$$
(12.6)

That is, $L_a u$ and Ωu are EH of degree k. Thus it is direct by recurrence that $\partial^I \Omega^K L^J u$ is EH of degree k - |I|.

Now for a EH function u of degree k, we observe that for r > t/2 > 0,

$$u(t,x) = r^k u(t/r, x^a/r)$$

and 0 < t/r < 2, $(x^a/r)_{a=1,2,3} \in \mathbb{S}^2$, thus bounded. So (12.4) is established.

12.2 Decompositions of commutators. I

Definition 12.5. Let D be a region of \mathbb{R}^4 . Suppose that $\mathscr{A} = \{A_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{J}}$ and $\mathscr{B} = \{B_\beta\}_{\beta \in \mathcal{J}}$ be two families of vector field (with $\mathfrak{I}, \mathfrak{J}$ finite sets for index) defined on D:

$$A_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}, \qquad B_{\beta} \in \mathscr{B}, \qquad [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}] = \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} A_{\gamma},$$

in which the coefficients $\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} \in are \ constant$, then one says that $\mathscr{B} \prec \mathscr{A}$.

It is clear that in $D = \mathbb{R}^4$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{L}$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{T}_x$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{T}$ and $\mathscr{L} \prec \mathscr{T}$. Then we have the following result.

Lemma 12.6. Let $A_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}$, B^{J} be a J-th order derivative composed with operators in \mathscr{B} . Suppose that $\mathscr{B} \prec \mathscr{A}$, then

$$[A_{\alpha}, B^J] = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'} A_{\beta} B^{J'},$$

where the coefficients $\Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'}$ are constants.

Proof. This result is proven by induction as follows on |J|. Observe that for |J| = 1 it is guaranteed by the definition (12.9). Now we consider

$$\begin{split} [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}B^{J}] &= [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}]B^{J} + B_{\beta}\left([A_{\alpha}, B^{J}]\right) \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} B_{\beta}\left(\Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J'}\right) \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} \cdot B_{\beta}A_{\gamma}B^{J'} \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} \cdot A_{\gamma}B_{\beta}B^{J'} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} \cdot [B_{\beta}, A_{\gamma}]B^{J'}, \end{split}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$[A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}B^{J}] = \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'} \cdot A_{\gamma}B_{\beta}B^{J'} - \sum_{\substack{\gamma, \delta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\gamma\beta}A_{\delta}B^{J'}.$$

This concludes our proof by induction.

Lemma 12.7. Let A^I , B^J be I-th and J-th order derivatives composed with operators in \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} respectively. Suppose that $\mathscr{B} \prec \mathscr{A}$. Then

$$[A^{I}, B^{J}] = \sum_{\substack{|I'|=|I|\\|J'|<|J|}} \Gamma^{IJ}_{I'J'} A^{I'} B^{J'}, \qquad (12.7)$$

where the coefficients $\Gamma^{IJ}_{I'J'}$ are constants.

Proof. This result is proven by induction as follows on I. The case |I| = 1 is guaranteed by lemma 12.6. Then we consider the following calculation:

$$[A^{I}A_{\alpha}, B^{J}] = A^{I}[A_{\alpha}, B^{J}] + [A^{I}, B^{J}]A_{\alpha} = \sum_{\beta \in \mathfrak{I} \atop |J'| < |J|} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{\beta J} A^{I}A_{\beta}B^{J'} + \sum_{\beta \in \mathfrak{I} \atop |J'| < |J|} \Gamma_{I'J'}^{IJ}A^{I'}B^{J'}A_{\alpha}.$$

For the second term, we find

$$A^{I'}B^{J'}A_{\alpha} = A^{I'}A_{\alpha}B^{J'} - \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J''| < |J'|}} \Gamma^{J'\beta}_{\alpha J''}A^{I'}A_{\beta}B^{J''}.$$

Thus the desired result is established.

Now we recall the relation (12.1) and see that in $D = \mathbb{R}^4$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{L}$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{T}_x$, $\mathscr{R} \prec \mathscr{T}$ and $\mathscr{L} \prec \mathscr{T}$. Then we establish the following relation:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial^{I}, L^{J} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|I'| = |I| \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{IJ}_{12,I'J'} \partial^{I'} L^{J'},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial^{I}, \Omega^{K} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|I'| = |I| \\ |K'| < |K|}} \Gamma^{IK}_{13,I'K'} \partial^{I'} \Omega^{K'},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} L^{J}, \Omega^{K} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|J'| = |J| \\ |K'| < |K|}} \Gamma^{JK}_{23,J'K'} L^{J'} \Omega^{K'}.$$
(12.8)

Proposition 12.8. For all multi-indices I, I', J, J' and K, K' and all sufficiently regular functions u defined on \mathbb{R}^4 , one has

$$\partial^{I'} L^{J'} \Omega^{K'} \partial^{I} L^{J} \Omega^{K} u = \sum_{\substack{|I''| = |I'| + |I|, |J''| = |J'| + |J| \\ |K''| \le |K'| + |K|}} \Gamma_{I''J''K''}^{I'JK'IJK} \partial^{I''} L^{J''} \Omega^{K''} u,$$
(12.9)

where the coefficients $\Gamma^{I'J'K'IJK}_{I''J''K''}$ are constants.

Proof. This is established by induction from the previous identity.

12.3 Decomposition of commutators. II

Definition 12.9. Let D be a region of \mathbb{R}^4 . suppose that $\mathscr{A} = \{A_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{I}}$ and $\mathscr{B} = \{B_\beta\}_{\beta \in \mathfrak{J}}$ be two families of vector field (with $\mathfrak{I}, \mathfrak{J}$ finite sets for index) defined on D. Let Hom be a class of smooth functions defined on D. If $f \in Hom$, $B_\beta \in \mathscr{B}$, $B_\beta f \in Hom$ and

$$A_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}, \qquad B_{\beta} \in \mathscr{B}, \quad [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}] = \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} A_{\gamma}.$$

with $\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} \in Hom$, then we say $\mathscr{B} \prec_{Hom} \mathscr{A}$.

Then we derive a general decomposition formula for the commutators.

Lemma 12.10. Let $A_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}$, B^J be a J-th order derivative composed with operators in \mathscr{B} . Suppose that $\mathscr{B} \prec_{Hom} \mathscr{A}$, then one has

$$[A_{\alpha}, B^J] = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'} A_{\beta} B^{J'}, \qquad (12.10)$$

where $\Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'} \in Hom$.

Proof. This result is proven by induction as follows on |J|. Observe that for |J| = 1 it is guaranteed by the definition (12.9). Now we consider

$$\begin{split} [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}B^{J}] &= [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}]B^{J} + B_{\beta} \left([A_{\alpha}, B^{J}] \right) \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} B_{\beta} \left(\Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J'} \right) \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} B_{\beta} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J'} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} B_{\beta} A_{\gamma} B^{J'} \\ &= \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} B_{\beta} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J'} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B_{\beta} B^{J'} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} [B_{\beta}, A_{\gamma}] B^{J'}, \end{split}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\begin{split} [A_{\alpha}, B_{\beta}B^{J}] &= = \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}A_{\gamma}B^{J} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} B_{\beta}\Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'}A_{\gamma}B^{J'} + \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'}A_{\gamma}B_{\beta}B^{J'} \\ &- \sum_{\substack{\gamma, \delta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\gamma\beta}A_{\delta}B^{J'}. \end{split}$$

Recall that in the above expression, $B_{\beta}\Gamma^{J\gamma}_{\alpha J'} \in \text{Hom}$, and the proof by induction is completed.

Proposition 12.11. Let $A_{\alpha} \in \mathscr{A}$. Suppose that $B^{J} C^{K}$ are |J|-th and |K|-th order derivatives composed with operators in \mathscr{B} and \mathscr{C} respectively. Suppose that $\mathscr{B}, \mathscr{C} \prec_{Hom} \mathscr{A}$, then

$$[A_{\alpha}, B^J C^K] = \sum_{\substack{|J'| \le |J|, |K'| \le |K| \\ |J'| + |K'| < |J| + |K|, \beta \in \mathcal{I}}} \Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'} A_{\beta} B^{J'} C^{K'},$$

where $\Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'} \in Hom$.

Proof. For convenience, we denote by (cf. Lemma 12.10)

$$[A_{\alpha}, B^{J}] = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\beta} A_{\beta} B^{J'}, \quad [A_{\alpha}, C^{K}] = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |K'| < |K|}} \Delta_{\alpha K'}^{K\beta} A_{\beta} B^{C'}$$

with

$$\Gamma^{J\beta}_{\alpha J'}, \, \Delta^{K\beta}_{\alpha K'} \in \mathrm{Hom}.$$

Then we see that

$$\begin{split} [A_{\alpha}, B^{J}C^{K}] &= [A_{\alpha}, B^{J}]C^{K} + B^{J}[A_{\alpha}, C^{K}] \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J'}C^{K} + \sum_{\substack{\delta \in \mathcal{I} \\ |K'| < |K|}} B^{J} \left(\Delta_{\alpha K'}^{K\delta} A_{\delta} C^{K'} \right) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\gamma \in \mathcal{I} \\ |J'| < |J|}} \Gamma_{\alpha J'}^{J\gamma} A_{\gamma} B^{J'}C^{K} + \sum_{\substack{\delta \in \mathcal{I}, J_{1} + J_{2} = J \\ |K'| < |K|}} B^{J_{1}} \Delta_{\alpha K'}^{K\delta} \cdot B^{J_{2}} A_{\delta} C^{K'}. \end{split}$$

We observe that

$$B^{J_2}A_{\delta}C^{K'} = A_{\delta}B^{J_2}C^{K'} - [A_{\delta}, B^{J_2}]C^{K'} = A_{\delta}B^{J_2}C^{K'} - \sum_{\beta \in \mathfrak{I}, |J'_2| < |J_2|} \Gamma^{J_2\beta}_{\delta J'_2}A_{\beta}B^{J_2}C^{K'},$$

and recall that $B^{J_1}\Delta_{\alpha K'}^{K\delta} \in$ Hom. This establishes the desired result.

We take Hom = IH₀, and observe that $f \in \text{Hom}$, $L_a f, \Omega_{ab} f \in \text{Hom}$. Thus we see that $\mathscr{R}, \mathscr{L} \prec_{\text{Hom}} \underline{\mathscr{T}}_x$. Then apply Proposition 12.11 and obtain the following decomposition:

$$\left[\underline{\partial}_{a}, L^{J}\Omega^{K}\right] = \underline{\Gamma}_{aJ'K'}^{JKb} \underline{\partial}_{b} L^{J'}\Omega^{K'}, \qquad (12.11)$$

where $\underline{\Gamma}_{aJ'K'}^{JKb} \underline{\partial}_b L^{J'}$ are IH functions of degree zero.

We take Hom = EH₀, and observe that $f \in \text{Hom}$, $L_a f, \Omega_{ab} f \in \text{Hom}$. Thus we see that $\mathscr{R}, \mathscr{L} \prec_{\text{Hom}} \widetilde{\mathscr{T}}$. Then apply Proposition 12.11 and obtain the following key decompositions:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\partial}_{a}, L^{J}\Omega^{K} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|J'| \le |J|, |K'| \le |K| \\ |J'| + |K'| < |J| + |K|}} \widetilde{\Gamma}_{aJ'K'}^{JK0} \frac{r-t}{r} \partial_{t} \partial^{J'}\Omega^{K'} + \sum_{\substack{b, |J'| \le |J|, |K'| \le |K| \\ |J'| + |K'| < |J| + |K|}} \widetilde{\Gamma}_{aJ'K'}^{JKb} \widetilde{\partial}_{b} L^{J'}\Omega^{K'},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{r-t}{r} \partial_{t}, L^{J}\Omega^{K} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{\substack{|J'| \le |J|, |K'| \le |K| \\ |J'| + |K'| < |J| + |K|}} \widetilde{\Gamma}_{0J'K'}^{JK0} \frac{r-t}{r} \partial_{t} \partial^{J'}\Omega^{K'} + \sum_{\substack{b, |J'| \le |J|, |K'| \le |K| \\ |J'| + |K'| < |J| + |K|}} \widetilde{\Gamma}_{0J'K'}^{JKb} \widetilde{\partial}_{b} L^{J'}\Omega^{K'},$$

$$(12.12)$$

the coefficients $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{JKb}_{\alpha J'K'} \underline{\partial}_b L^{J'}$ begin EH functions of degree zero.

12.4 Decomposition of commutators. III

We first establish the following properties.

Lemma 12.12. For all multi-indices I, J one has

$$\partial^{I} L^{J}(s/t) = \begin{cases} \underline{\Gamma}^{J}(s/t), & |I| = |K| = 0, \\ \sum_{I_{1}+I_{2}\cdots I_{k}=I} (s/t)^{1-2k} \underline{\Gamma}^{I}_{k}, & (12.13) \end{cases}$$

where $\underline{\Gamma}^{J} \in IH_{0}$ and $\Gamma_{k}^{I} \in IH_{-|I|}$.

Lemma 12.13. For all multi-indices I, K one has

$$\partial^{I} \Omega^{K} \frac{r-t}{r} = \begin{cases} 0, & |K| \ge 1, \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}^{I}, & |I| \ge 1, & |K| = 0, \\ \frac{r-t}{r}, & |I| = |K| = 0, \end{cases}$$
(12.14)

where $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{I} \in EH_{-|I|}$.

Lemma 12.14. For all multi-indices I, L, K one has

$$\partial_x^I \Omega^K (1+\omega_\gamma) = \begin{cases} 0, & |K| \ge 1, \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}^I_{\omega,\gamma} (1+q)^{\gamma-|I|}, \end{cases}$$
(12.15)

where $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{I}_{\omega,\gamma}$ are smooth functions defined on $\{r \geq t/2\} \cap \{t \geq 1\}$, with all their derivatives bounded.

12.5 Decomposition of commutators. IV

We now focus on the tangent derivatives $\overline{\partial}_a$ on the region \mathcal{M}_s . We recall the parametrization of $\mathcal{M}_{[2,+\infty)}$ by coordinates $(\overline{x}^0, \overline{x}^a)$. We see that

$$[\overline{\partial}_a, \overline{\partial}_b] = 0 \tag{12.16}$$

and

$$[\overline{\partial}_a, \Omega_{bc}] = \delta_{ab} \overline{\partial}_c - \delta_{ac} \overline{\partial}_b.$$
(12.17)

We denote by $\overline{\mathscr{T}}_x = \{\overline{\partial}_a\}_{a=1,2,3}$. The above calculation shows that $\mathscr{R} \prec \overline{\mathscr{T}}_x$. Then by (12.6), in the region $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$:

$$[\overline{\partial}_a, \Omega^K] = \sum_{b, |K'| < |K|} \overline{\Gamma}_{aK'}^{Kb} \overline{\partial}_b \Omega^{K'}, \qquad (12.18)$$

where the coefficients $\overline{\Gamma}_{aK'}^{Kb}$ are constants. We thus see that for a function u defined in $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$, sufficiently regular,

$$\overline{\partial}_x^I \Omega^{K'} \overline{\partial}_a \partial^I L^J \Omega^K u = \overline{\partial}_x^I \overline{\partial}_a \Omega^{K'} \partial^I L^J \Omega^K u - \sum_{b, |K''| < |K'|} \overline{\Gamma}_{aK''}^{K'b} \overline{\partial}_b \overline{\partial}_x^I \Omega^{K''} \partial^I L^J \Omega^K u.$$

Now recall Proposition 12.8, we see that both terms in right-hand-side of the above identity are linear combinations of the following terms with constant coefficients:

$$\overline{\partial}_b \overline{\partial}_x^I \partial^{I''} L^{J''} \Omega^{K''} u, \qquad |I''| = |I|, \quad |J''| = |J|, \quad |K''| \le |K| + 2.$$

Finally, we establish the following estimate.

Proposition 12.15. For all multi-index I with $|I| \leq 2$, the following estimate holds in $\mathcal{M}_{[s_0,s_1]}$

$$|\overline{\partial}_a \overline{\partial}_x^I u| \le C \sum_{\substack{b \\ |I'| \le 2}} |\overline{\partial}_b \partial^{I'} u|.$$
(12.19)

Part V Field equations for self-gravitating matter

13 Nonlinear structure of the field equations in conformal wave gauge

13.1 The wave Klein-Gordon formulation in symbolic notation

Wave-Klein-Gordon system. We will need to establish energy and sup-norm estimates for the Einstein system and its f(R)-generalization. For the latter, we seek for estimates that should be uniform and encompass the whole range $\kappa \in (0, 1]$. Later, we will distinguish between bounds satisfied by the metric, the scalar curvature, and the matter fields and between various orders of differentiation. In order to express such bounds, it is essential to suitably rescale the scalar curvature variable and this motivates us to introduce the notation:

$$\begin{aligned}
\psi^{\sharp} &:= (\rho^{\sharp}, \phi), \qquad \rho^{\sharp} &:= \kappa \rho, \\
\psi^{\flat} &:= (\rho^{\flat}, \phi), \qquad \rho^{\flat} &:= \kappa^{1/2} \rho,
\end{aligned} \tag{13.1}$$

Observe that no rescaling is required on ϕ . Moreover, in view of $\kappa \rho^2 = \rho^{\flat 2}$ and from (1.15) and (4.9), we can write

$$V_{\kappa}(\rho) = \mathcal{O}(\rho^{\flat 2}), \qquad W_{\kappa}(\rho) = \mathcal{O}(\rho^{\flat 2}),$$

$$U(\phi) = \mathcal{O}(\phi^{2}), \qquad (13.2)$$

together with analogous statements for the derivatives of these functions.

We can motivate our choice of scaling above by observing that the energy for the curvature field will take the schematic form

$$(\partial \rho^{\sharp})^2 + (\rho^{\flat})^2, \tag{13.3}$$

that is, does not explicitly involve the parameter κ . Hence, both ρ^{\sharp} and ρ^{\flat} will be uniformly controlled, although at different order of differentiability. However, the function ρ which formally approaches the scalar curvature R as $\kappa \to 0$ will not be controlled at a first stage of our analysis (e.g. in the bootstrap argument presented below) and a specific investigation will be necessary to establish that ρ converges (again with an unavoidable loss of derivatives).

We therefore consider the wave-Klein-Gordon formulation of the f(R)-gravity system in conformal wave coordinates, which was derived in Proposition 4.1. With our notation (13.1), this system reads

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g^{\dagger},\partial g^{\dagger}) + A_{\alpha\beta} + B_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$3\,\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\rho^{\sharp} - \kappa^{-1/2}\rho^{\flat} = -\sigma + W_{\kappa}(\rho) \simeq -\sigma + \mathcal{O}(\rho^{\flat 2}),$$

$$\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger}\phi - U'(\phi) = 2\,g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\rho^{\sharp}\partial_{\beta}\phi.$$
(13.4)

We recall the notation $\widehat{\Box}^{\dagger} = g^{\dagger \mu \nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu}$ for the modified wave operator, while the Ricci nonlinearity $F_{\alpha\beta} = P_{\alpha\beta} + Q_{\alpha\beta}$ will be computed explicitly in Proposition 13.1 below. Since constant coefficients within the nonlinearities are irrelevant for the purpose of establishing global existence, it is convenient to use a symbolic notation and, with obvious convention, in view of (4.8) we express the nonlinearities $A_{\alpha\beta}, B_{\alpha\beta}, \sigma$ arising in (13.4) in the form

$$A_{\alpha\beta} \simeq \partial_{\alpha}\rho^{\sharp}\partial_{\beta}\rho^{\sharp} + V_{\kappa}(\rho)g^{\dagger\alpha\beta} \simeq \partial_{\alpha}\rho^{\sharp}\partial_{\beta}\rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(\rho^{\flat 2})g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$B_{\alpha\beta} \simeq e^{-\rho^{\sharp}}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + U(\phi)e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} \simeq e^{-\rho^{\sharp}}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + \mathcal{O}(\phi)^{2}e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (13.5)$$

$$\sigma \simeq e^{-\rho^{\sharp}}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}}U(\phi) \simeq e^{-\rho^{\sharp}}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}}\mathcal{O}(\phi^{2}).$$

Expression of the Ricci curvature. Before we can proceed with the analysis of the system (13.4)-(13.5), we need to compute the expression of the Ricci curvature nonlinearity $F_{\alpha\beta}$ arising in the metric equation in (13.4). In general coordinates, the

contracted Christoffel symbols read

$$\Gamma^{\dagger\gamma} = g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\dagger\gamma}_{\ \alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}g^{\dagger\gamma\delta} \left(\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}_{\ \beta\delta} + \partial_{\beta}g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\delta} - \partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\beta}\right) = g^{\dagger\gamma\delta}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}_{\ \beta\delta} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}g^{\dagger\gamma\delta}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}_{\ \alpha\beta}$$
(13.6)

and, therefore,

$$\Gamma^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda} = g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\gamma}\Gamma^{\gamma} = g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta}.$$

The Ricci curvature in arbitrary coordinates, that is,

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = \partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\dagger\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\dagger\lambda}_{\beta\lambda} + \Gamma^{\dagger\lambda}_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\dagger\delta}_{\lambda\delta} - \Gamma^{\dagger\lambda}_{\alpha\delta}\Gamma^{\dagger\delta}_{\beta\lambda}, \qquad (13.7)$$

is nox decomposed into several very different contributions. The desired structure will be achieved by working in wave coordinates, which by definition satisfy $\Gamma^{\dagger \alpha} = 0$ but we not assume this in the following statement.

Proposition 13.1 (Expression of the curvature in coordinates). The Ricci curvature of the metric g^{\dagger} admits the following decomposition¹

$$R^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\dagger}{}_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha}\right) + \frac{1}{2}F_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (13.8)$$

where $F_{\alpha\beta} = F_{\alpha\beta}(g^{\dagger}, \partial g^{\dagger}) := P_{\alpha\beta} + Q_{\alpha\beta} + W_{\alpha\beta}$ is a sum of null terms, that is,

$$\begin{split} Q_{\alpha\beta} &:= g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\delta'}g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\lambda} - g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \big(\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\delta'} - \partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\lambda'}\big) \\ &+ g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \big(\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda'\delta'}\big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \big(\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\lambda'}g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\beta}\big) \\ &+ g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \big(\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\alpha} - \partial_{\beta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\delta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda'\delta'}\big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'}g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \big(\partial_{\beta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\lambda'}g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\beta}g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\alpha}\big), \end{split}$$

quasi-null term

$$P_{\alpha\beta} := -\frac{1}{2} g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'} g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_{\alpha} g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\lambda'} \partial_{\beta} g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\delta'} + \frac{1}{4} g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} g^{\dagger\lambda\lambda'} \partial_{\beta} g^{\dagger}{}_{\delta\delta'} \partial_{\alpha} g^{\dagger}{}_{\lambda\lambda'}$$

and a remainder

$$\underline{W_{\alpha\beta}} := g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_{\delta} g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\dagger}_{\delta'} - \Gamma^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \Gamma^{\dagger}_{\beta}$$

¹This decomposition was derived first in [94], while the terminology "quasi-null term" was proposed in [88].

The full derivation of this decomposition is postponed to Section 15.

13.2 Homogeneous functions and nonlinearities of the field equations

Nonlinearities of the field equations. Recall that the notion of "homogeneous function" was introduced in Section 12. The notion above is now applied in order to classify the nonlinearities arising in our system (13.4)-(13.5). Recall our notation

$$h_{\alpha\beta} = g^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} - g_{M,\alpha\beta}, \qquad (13.9)$$

The expressions of interest will be expressed from a limited list of nonlinear terms in $h, \rho^{\sharp}, \rho^{\flat}$, and ϕ . In the interior domain \mathcal{M}^{int} , the coefficient r/t is bounded above (by 1) and t is bounded away from zero.

Definition 13.2. An expression (of derivatives of the metric, curvature, and matter field) is said to be a **bounded linear combination** if it can be expressed as a sum with homogeneous coefficients of degree ≤ 0 .

We are thus able to treat simultaneously the interior and exterior domains by using our global notation. We distinguish between the following classes of linear combinations with homogeneous coefficients of degree ≤ 0 . Except for the last type of terms in our list, all terms are quadratic expressions in h, ρ, ϕ .

It is important to unify our notation and use

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} := \begin{cases} \underline{\partial}_{a} & \text{in the interior } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}, \\ \overline{\partial}_{a} & \text{in the transition and exterior } \mathcal{M}^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}^{\text{ext}}. \end{cases}$$
(13.10)

Another useul notation is obtain by writing an arbitrary combination of Killing fields in the form:

$$Z^{IJK} := \partial^I L^J \Omega^K. \tag{13.11}$$

We also use the notation (for instance)

$$|J,K| := |J| + |K|.$$
(13.12)

Quasi-linear terms.

• Metric-metric interactions¹ $\mathbb{Q}_{hh}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h_{\alpha\beta}, \quad |I_1, I_2| \le p - k, \ |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k, \ |I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p - 1, \\ h_{\alpha'\beta'} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \partial^I L^J h_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \qquad |I, J, K| \le p, \ |J, K| < k. \end{split}$$

• Metric-curvature interactions $\mathbb{Q}_{h\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \rho^{\sharp}, \quad |I_1, I_2| \le p - k, \ |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k, \ |I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p - 1, \\ h_{\alpha'\beta'} \partial_\mu \partial_\nu Z^{IJK} \rho^{\sharp}, \quad |I, J, K| \le p, \ |J, K| < k. \end{split}$$

• Metric-matter interactions $\mathbb{Q}_{h\phi}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} h_{\alpha' \beta'} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi, \quad |I_1, I_2| \leq p - k, \ |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \leq k, \ |I_2, J_2, K_2| \leq p - 1, \\ h_{\alpha' \beta'} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} Z^{IJK} \phi, \qquad \quad |I, J, K| \leq p, \ |J, K| < k. \end{split}$$

• In view of the notation (13.1), we define $\mathbb{Q}_{h\psi^{\sharp}}(p,k) := \mathbb{Q}_{h\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k) \cup \mathbb{Q}_{h\phi}(p,k)$.

Good quasi-linear terms.

• Metric-metric interactions $\mathbb{GQ}_{hh}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1J_1K_1}h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}h_{\alpha\beta}, & |I_1,I_2| \le p-k, \, |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \le k, \, |I_2,J_2,K_2| \le p-1, \\ Z^{I_1J_1K_1}h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}h_{\alpha\beta}, & |I_1,I_2| \le p-k, \, |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \le k, \, |I_2,J_2,K_2| \le p-1, \\ h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{IJK}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}h_{\alpha\beta}, & h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{IJK}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}h_{\alpha\beta}, \quad |I,J,K| \le p, \, |J,K| < k. \end{split}$$

• Metric-curvature interactions $\mathbb{GQ}_{h\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_\mu \rho^{\sharp}, & \quad |I_1, I_2| \leq p-k, \ |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \leq k, \ |I_2, J_2, K_2| \leq p-1, \\ Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_\mu \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_b \rho^{\sharp}, & \quad |I_1, I_2| \leq p-k, \ |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \leq k, \ |I_2, J_2, K_2| \leq p-1, \\ h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{IJK} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_\mu \rho^{\sharp}, & \quad h_{\alpha'\beta'} Z^{IJK} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_\mu \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_b \rho^{\sharp}, \quad |I, J, K| \leq p, \ |J, K| < k. \end{split}$$

• Metric-matter interactions $\mathbb{GQ}_{h\phi}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1J_1K_1}h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\phi, & \quad |I_1,I_2| \leq p-k, \ |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \leq k, \ |I_2,J_2,K_2| \leq p-1, \\ Z^{I_1J_1K_1}h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\phi, & \quad |I_1,I_2| \leq p-k, \ |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \leq k, \ |I_2,J_2,K_2| \leq p-1, \\ h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{IJK}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\phi, & \quad h_{\alpha'\beta'}Z^{IJK}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\mu}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\phi, \quad |I,J,K| \leq p, \ |J,K| < k. \end{split}$$

• In view of (13.1), we analogously define $\mathbb{GQ}_{h\psi^{\sharp}}(p,k)$.

 $^{1^{}p}$ is the total number of vector fields while k is the total number of boosts and rotations.

Semi-linear terms.

• Metric-metric interactions $\mathbb{S}_{hh}(p,k)$:

$$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial_{\mu}h_{\alpha\beta}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial_{\nu}h_{\alpha'\beta'}, \qquad |I_1,J_1,K_1,I_2,J_2,K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \le k.$$

• Curvature-curvature interactions of first order $\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\sharp}\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$:

$$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial_{\mu}\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial_{\nu}\rho^{\sharp}, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Curvature-curvature interactions of zero order $\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\flat}\rho^{\flat}}(p,k)$:

$$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\rho^{\flat}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\rho^{\flat}, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Curvature-matter interactions $\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\sharp}\phi}(p,k)$:

$$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial_{\mu}\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial_{\nu}\phi, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Matter-matter interactions $\mathbb{S}_{\phi\phi}(p,k)$ (of zero or first orders):

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial_\mu\phi Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial_\nu\phi, & \quad |I_1,J_1,K_1,I_2,J_2,K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \le k, \\ Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\phi Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\phi, & \quad |I_1,J_1,K_1,I_2,J_2,K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1,K_1,J_2,K_2| \le k. \end{split}$$

• In view of (13.1), we analogously define $\mathbb{S}_{\psi^{\sharp}\psi^{\sharp}}(p,k)$ and $\mathbb{S}_{\psi^{\flat}\psi^{\flat}}(p,k)$.

Good semi-linear terms (including null terms).

• Metric-metric interactions $\mathbb{GS}_{hh}(p,k)$:

 $Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{\alpha\beta}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}h_{\alpha'\beta'}, \qquad |I_{1},J_{1},K_{1},I_{2},J_{2},K_{2}| \leq p, \quad |J_{1},K_{1},J_{2},K_{2}| \leq k,$

and in the interior \mathcal{M}^{int} only:

$$\frac{s^2}{t^2} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\partial}_0 h_{\alpha\beta} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\partial}_0 h_{\alpha'\beta'}, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k,$$

in which we recall that $\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_0 = \partial_t$.

94

• Curvature-curvature interactions of first order $\mathbb{GS}_{\rho^{\sharp}\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$:

 $Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}\rho^{\sharp}, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k,$ and in the interior \mathcal{M}^{int} only:

$$\frac{s^2}{t^2}\partial^{I_1}L^{J_1}\underline{\partial}_0\rho^{\sharp}\partial^{I_1}L^{J_1}\underline{\partial}_0\rho^{\sharp}, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Curvature-matter interactions $\mathbb{GS}_{\rho^{\sharp}\phi}(p,k)$:

$$\begin{split} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \rho^{\sharp} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma} \phi, & |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k, \\ Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \phi Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma} \rho^{\sharp}, & |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k, \\ \text{and in the interior } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}} \text{ only:} \end{split}$$

$$\frac{s^2}{t^2} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\partial}_0 \rho^{\sharp} \partial^{I_1} L^{J_1} \underline{\partial}_0 \phi, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Matter-matter interactions of first order $\mathbb{GS}_{\phi\phi}(p,k)$:

$$Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \phi Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma} \phi, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k,$$

and in the interior \mathcal{M}^{int} only:

$$\frac{s^2}{t^2} Z^{I_1 J_1 K_1} \underline{\partial}_0 \phi Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\partial}_0 \phi, \qquad |I_1, J_1, K_1, I_2, J_2, K_2| \le p, \quad |J_1, K_1, J_2, K_2| \le k.$$

• Moreover, in view of (13.1), we analogously define $\mathbb{GS}_{\psi^{\sharp}\psi^{\sharp}}(p,k)$.

Higher-order terms.

• Change of frame terms $\mathbb{F}(p, k)$, which arise when a second-order derivative is transformed from the canonical frame to the semi-hyperboloidal frame:

$$\frac{1}{t+r}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}h_{\mu\nu}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\partial_{\gamma}h_{\mu'\nu'}, \qquad \frac{1}{(t+r)^{2}}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{I_{2}}L^{J_{2}}h_{\mu'\nu'}, \\
\frac{1}{t+r}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}\partial_{\mu}h_{\alpha\beta}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\partial_{\nu}\rho^{\sharp}, \qquad \frac{1}{t+r}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}\partial_{\mu}h_{\alpha\beta}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\partial_{\nu}\phi, \\
\frac{1}{(t+r)^{2}}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}h_{\mu\nu}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\rho^{\sharp}, \qquad \frac{1}{(t+r)^{2}}Z^{I_{1}J_{1}K_{1}}h_{\mu\nu}Z^{I_{2}J_{2}K_{2}}\phi, \\
|I_{1},I_{2}| \leq p-k, \ |J_{1},K_{1},J_{2},K_{2}| \leq k,$$

and

$$\frac{1}{t+r} \mathbb{S}_{hh}(p,k), \quad \frac{1}{t+r} \mathbb{S}_{\phi\phi}(p,k), \qquad \frac{1}{t+r} \mathbb{S}_{\phi\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k).$$

- Cubic interactions $\mathbb{C}(p, k)$. Such terms enjoy better decay in time and we will not list them in full detail. We only observe that these interaction terms include:
 - cubic (or higher-order) terms in ρ^{\flat} , and
 - cubic (or higher-order) terms in $(h_{\alpha\beta}, \rho^{\sharp}, \phi)$,
 - except cubic (nor higher-order) terms $h_{\alpha\beta}$ (which do not arise).

We have summarized our notation in Table 13.2. Furthermore, when an expression C is decomposed into a sum of terms in the above classes, for instance, in $\mathbb{S}_{hh}(p,k)$ and $\mathbb{F}(p,k)$, we use the **symbolic notation**

$$C \simeq \mathbb{S}_{hh}(p,k) + \mathbb{F}(p,k). \tag{13.13}$$

Quasi-linear	Metric-metric	$\mathbb{Q}_{hh}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\partial h$
-	Metric-curvature	$\mathbb{Q}_{hu/\sharp}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\partial ho^{\sharp}$
	Metric-matter	$\mathbb{Q}_{h\phi}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\partial\phi$
Good quasi-linear	Metric-metric	$\mathbb{GQ}_{hh}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_a\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}h$
	Metric-curvature	$\mathbb{GQ}_{h\psi^{\sharp}}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_a\widetilde{\underline{\partial}} ho^{\sharp}$
	Metric-matter	$\mathbb{GQ}_{h\phi}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}\phi$
Semi-linear	Metric-metric	$\mathbb{S}_{hh}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial h Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial h$
	Curvature-curvature	$\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\sharp}\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\rho^{\sharp}$
		$\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\flat}\rho^{\flat}}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\rho^\flat Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\rho^\flat$
	Curvature-matter	$\mathbb{S}_{\rho^{\sharp}\phi}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\phi$
	Matter-matter	$\mathbb{S}_{\phi\phi}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\partial\phi Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\partial\phi$
			$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\phi\partial^{I_2}L^{J_2}\phi$
			~ ~
Good semi-linear	Metric-metric	$\mathbb{GS}_{hh}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\underline{\partial}_a h Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\partial} h$
			interior only:
			$(s^2/t^2)\partial^{I_1}L^{J_1}\underline{\partial}_0 hZ^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\partial}_0 h$
	Curvature-curvature	$\mathbb{GS}_{\rho^{\sharp}\rho^{\sharp}}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \rho^{\sharp} Z^{I_2J_2K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}} \rho^{\sharp}$
			interior only:
			$(s^2/t^2)\partial^{I_1}L^{J_1}\underline{\partial}_0\rho^{\sharp}\partial^{I_2}L^{J_2}\underline{\partial}_0\rho^{\sharp}$
	Curvature-matter	$\mathbb{GS}_{\rho^{\sharp}\phi}(p,k)$	$\partial^{I_1} L^{J_1} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \rho^{\sharp} Z^{I_2 J_2 K_2} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}} \phi$
			$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_a\phi$
			interior only:
			$(s^2/t^2)Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\underline{\partial}\rho^{\sharp}Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\partial}_a\phi$
	Matter-matter	$\mathbb{GS}_{\phi\phi}(p,k)$	$Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \phi Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}\phi$
			interior only:
			$(s^2/t^2)Z^{I_1J_1K_1}\underline{\partial}_0\phi Z^{I_2J_2K_2}\underline{\partial}_0\phi$

Table: Quasi-linear and semi-linear terms (with the range of indices omitted)

14 The quasi-null structure for the null-hyperboloidal frame

14.1 The nonlinear wave equations for the metric components

We now analyze the metric equations in the frame of interest. Here and in the rest of this Monograph, we rely on a symbolic notation in order to express the nonlinearities arising in the problem and, in particular, we suppress (irrelevant) numerical constants. As already pointed out, the general algebraic structure of the field equations in the interior and exterior domains are the same, except for the weight functions that we take into account in our estimates.

We use the notation $\underline{\tilde{h}}$ to denote either <u>h</u> in the interior domain or $\underline{\tilde{h}}$ in the transition or exterior domains.

Lemma 14.1. In terms of their components in the null-semi-hyperboloidal frame, the field equations of modified gravity take the following form¹

$$\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00} \simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00} + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \right) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,00} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0),$$

$$\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0a} \simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{0a} + \frac{1}{t+r} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}}\right) h_{00} + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \right) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,a0} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0),$$

$$(14.1)$$

$$\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{aa} \simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{aa} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^2}\right) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{(t+r)^2}\right) h_{00} + \frac{1}{t+r} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a h_{0a} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^3}\right) h_{0a} + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \rho^{\sharp} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_a \phi\right) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^2\right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,aa} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0) \qquad (a = 1, 2, 3),$$

$$(14.2)$$

¹It is convenient to keep here the components $h_{\alpha\beta}$ in the right-hand sides.

and

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{ab} &\simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{ab} + + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b} \rho^{\sharp} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b} \phi \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{2}} \right) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b} h_{00} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{t+r} \right) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{0b} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{0a} \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r^{2}}{(t+r)^{4}} \right) h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}} \right) \left(h_{0a} + h_{0b} \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,ab} + \mathbb{C}(0,0) \qquad (a \neq b). \end{split}$$
(14.3)

A similar statement holds for any derivative $\partial^{I} L^{J} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta}$ of the null-semi-hyperboloidal components.

Proof. The general identity

$$\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}}(uv) = u\,\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}}v + v\,\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}}u + 2\,g^{\dagger}{}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}u\partial_{\beta}v$$

allows us to decompose the modified wave operator $\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}}$ in the conformal metric, as follows:

$$\widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{h}_{\alpha\beta} = \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \left(\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'} h_{\alpha'\beta'} \right) = \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} h_{\alpha'\beta'} + h_{\alpha'\beta'} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \left(\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'} \right) + 2 g^{\dagger^{\mu\nu}} \partial_{\mu} \left(\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\Phi}_{\beta}^{\beta'} \right) \partial_{\nu} h_{\alpha'\beta'},$$

in which we are going to use the expressions of the transition matrices in (7.3) and (7.8). In the interior domain, we have

$$\underline{\Phi}_{0}^{0}\underline{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = 1, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\underline{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = x_{a}/t, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{a}\underline{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = 1, \\
\underline{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\underline{\Phi}_{b}^{0} = x_{a}x_{b}/t^{2}, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\underline{\Phi}_{b}^{b} = x_{a}/t, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{a}\underline{\Phi}_{b}^{b} = 1,$$
(14.4)

which are bounded functions in \mathcal{M}^{int} and, more precisely, are coefficients of degree zero. On the other hand, in the transition and exterior domains we have chosen the null frame and we have

$$\widetilde{\Phi}_{0}^{0}\widetilde{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = 1, \qquad \underline{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\widetilde{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = x_{a}/r, \qquad \widetilde{\Phi}_{a}^{a}\widetilde{\Phi}_{0}^{0} = 1,
\widetilde{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\widetilde{\Phi}_{b}^{0} = x_{a}x_{b}/r^{2}, \qquad \widetilde{\Phi}_{a}^{0}\widetilde{\Phi}_{b}^{b} = x_{a}/r, \qquad \widetilde{\Phi}_{a}^{a}\widetilde{\Phi}_{b}^{b} = 1,$$
(14.5)

which also are bounded functions in $\mathcal{M}^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}^{ext}$ and, more precisely, are coefficients of degree zero.

Consider first the component $\underline{\tilde{h}}_{00}$. From the wave-Klein-Gordon system (13.4)-(13.5) and in view of the decomposition of $F_{\alpha\beta}$ given in Proposition 13.1, we find

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00} &= \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00} + \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{0}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{0}^{\beta'} Q_{\alpha'\beta'} + \mathcal{O}(1) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-\rho^{\sharp}} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{O}(1) \rho^{\flat 2} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}} \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{00}^{\dagger} \\ &= \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(1) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-\rho^{\sharp}} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{O}(1) \rho^{\flat 2} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}} \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,00} + \mathbb{C}(0,0), \end{split}$$

in which the contribution of the exponential factors can be absorbed in cubic terms.

We treat similarly, the terms

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underbrace{\widetilde{h}}_{0a} &= \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{0a} + \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{0}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{a}^{\beta'} Q_{\alpha'\beta'} + \mathcal{O}(1) \underbrace{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-\rho^{\sharp}} \underbrace{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{O}(1) \rho^{\flat 2} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}} \phi^{2} \right) \underbrace{\widetilde{g}}_{a0}^{\dagger} + \mathcal{O}(1) \frac{2}{t+r} \underbrace{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} - \mathcal{O}(1) \frac{2x_{a}}{(t+r)^{3}} h_{00} \\ &\simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{0a} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \rho^{\sharp} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \phi \right) \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{O}(1) \rho^{\flat 2} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}} \phi^{2} \right) \underbrace{\widetilde{g}}_{M,a0} + \mathbb{C}(0,0) + \frac{\mathcal{O}(1)}{t+r} \underbrace{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}} \right) h_{00} \end{split}$$

where cubic terms are denoted with the symbolic notation $\mathbb{C}(0,0)$. Next, for any a = 1, 2, 3 we compute

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Box}_{g^{\dagger}} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{aa} &\simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{aa} + \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{a}^{\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{a}^{\beta'} Q_{\alpha'\beta'} + \mathcal{O}(1) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{O}(1) \rho^{\flat 2} + \mathcal{O}(1) e^{-2\rho^{\sharp}} \phi^{2} \right) \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{aa}^{\dagger} \\ &+ \frac{4x_{a}}{(t+r)^{2}} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} + \frac{4}{T} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{0a} - \frac{4x_{a}}{(t+r)^{3}} h_{0a} + \left(\frac{2}{(t+r)^{2}} - \frac{6|x_{a}|^{2}}{(t+r)^{4}} \right) h_{00} \\ &\simeq \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{aa} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0, 0) + \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \rho^{\sharp} + \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \phi \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(1) \left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2} \right) \underline{g}_{M,aa} + \mathbb{C}(0, 0) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{2}} \right) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{00} + \left(\frac{1}{(t+r)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r^{2}}{(t+r)^{4}} \right) \right) h_{00} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{t+r} \right) \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} h_{0a} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}} \right) h_{0a}. \end{split}$$

Finally, for $a \neq b$ we write similarly

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Box}_{g}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{ab} &= \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{ab} + \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{a}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{b}^{\beta'}Q_{\alpha'\beta'} + \mathcal{O}(1)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\rho^{\sharp}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\phi\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\phi \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(1)\left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2}\right)\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{ab}^{\dagger} + \frac{2x}{T^{2}}\left(x_{b}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{00} + x_{a}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}h_{00}\right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(1)\frac{2}{t+r}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{0b} + \frac{2}{t+r}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}h_{0a} \\ &- \frac{6x_{a}x_{b}}{(t+r)^{4}}h_{00} - \frac{2x_{a}}{(t+r)^{3}}h_{0b} - \frac{2x_{b}}{(t+r)^{3}}h_{0a} + \mathbb{C}(0,0) \\ &\simeq \underline{P}_{ab} + +\mathbb{G}\mathbb{S}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(1)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\rho^{\sharp}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\rho^{\sharp} + \mathcal{O}(1)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\phi\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\phi \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{2}}\right)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{2}}\right)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}h_{00} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r^{2}}{(t+r)^{4}}\right)h_{00} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{t+r}\right)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{0b} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}}\right)h_{0b} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{t+r}\right)\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}h_{0a} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{r}{(t+r)^{3}}\right)h_{0a} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(1)\left(\rho^{\flat 2} + \phi^{2}\right)\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,ab} + \mathbb{C}(0,0) \quad (a \neq b). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 14.1.

14.2 Reduction of the expression of quasi-null terms

The quasi-null terms in the Euclidian-semi-hyperboloidal frame are

$$\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{4} g^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha} h_{\gamma\delta} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\beta} h_{\gamma'\delta'} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} g^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha} h_{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\beta} h_{\delta\delta'}.$$
(14.6)

Clearly, the components $\underline{\tilde{P}}_{\alpha\beta}$ (but not the component $\underline{\tilde{P}}_{00}$) are null terms since they involve at least one derivative tangential to the hyperboloids in the interior domain and tangential to the light cone in the transition and exterior domains. Hence, the following statement is immediate.

Lemma 14.2. The (a, β) -components of the quasi-null terms have the property

$$\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\beta} \simeq \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0)$$
(14.7)

and, more generally,

$$\partial^{I} L^{J} \Omega^{K} \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\beta} \simeq \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(p,k) + \mathbb{C}(p,k),$$

$$p = |I| + |J| + |K|, \quad |J| + |K| = k.$$
(14.8)

Consequently, in the equations satisfied by the components $\underline{\tilde{h}}_{a\beta}$ (but excluding $\underline{\tilde{h}}_{00}$), the relevant quasi-null component $\underline{\tilde{P}}_{a\beta}$ are null terms and, consequently, we will be able to establish a good decay estimate for these components. On the other hand, the component $\underline{\tilde{h}}_{00}$, whose evolution equation involves $\underline{\tilde{P}}_{00}$, requires special analysis (based on the next section).

Lemma 14.3. The component $\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00}$ satisfies, up to irrelevant multiplicative coefficients of degree ≤ 0 ,

$$\frac{\widetilde{P}_{00}}{\widetilde{P}_{M}} \simeq \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\delta\delta'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\gamma'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\delta\delta'} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\delta\delta'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'} \\
+ \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{F}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0).$$
(14.9)

Proof. By changes of frame formulas, such as

$$\begin{split} g^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{t}h_{\gamma\delta}\partial_{t}h_{\gamma'\delta'} \\ &= \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma''\delta''}\partial_{t}(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma'''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta}^{\delta'''})\partial_{t}(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta''}^{\delta'''})\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'''\delta'''} \\ &+ \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma'''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta}^{\delta''}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma''\delta''}\partial_{t}(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta''}^{\delta'''})\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'''\delta'''} \\ &+ \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'}\partial_{t}(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma'''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta}^{\delta'''})\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma''\delta'''}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\delta'}^{\delta''}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'''\delta'''}, \end{split}$$

we can put $\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00}$ in the form

$$\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00} = \frac{1}{4} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\gamma'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\delta\delta'} \\
\simeq \frac{1}{4} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\gamma'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\delta\delta'} + \mathbb{F}(0,0).$$

Moreover, modulo cubic terms, the curved metric can be replaced by the flat one, i.e.

$$\frac{1}{4} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\delta\delta'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\dagger\delta\delta'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\gamma'} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\delta\delta'} + \mathbb{F}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0).$$

We again rely on the wave gauge condition and in view of the decomposition (14.9) of $\underline{\tilde{P}}_{00}$ and thanks to Proposition 14.5, we arrive at the following conclusion, which shows that it will remain only to control the term $\partial_t \underline{\tilde{h}}_{a\alpha} \partial_t \underline{\tilde{h}}_{b\beta}$ (and its derivatives $\partial^I L^J$), which is not a null term and will require an improved decay estimate on $\partial \underline{\tilde{h}}_{a\alpha}$.

Proposition 14.4 (Quasi-null interactions in the null-semi-hyperboloidal frame). *The quasi-null terms satisfy*

$$\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00}}{\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\alpha}} \simeq \partial_t \underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{a\alpha}}{\partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{b\beta}} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0) + \mathbb{F}(0,0),
\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\beta}}{\underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\beta}} \simeq \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0) + \mathbb{F}(0,0).$$
(14.10)

More generally, this statement also holds for their derivatives:

$$\partial^{I} L^{J} \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{00} \simeq \partial^{I} L^{J} \left(\partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{a\alpha} \partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{b\beta} \right) + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(p,k) + \mathbb{C}(p,k) + \mathbb{F}(p,k),$$

$$\partial^{I} L^{J} \underline{\widetilde{P}}_{a\beta} \simeq \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(p,k) + \mathbb{C}(p,k) + \mathbb{F}(p,k),$$
(14.11)

with p = |I| and k = |J|, provided $|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}h| + |\partial^{I'}L^{J'}\partial h|$ is sufficiently small for all $|I'| + |J'| \le p + k$.

Proof. Step 1. We first claim that

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{g}^{\dagger\alpha\alpha'}}_{\simeq \widetilde{g}^{\dagger0a}} \underbrace{\widetilde{g}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\alpha'}}_{\partial_{0}} \underbrace{\widetilde{g}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\alpha'}}_{\partial_{0}} \underbrace{\widetilde{g}^{\dagger}_{\beta\beta'}}_{\partial_{0}\underline{g}^{\dagger}_{0}\underline{a}} \underbrace{\widetilde{g}^{\dagger0b}}_{\partial_{0}\underline{g}^{\dagger}_{0}\underline{b}} + \mathbb{GS}_{hh}(0,0) + \mathbb{F}(0,0) + \mathbb{C}(0,0).$$
(14.12)

Indeed, the wave gauge condition

$$g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}h_{\beta\gamma} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\gamma}h_{\alpha\beta}$$
(14.13)

reads, in the null-semi-hyperboloidal frame,

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta\gamma} + \underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'\gamma''} = \frac{1}{2}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'\beta'}.$$

Letting¹ $\gamma = 0$, we find

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta} = 2\,\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{h}_{0\beta} + 2\,\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{0}^{\gamma'}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'\gamma''} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{t}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'\beta'},$$

which we put in the form

$$\begin{split} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta}\partial_{t}\underline{h}_{\alpha\beta} &= 2\,\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta0} + 2\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta0} + 2\,\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{0}^{\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'\gamma''} \\ &- \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{t}\left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\right)\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'\beta'} \\ &+ 2\,\underline{\Phi}_{0}^{\gamma'}h^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\left(\underline{\Psi}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\underline{\Psi}_{\gamma'}^{\gamma''}\right)\underline{h}_{\beta'\gamma''} - \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{t}\left(\underline{\Psi}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'}\underline{\Psi}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\right)\underline{h}_{\alpha'\beta'}. \end{split}$$

¹Observe that, in contrast, γ is replaced by a = 1, 2, 3 in the proof of Proposition 14.5.

In the right-hand side, except for the first term, we have at least quadratic terms or terms containing an extra decay factor such as $\partial_{\alpha} \left(\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'} \underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma''} \right)$. So, in the expression of interest $\underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\alpha'} \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\beta\beta'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\alpha'} \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger}_{\beta\beta'}$, the only term to be treated is

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\beta\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'0}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\beta}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0}.$$
(14.14)

We also emphasize that, provided $|\underline{\tilde{h}}|$ is sufficiently small, $\underline{\tilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta}$ can be expressed as a power series in $\underline{\tilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta}$ (without zero-order terms), which is itself a linear combination of $h_{\alpha\beta}$ (with homogeneous coefficients of degree ≤ 0). So, similarly, $\underline{\tilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta}$ can be expressed as a power series in $h_{\alpha\beta}$.

We deduce that all the terms within the key product $\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\alpha'}\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger\beta\beta'}\partial_t\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\alpha'}\partial_t\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger}_{\beta\beta'}$ belong to $\mathbb{C}(0,0)$ or $\mathbb{F}(0,0)$, with the possible exception of the term

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\beta\beta'}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'0}\underline{\partial}_{\beta}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0}.$$
(14.15)

We therefore focus on this term and write

$$\begin{split} & \left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\alpha\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'0}\right)\left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\beta\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\beta}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0}\right) \\ &= \left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{a\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'0} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{00}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0a'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0a'}\right)\left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{b\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{00}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0b}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0b}\right) \\ &= \left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{a\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha'0} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{00}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00}\right)\left(\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{b\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{00}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0b}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0b}\right) \\ &+ \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0a'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0a'}\left(\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{b\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{b}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\beta'0} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{00}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{00}\right) + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0a'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0a'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0b}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{0b}. \end{split}$$

The last term is already listed in (14.12). The remaining terms are null quadratic terms (recall that $\underline{g}_M^{00} = s^2/T^2$).

Step 2. The term $\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\tilde{g}}^{\dagger\delta\delta'}\partial_t\underline{\tilde{h}}_{\gamma\gamma'}\partial_t\underline{\tilde{h}}_{\delta\delta'}$ being treated in Step 1, it remains to discuss the term

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma\delta}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\gamma'\delta'}.$$
(14.16)

• In the interior domain, we have

$$\left|\partial^{I}L^{J}\underline{g}_{M}^{00}\right| \lesssim \frac{s^{2}}{T^{2}}, \qquad \left|\underline{g}_{M}^{\alpha\beta}\right| \lesssim 1, \qquad \underline{g}_{M}^{00} = \frac{s^{2}}{T^{2}} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}.$$
 (14.17)

- On one hand, by letting $(\gamma, \gamma') = (0, 0)$ or $(\delta, \delta') = (0, 0)$, the corresponding term $\underline{g}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{g}_{M}^{\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{h}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_t \underline{h}_{\gamma'\delta'}$ is a good term, since it contains the favorable factor $(s/t)^2$.
- On the other hand, with $(\gamma, \gamma') \neq (0, 0)$ and $(\delta, \delta') \neq (0, 0)$, we can introduce the notation $(\gamma, \gamma') = (a, \alpha)$ and $(\delta, \delta') = (b, \beta)$, and we conclude that $\underline{g}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'} \underline{g}_{M}^{\delta\delta'} \partial_t \underline{h}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_t \underline{h}_{\gamma'\delta'}$ is a linear combination of $\partial_t \underline{h}_{a\alpha} \partial_t \underline{h}_{b\beta}$ with homogeneous coefficients of degree zero.
- In the transition and exterior domain

$$\partial^{I} L^{J} \widetilde{g}_{M}^{00} = 0 \qquad \left| \underline{g}_{M}^{\alpha\beta} \right| \lesssim 1 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{ext}}.$$
 (14.18)

- On one hand, by letting $(\gamma, \gamma') = (0, 0)$ or $(\delta, \delta') = (0, 0)$, the corresponding term $\widetilde{g}_{M}^{\gamma\gamma'}\widetilde{g}_{M}^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{t}\widetilde{h}_{\gamma\delta}\partial_{t}\widetilde{h}_{\gamma'\delta'}$ vanishes.
- On the other hand, with $(\gamma, \gamma') \neq (0, 0)$ and $(\delta, \delta') \neq (0, 0)$, we can introduce the notation $(\gamma, \gamma') = (a, \alpha)$ and $(\delta, \delta') = (b, \beta)$, and we obtain that $\widetilde{g}_M^{\gamma\gamma'} \widetilde{g}_M^{\delta\delta'} \partial_t \widetilde{h}_{\gamma\delta} \partial_t \widetilde{h}_{\gamma'\delta'}$ is a linear combination of $\partial_t \widetilde{h}_{a\alpha} \partial_t \widetilde{h}_{b\beta}$ with homogeneous coefficients of degree zero.

14.3 The null-semi-hyperboloidal (0,0)-component

Next, we rely on the notation

$$\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} = h^{\alpha'\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}^{\alpha}_{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Psi}}^{\beta}_{\beta'}, \qquad \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta} = h_{\alpha'\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}^{\alpha'}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}^{\beta'}_{\beta}, \qquad (14.19)$$

and

$$h^{\alpha\beta} = g^{\dagger\alpha\beta} - g^{\alpha\beta}_{M}, \qquad h_{\alpha\beta} = g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - g_{M,\alpha\beta}, \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} = \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger\alpha\beta} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\alpha\beta}_{M}, \qquad \underline{\widetilde{h}}_{\alpha\beta} = \underline{\widetilde{g}}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\alpha\beta}.$$
(14.20)

Proposition 14.5. The metric component $\partial_t \underline{\tilde{h}}^{00}$ in the semi-hyperboloidal frame can be decomposed as follows:

$$\partial_{t} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00} \simeq \underline{\widetilde{\partial}} \underline{\widetilde{h}} + \frac{1}{t+r} \underline{\widetilde{h}} + \underline{\widetilde{h}} \partial \underline{\widetilde{h}} + \frac{1}{t+r} h \underline{\widetilde{h}} + \begin{cases} \frac{s^{2}}{t^{2}} \partial \underline{\widetilde{h}} & \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{int}, \\ 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}^{ext}. \end{cases}$$
(14.21)

Proof. The wave gauge condition $g^{\dagger \alpha \beta} \Gamma^{\dagger \gamma}_{\alpha \beta} = 0$ is equivalent to

$$g^{\dagger}{}_{\beta\gamma}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\gamma}g^{\dagger\alpha\beta}$$
(14.22)

and therefore, in the null-semi-hyperboloidal frame, reads

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{\beta\gamma}^{\dagger}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} + g_{\beta'\gamma'}^{\dagger}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\gamma}^{\gamma'}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha'}\big(\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\beta}^{\beta'}\big) = \frac{1}{2}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha'\beta'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\gamma}\big(\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\alpha'}^{\alpha'}\underline{\widetilde{\Phi}}_{\beta'}^{\beta}\big)$$

or, equivalently,

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{g}_{M,\beta\gamma}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\alpha}\widetilde{\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\dagger}_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2}\underbrace{\widetilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}}_{\overline{\alpha}\beta}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}\widetilde{\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2}\underbrace{\widetilde{g}_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}}_{\overline{\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}_{-\widetilde{\underline{D}}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\gamma}}}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{$$

We replace the index γ by a Latin index c = 1, 2, 3 and obtain

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{g}_{M,\beta c}\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{\alpha}\widetilde{\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta}}_{=\frac{1}{2}\underbrace{\widetilde{g}_{M,\alpha\beta}}_{=\underline{0}c}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{c}}_{=\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{h}}_{\alpha\beta}}_{=\underline{0}c}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}_{c}}_{=\underline{h}}^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{h}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'\beta'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\Phi}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\beta'}\right) - \underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{d}}}_{=\underline{0}c}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{\partial}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\widetilde{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{\widetilde{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{0}c}^{\alpha'}\underbrace{\underline{D}}_{=\underline{$$

which is of the form $\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\alpha\beta} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{c} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} + \text{l.o.t.}$, in which l.o.t. are terms of the form given in the right-hand side of (14.21).

The left-hand side of (14.24) admits the following decomposition:

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} = \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,0c} \underline{\partial}_{0} \underline{h}^{00} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,bc} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0} \underline{h}^{0b} + \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c} \underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{a\beta}$$

or, equivalently,

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,0c}\underline{\partial}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00} = \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,bc}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{h}^{0b} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{h}^{a\beta}.$$

After multiplication by $\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0c}$, we obtain the identity:

$$\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0c}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,0c}\underline{\partial}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00} = \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0c}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{\alpha}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0c}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,bc}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{0}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{0b} - \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M}^{0c}\underline{\widetilde{g}}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{a\beta'}.$$
(14.25)

• Next, within the interior domain $\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{int}},$ we have

$$\underline{g}_{M}^{0c} \underline{g}_{M,0c} = (r^2/t^2), \qquad \underline{g}_{M}^{0c} \underline{g}_{M,bc} = -(s/t)^2 (x_b/t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}, \tag{14.26}$$

and we rewrite (14.25) as

$$(r/t)^{2}\underline{\partial}_{0}\underline{h}^{00} = (s/t)^{2}\frac{x_{b}}{t}\underline{\partial}_{0}\underline{h}^{0b} - \underline{g}_{M}^{0c}\underline{g}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\partial}_{a}\underline{h}^{a\beta} + \underline{g}_{M}^{0c}\underline{g}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} \qquad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}.$$

$$(14.27)$$

• Still in the interior domain, by replacing in (14.27) the term $\underline{g}_{M}^{0c}\underline{g}_{M,\beta c}\underline{\partial}_{\alpha}\underline{h}^{\alpha\beta}$ by its expression given by the wave condition (14.24), we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \frac{r^2}{t^2} \underline{\partial}_0 \underline{h}^{00} &= \frac{s^2}{t^2} \frac{x_b}{t} \underline{\partial}_0 \underline{h}^{0b} - \underline{g}_M^{0c} \underline{g}_{M,\beta c} \underline{\partial}_a \underline{h}^{a\beta'} \\ &+ \underline{g}_M^{0c} \Big(\frac{1}{2} \underline{g}_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger} \underline{\partial}_c \underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2} g_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger} \underline{h}^{\alpha'\beta'} \underline{\partial}_c \big(\underline{\Phi}_{\alpha'}^{\alpha} \underline{\Phi}_{\beta'}^{\beta} \big) \\ &- \underline{\widetilde{g}}_{\beta'\gamma'}^{\dagger} \underline{\Phi}_c^{\gamma'} \underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha'} \big(\underline{\Phi}_{\alpha}^{\alpha'} \underline{\Phi}_{\beta}^{\beta'} \big) - \underline{h}_{\beta c} \underline{\partial}_{\alpha} \underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} \Big) \quad \text{ in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}. \end{split}$$

We therefore have (in symbolic notation)

$$\frac{r^2}{t^2}\partial_t\underline{h}^{00} \simeq \frac{s^2}{t^2}\partial_\alpha\underline{h}^{\beta\gamma} + \underline{\partial}_a\underline{h}^{\beta\gamma} + \frac{1}{t}\underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} + \underline{h}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_\gamma\underline{h}^{\alpha'\beta'} + \frac{1}{t}h_{\alpha\beta}\underline{h}^{\alpha'\beta'} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}},$$

and we conclude with $1 = (r/t)^2 + (s/t)^2$ in \mathcal{M}^{int} .

• On the other hand, in the transition and exterior domains, we use the relations

$$\widetilde{g}_M^{0c} \widetilde{g}_{M,0c} = 1, \qquad \widetilde{g}_M^{0c} \widetilde{g}_{M,bc} = 0.$$
(14.28)

We now rewrite (14.25) as

$$\widetilde{\partial}_{0}\widetilde{h}^{00} = -\widetilde{g}_{M}^{0c}\widetilde{g}_{M,\beta c}\widetilde{\partial}_{a}\widetilde{h}^{a\beta} + \widetilde{g}_{M}^{0c}\widetilde{g}_{M,\beta c}\widetilde{\partial}_{\alpha}\widetilde{h}^{\alpha\beta} \qquad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{tran}} \cup \mathcal{M}^{\text{ext}}.$$
(14.29)

We use the short-hand notation $|\underline{\tilde{h}}|, |\partial \underline{\tilde{h}}|, |\underline{\tilde{\partial}}\underline{\tilde{h}}|$ to denote components of the metric, its derivatives, and tangential derivatives, respectively. Recall that within our bootstrap argument, all the component of h and its derivatives are small. The "bad" derivative of $\underline{\tilde{h}}^{00}$ is now shown to be bounded by tangential derivatives or terms with better decay —thanks to the favorable factor s^2/t^2 in the interior. For clarity, in the following statement we distinguish between the interior, transition, and exterior domains.

Corollary 14.6. The following estimate holds:

$$\left|\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00}\right| \lesssim \begin{cases} \frac{s^{2}}{t^{2}}\left|\underline{\partial}\underline{h}\right| + \left|\underline{\partial}\underline{h}\right| + \frac{1}{t}\left|\underline{h}\right| + \left|\underline{\partial}\underline{h}\right| \left|\underline{h}\right| & \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{int}, \\ \\ \left|\overline{\partial}\widetilde{h}\right| + \frac{1}{r}\left|\widetilde{h}\right| + \left|\underline{\partial}\widetilde{h}\right| \left|\widetilde{h}\right| & \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}^{ext}, \end{cases}$$
(14.30)

More generally, one has

$$\begin{split} \left|\partial^{I}L^{J}\partial_{t}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00}\right| + \left|\partial_{t}\partial^{I}L^{J}\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00}\right| \\ \lesssim \sum_{I^{I'}|+|J'| \leq |I|+|J| \atop |J'| \leq |J|} \left(\left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}\underline{\widetilde{h}}\right| + \frac{1}{t+r}\left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}\underline{\widetilde{h}}\right|\right) + \sum_{I^{I}_{j}|+|J_{2}| \leq |J| \atop |J_{1}|+|J_{2}| \leq |J|} \left|\partial^{I_{1}}L^{J_{1}}\underline{\widetilde{h}}\right| \left|\partial\partial^{I_{2}}L^{J_{2}}\underline{\widetilde{h}}\right| \\ + \begin{cases} \sum_{I^{I'}|+|J'| \leq |I|+|J| \atop |J'| \leq |J|} \frac{s^{2}}{t^{2}}\left|\partial\partial^{I'}L^{J'}\underline{\widetilde{h}}\right|, & in \mathcal{M}^{int}, \\ 0, & in \mathcal{M}^{tran} \cup \mathcal{M}^{ext}. \end{cases}$$
(14.31)

Proof. By Proposition 14.5, the expression $\partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00}$ is a linear combination of the terms in (14.21) with homogeneous coefficients of degree ≤ 0 . Hence, $\partial^I L^J \partial_t \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{00}$ is again a linear combination with coefficients of degree $\leq |I|$ of:

$$\partial^{I'} L^{J'} \left((s/t)^2 \partial_{\alpha} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\beta\gamma} \right) \quad \text{in the interior) only,}) \\ \partial^{I'} L^{J'} \left(\underline{\widetilde{\partial}}_{a} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\beta\gamma} \right), \qquad \frac{1}{t+r} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} \left(\underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha\beta} \right), \\ \partial^{I'} L^{J'} \left(\underline{h}^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\gamma} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha'\beta'} \right), \\ \frac{1}{t+r} \partial^{I'} L^{J'} \left(h_{\alpha\beta} \underline{\widetilde{h}}^{\alpha'\beta'} \right)$$

with $|I'| \leq |I|$ and $|J'| \leq |J|$. We observe that

$$\left|\partial^{I'}L^{J'}\left(\frac{s^2}{t^2}\partial_{\alpha}\underline{h}^{\beta\gamma}\right)\right| \lesssim \frac{s^2}{t^2} \sum_{\substack{|I''| \le |I'| \\ |J''| \le |J'|}} |\partial^{I''}L^{J''}\left(\partial_{\alpha}\underline{h}^{\beta\gamma}\right)| \quad \text{in } \mathcal{M}^{\text{int}}.$$

These terms are bounded by the commutator estimates in Sections 11 and 12 and we thus control $\partial^I L^J \partial_t \tilde{\underline{h}}^{00}$. The statement for $\partial_t \partial^I L^J \tilde{\underline{h}}^{00}$ similarly follows from the commutator estimates.

15 Ricci curvature in conformal wave coordinates

15.1 Expression of the curvature

We give here a proof of Proposition 13.1. For simplicity, we write g, Γ, \ldots instead of $g^{\dagger}, \Gamma^{\dagger}, \ldots$ throughout this proof. Consider the first two terms in the expression of the
Ricci curvature $R_{\alpha\beta}$, which involve second-order derivatives of the metric. Writing

$$\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} + \partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} - \partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta})$$

and

$$\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta},$$

we obtain the identity

$$\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta}.$$
(15.1)

The first line contains second-order terms while the second line contains quadratic products of first-order terms.

15.2 Higher-order contributions

On the other hand, let us compute the combination $\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha}$ which appears in our decomposition. We obtain

$$\Gamma^{\gamma} = g^{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}g^{\gamma\delta} \big(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} + \partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} - \partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}\big)$$
$$= g^{\gamma\delta}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}g^{\gamma\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}$$

and therefore

$$\Gamma_{\lambda} = g_{\lambda\gamma}\Gamma^{\gamma} = g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\beta},$$

so that

$$\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} = \partial_{\alpha} \left(g^{\delta\lambda} \partial_{\delta} g_{\lambda\beta} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\alpha} \left(g^{\lambda\delta} \partial_{\beta} g_{\lambda\delta} \right) \\ = g^{\delta\lambda} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\delta} g_{\lambda\beta} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\delta} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} g_{\lambda\delta} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\alpha} g^{\lambda\delta} \partial_{\beta} g_{\lambda\delta} + \partial_{\alpha} g^{\delta\lambda} \partial_{\delta} g_{\lambda\beta}.$$

We have obtained the identity

$$\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha} = g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\beta} + g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\alpha} - g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta} + \partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} + \partial_{\beta}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\beta}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\delta} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta}.$$
(15.2)

Next, observe that the last term of (15.2) coincides with the last term of (15.1). The second-order terms in $\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha}$ are three of the (four) second-order terms that arise in $\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda}$. Hence, we find

$$\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\beta}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta} + \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\beta}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\delta},$$

therefore, using also the relation

$$\partial_{\alpha}g^{\lambda\delta} = -g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'},$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda} &= -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}g^{\lambda\delta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha}\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} \\ &- \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\delta}. \end{aligned}$$

Remarkably, the two underlined terms cancel each other, and the quadratic terms in $\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\beta\lambda}$ are the following ones:

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}, \quad -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta}, \quad -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta}, \\ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta}, \quad \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha}.$$
(15.3)

15.3 Quadratic contributions

Returning now to the expression of the Ricci curvature, we can consider the two products

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\lambda\delta} &= \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'} \left(\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\lambda'} + \partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\delta'}\right),\\ \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\delta}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\beta\lambda} &= \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'} \left(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta'} + \partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\lambda'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\beta\lambda} + \partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta'} + \partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} - \partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\beta\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\delta}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta'} - \partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\delta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} + \partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\delta}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\beta\lambda} \right) \end{split}$$

and we arrive at

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\lambda\delta} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\delta}\Gamma^{\delta}_{\beta\lambda} = -\frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\delta'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\beta\lambda} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\alpha\delta}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} \\
- \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda'} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}.$$
(15.4)

The first three terms in the right-hand side are null terms, but the fourth term fails to be a null term and is included as a quasi-null term. The two underlined terms will cancel out with the two underlined terms in the equation (15.7), which we derive below. Hence, only the last term still remains to be considered.

We can therefore now focus on the following six terms:

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta}, \qquad -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta}, \\
\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta}, \qquad \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha}, \qquad -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}.$$
(15.5)

The identities

$$g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma_{\delta}, \qquad g_{\beta\delta}\partial_{\alpha}g^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\delta}g^{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma_{\delta}, \tag{15.6}$$

allow us to decompose the first three terms in (15.5) as follows:

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma_{\delta'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\lambda\lambda'} -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta}\Gamma_{\delta'} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\beta\delta} -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta}\Gamma_{\delta'} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\alpha\delta}.$$
(15.7)

In the first line, the last term is exactly one of our quasi-null terms stated. The two underlined terms cancel out with the two underlined terms in (15.4), as we explained earlier.

Next, we treat the fourth term in (15.5) by writing

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta}
= \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\right) + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}
= \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\right) + \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\Gamma_{\lambda'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'},$$

therefore

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta}
= \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}) + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\beta})
+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\Gamma_{\lambda'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\beta},$$

and so

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta}
= \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}) + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\beta})
+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\Gamma_{\lambda'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\Gamma_{\beta} + \frac{1}{8}g^{\delta\delta'}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\lambda'}.$$

For the fifth term in the expression (15.5), we have

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha}
= \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}) + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\alpha})
+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\alpha}\Gamma_{\lambda'} + \frac{1}{4}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\Gamma_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{8}g^{\delta\delta'}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\lambda'}.$$

Finally, we deal with the last term in (15.5) by writing

$$-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}$$

$$=-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}-\partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\right)-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}$$

$$=-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}-\partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\right)-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\Gamma_{\beta}-\frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}$$

therefore

$$-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} - \partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\right) - \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\Gamma_{\beta} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\Gamma_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{8}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'},$$

and so

$$-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}$$

$$=-\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\left(\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'}-\partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\right)-\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta}-\frac{1}{4}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\Gamma_{\beta}-\frac{1}{4}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\Gamma_{\alpha}$$

$$-\frac{1}{8}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}.$$

15.4 Concluding the calculation

In conclusion, the quadratic nonlinearities in the expression of the Ricci curvature $R_{\alpha\beta}$ are

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\delta'}g_{\beta\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\lambda'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\beta\delta'} - \partial_{\delta}g_{\beta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda}g_{\alpha\lambda'}) \\
+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\beta} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}) + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\beta}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\beta}) \\
+ \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\delta}g_{\lambda'\delta'}) + \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}(\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\alpha}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\delta\delta'} - \partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\lambda'}g_{\lambda\alpha}) \\
- \frac{1}{4}g^{\lambda\lambda'}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\delta\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\lambda\delta'} + \frac{1}{8}g^{\delta\delta'}g^{\lambda\lambda'}\partial_{\beta}g_{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\alpha}g_{\lambda\lambda'} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\delta\delta'}\partial_{\delta}g_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma_{\delta'} - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta}.$$

This completes the proof of Proposition 13.1.

References

- [1] S. ALINHAC, An example of blowup at infinity for a quasi-linear wave equation, Astérisque 284 (2003), 1–91.
- [2] S. ALINHAC, Remarks on energy inequalities for wave and Maxwell equations on a curved background, Math. Ann. 329 (2004), 707–722.
- [3] S. ALINHAC, Semilinear hyperbolic systems with blowup at infinity, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 55 (2006), 1209–1232.
- [4] H. ANDRÉASSON, The Einstein-Vlasov system. Kinetic theory, Living Reviews in Relativity 14 (2011). doi:10.12942/lrr-2011-4.
- [5] M. ANSORG AND R.P. MACEDO, Spectral decomposition of black-hole perturbations on hyperboloidal slices, Physical Rev. D 93 (2016), 124016.
- [6] S. ASAKURA, Existence of a global solution to a semi-linear wave equation with slowly decreasing initial data in three space dimensions, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 11 (1986), 1459–1487.
- [7] R.A. ASANOV, The Schwarzschild metric and de Donder condition, Gen. Relat. Grav. 21 (1989), 149–154.
- [8] A. BACHELOT, Problème de Cauchy global pour des systèmes de Dirac-Klein-Gordon, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré 48 (1988), 387–422.
- [9] A. BACHELOT, Asymptotic completeness for the Klein-Gordon equation on the Schwarzschild metric, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré: Phys. Théor. 61 (1994), 411–441.
- [10] A. BACHELOT, The Klein-Gordon equation in the anti-de Sitter cosmology, J. Math. Pures Appl. 96 (2011), 527–554.
- [11] H. BAHOURI AND J.-Y. CHEMIN, Équations d'ondes quasilinéaires et inégalités de Strichartz, Amer. J. of Math. 121 (1999), 1337–1377.

- [12] H. BAHOURI, J.-Y. CHEMIN, AND R. DANCHIN, Fourier analysis and nonlinear partial differential equations, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Vol. 343, Springer–Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [13] N. BEDJAOUI, P.G. LEFLOCH, J. MARTIN-GARCIA, AND J. NOVAK, Existence of naked singularities for the Brans-Dicke theory. An analytical and numerical study, Class. Quantum Gravity 27 (2010), 245010.
- [14] F. BERNICOT AND P. GERMAIN, Bilinear dispersive estimates via space-time resonances: dimensions two and three, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 214 (2014), 617–669.
- [15] L. BIERI AND N. ZIPSER, Extensions of the stability theorem of the Minkowski space in general relativity, AMS/IP Studies Adv. Math. 45. Amer. Math. Soc., International Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [16] P. BIZON, Is AdS stable?, Gen. Relativity Grav. 46 (2014), 1724.
- [17] P. BIZON, M. MALIBORSKI, AND A. ROSTWOROWSKI, Resonant dynamics and the instability of Antide Sitter spacetime, Phys. Review Letters 115 (2015), 081103.
- [18] P. BIZON AND A. ROSTWOROWSKI, Weakly turbulent instability of Anti-de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011), 031102.
- [19] C. BRANS AND R.H. DICKE, Mach principle and a relativistic theory of gravitation, Phys. Rev. 124 (1961), 925–935.
- [20] F. BRISCESE, E. ELIZALDE, S. NOJIRI, AND S.D. ODINTSOV, Phantom scalar dark energy as modified gravity: Understanding the origin of the Big Rip singularity, Phys. Lett. B 646 (2007), 105–111.
- [21] H.A. BUCHDAHL, Non-linear Lagrangians and cosmological theory, Monthly Notices Royal Astr. Soc. 150 (1970), 1–8.
- [22] A.Y. BURTSCHER AND R. DONNINGER, Hyperboloidal evolution and global dynamics for the focusing cubic wave equation, Comm. Math. Phys. 353 (2017), 549–596.

- [23] T. CANDY, Bilinear estimates and applications to global well-posedness for the Dirac-Klein-Gordon equation on ℝ¹⁺¹, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 10 (2013), 1–35.
- [24] T. CANDY AND H. LINDBLAD, Long range scattering for the cubic Dirac equation on R¹⁺¹, Preprint arXiv:1606.08397.
- [25] S. CAPOZZIELLO, S. NOJIRI, AND S.D. ODINTSOV, Dark Energy: the equation of state description versus scalar-tensor or modified gravity, Phys. Lett. B 634 (2006), 93–100.
- [26] S. CAPOZZIELLO, S. NOJIRI, S.D. ODINTSOV, AND A. TROISI, Cosmological viability of f(R)-gravity as an ideal fluid and its compatibility with a matter dominated phase, Phys. Lett. B 639 (2006), 135–143.
- [27] S. CAPOZZIELLO AND S. VIGNOLO, The Cauchy problem for metric-affine f(R)-gravity in the presence of perfect-fluid matter, Class. Quantum Grav. 26, 175013.
- [28] A. CARLOTTO AND R. SCHOEN, Localizing solutions of the Einstein constraint equations, Invent. Math. 205 (2016), 559–615.
- [29] Y. CHOQUET-BRUHAT AND R. GEROCH, Global aspects of the Cauchy problem in general relativity, Comm. Math. Phys. 14 (1969), 329–335.
- [30] Y. CHOQUET-BRUHAT, General relativity and the Einstein equations, Oxford Math. Monograph, Oxford Univ. Press, 2009
- [31] D. CHRISTODOULOU, Global solutions of nonlinear hyperbolic equations for small initial data, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 39 (1986), 267–282.
- [32] D. CHRISTODOULOU, The formation of black holes in general relativity, Eur. Math. Soc. (EMS) series, Zürich, 2008.
- [33] D. CHRISTODOULOU AND S. KLAINERMAN, The global nonlinear stability of the Minkowski space, Princeton Math. Ser. 41, 1993.
- [34] J. CORVINO AND R. SCHOEN, On the asymptotics for the vacuum Einstein constraint equations, J. Diff. Geom. 73 (2006), 185–217.

- [35] M. DAFERMOS AND G. HOLZEGEL, Dynamic instability of solitons in (4+1)dimensional gravity with negative cosmological constant, 2006. See https://www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/~md384/ADSinstability.pdf.
- [36] M. DAFERMOS AND G. HOLZEGEL, M. Dafermos and G. Holzegel. On the nonlinear stability of triaxial Bianchi IX black holes, Adv. Theo. Math. Phys. 10 (2006), 503–523.
- [37] J.-M. DELORT, Existence globale et comportement asymptotique pour l'équation de Klein-Gordon quasi-linéaire à données petites en dimension 1, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 34 (2001), 1–61.
- [38] J.-M. DELORT AND D. FANG, Almost global existence for solutions of semilinear Klein-Gordon equations with small weakly decaying Cauchy data, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 25 (2000), 2119–2169.
- [39] S. DONG AND P.G. LEFLOCH, The infinite mass problem, Preprint Arxiv 2017, submitted for publication.
- [40] R. DONNINGER AND A. ZENGINOGLU, Nondispersive decay for the cubic wave equation, Anal. PDE 7 (2014), 461–495.
- [41] D. FAJMAN, J. JOUDIOUX, AND J. SMULEVICI, A vector field method for relativistic transport equations with applications, Analysis & PDE (2017), to appear. See also arXiv:1510.04939.
- [42] D. FAJMAN, J. JOUDIOUX, AND J. SMULEVICI, Sharp asymptotics for small data solutions of the Vlasov-Nordstrm system in three dimensions, Preprint arXiv:1704.05353.
- [43] D. FAJMAN, J. JOUDIOUX, AND J. SMULEVICI, The stability of the Minkowski space for the Einstein-Vlasov system, Preprint arXiv:1707.06141.
- [44] Y. FOURÉS-BRUHAT, Théorèmes d'existence pour certains systèmes d'équations aux dérivées partielles non-linéaires, Acta Mathematica 88 (1952), 42–225.

- [45] J. FRAUENDIENER, Numerical treatment of the hyperboloidal initial value problem for the vacuum Einstein equations. II. The evolution equations, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998), 064003.
- [46] J. FRAUENDIENER, Conformal infinity, Living Rev. Relativity 7, 2004.
- [47] J. FRAUENDIENER AND M. HEIN, Numerical evolution of axisymmetric, isolated systems in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002), 124004.
- [48] R. FRIEDBERG, T. D. LEE, AND Y. PANG, Scalar soliton stars and black holes, Phys. Rev. D 35 (1987), 3658.
- [49] H. FRIEDRICH, On the regular and the asymptotic characteristic initial value problem for Einstein's vacuum field equations, Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. A 375 (1981), 169–184.
- [50] H. FRIEDRICH, Cauchy problems for the conformal vacuum field equations in general relativity, Commun. Math. Phys. 91 (1983), 445–472.
- [51] H. FRIEDRICH, Conformal Einstein evolution, Lect. Notes Phys. 604 (2002), 1–50.
- [52] R. GARCÍA-SALCEDO, R. GONZALEZ, C. MORENO, Y. NAPOLES, Y. LEYVA, AND I. QUIROS, Asymptotic properties of a supposedly regular (Dirac-Born-Infeld) modification of general relativity, J. Cosm. Astr. Physics 2 (2010), 027.
- [53] V. GEORGIEV, Decay estimates for the Klein-Gordon equation, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 17 (1992), 1111–1139.
- [54] V. GEORGIEV AND P. POPIVANOV, Global solution to the two-dimensional Klein-Gordon equation, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 16 (1991), 941–995.
- [55] P. GERMAIN, Global existence for coupled Klein–Gordon equations with different speeds, Ann. Inst. Fourier 61 (2011), 2463–2506.
- [56] P. GERMAIN AND N. MASMOUDI, Global existence for the Euler-Maxwell system, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 47 (2014), 469–503.

- [57] P. GERMAIN, N. MASMOUDI AND J. SHATAH, Global solutions for the gravity water waves equation in dimension 3, Ann. of Math. 175 (2012), 691–754.
- [58] S.W. HAWKING AND G.F.R. ELLIS, The large scale structure of spacetime, Cambridge Monographs on Math. Phys., Vol. 1, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1973.
- [59] D. HILDITCH, E. HARMS, M. BUGNER, H. RUETER, AND B. BRUEGMANN, The evolution of hyperboloidal data with the dual foliation formalism: Mathematical analysis and wave equation tests, Preprint arXiv:1609.08949.
- [60] G. HOLZEGEL AND C.M. WARNICK, The Einstein-Klein-Gordon-AdS system for general boundary conditions, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 12 (2015), 293–342.
- [61] L. HÖRMANDER, L¹−L[∞] estimates for the wave operator, in "Analyse Math ématique et Applications", Contributions en l'honneur de J. L. Lions- Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1988, pp. 211–234.
- [62] L. HÖRMANDER, Lectures on nonlinear hyperbolic differential equations, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [63] A. HOSHIGA AND H. KUBO, Global small amplitude solutions of nonlinear hyperbolic systems with a critical exponent under the null condition, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 31 (2000), 486–513.
- [64] A.D. IONESCU AND B. PAUSADER, Global solutions of quasi-linear systems of Klein-Gordon equations in 3D, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 16 (2015), 2355–2431.
- [65] A.D. IONESCU AND B. PAUSADER, On the global regularity for a wave-Klein-Gordon coupled system, Preprint arXiv:1703.02846.
- [66] A.D. IONESCU AND B. PAUSADER, in preparation.
- [67] F. JOHN, Lower bounds for the life span of solutions of nonlinear wave equations in three space dimensions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 36 (1983), 1–35.

- [68] F. JOHN, Existence for large times of strict solutions of nonlinear wave equations in three space dimensions for small initial data, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 40 (1987), 79–109.
- [69] S. KATAYAMA, Global existence for coupled systems of nonlinear wave and Klein-Gordon equations in three space dimensions, Math. Z. 270 (2012), 487–513.
- [70] S. KATAYAMA, Asymptotic pointwise behavior for systems of semi-linear wave equations in three space dimensions, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 9 (2012), 263–323.
- [71] S. KATAYAMA AND H. KUBO, The rate of convergence to the asymptotics for the wave equation in an exterior domain, Funkcial. Ekvac. 53 (2010), 331–358.
- [72] S. KATAYAMA AND H. KUBO, Lower bound of the lifespan of solutions to semilinear wave equations in an exterior domain, J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 10 (2013), 199–234.
- [73] S. KATAYAMA, T. OZAWA, AND H. SUNAGAWA, A note on the null condition for quadratic nonlinear Klein-Gordon systems in two space dimensions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 65 (2012), 1285–1302.
- [74] S. KATAYAMA AND K. YOKOYAMA, Global small amplitude solutions to systems of nonlinear wave equations with multiple speeds, Osaka J. Math. 43 (2006), 283– 326.
- [75] Y. KAWAHARA AND H. SUNAGAWA, Global small amplitude solutions for twodimensional nonlinear Klein-Gordon systems in the presence of mass resonance, J. Differential Equations 251 (2011), 2549–2567.
- [76] S. KLAINERMAN, Global existence for nonlinear wave equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 33 (1980), 43–101.
- [77] S. KLAINERMAN, Uniform decay estimates and the Lorentz invariance of the classical wave equation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 38 (1985), 321–332.
- [78] S. KLAINERMAN, Global existence of small amplitude solutions to nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations in four spacetime dimensions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 38 (1985), 631–641.

- [79] S. KLAINERMAN, The null condition and global existence to nonlinear wave equations, in "Nonlinear systems of partial differential equations in applied mathematics", Part 1, Santa Fe, N.M., 1984, Lectures in Appl. Math., Vol. 23, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1986, pp. 293–326.
- [80] S. KLAINERMAN, Remarks on the global Sobolev inequalities in the Minkowski space \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 40 (1987), 111–117.
- [81] D. LANNES, Space-time resonances [after Germain, Masmoudi, Shatah], Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 2011/2012, Astérisque No. 352 (2013), 355–388.
- [82] P.G. LEFLOCH, An introduction to self-gravitating matter, Graduate course given at Institute Henri Poincaré, Paris, Fall 2015, available at http://www.youtube.com/user/PoincareInstitute.
- [83] P.G. LEFLOCH, An introduction to the Einstein-Euler system, in preparation.
- [84] P.G. LEFLOCH, The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski spacetime for self-gravitating massive fields, Aachen Conference Proceedings. Preprint arXiv:1612.09421.
- [85] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The hyperboloidal foliation method, World Scientific Press, 2014.
- [86] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski spacetime for the Einstein equations in presence of massive fields, Note C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris 354 (2016), 948–953.
- [87] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski space for self-gravitating massive fields. The wave-Klein-Gordon model, Comm. Math. Phys. 346 (2016), 603–665.
- [88] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski space for self-gravitating massive fields, World Scientific Press, 2017.
- [89] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The mathematical validity of the f(R)-theory of modified gravity, Mem. French. Math. Soc., Vol. 150, 2017.

- [90] P.G. LEFLOCH AND Y. MA, The Euclidian-hyperboidal foliation method and the nonlinear stability of Minkowski spacetime, Preprint 2017, submitted for publication.
- [91] P.G. LEFLOCH AND C.-H. WEI, Boundedness of the total energy of relativistic membranes evolving in a curved spacetime, Preprint arXiv:1610.02519.
- [92] H. LINDBLAD, On the lifespan of solutions of nonlinear wave equations with small initial data, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 43 (1990), 445–472.
- [93] H. LINDBLAD, M. NAKAMURA, AND C.D. SOGGE, Remarks on global solutions for nonlinear wave equations under the standard null conditions, J. Differential Equations 254 (2013), 1396–1436.
- [94] H. LINDBLAD AND I. RODNIANSKI, Global existence for the Einstein vacuum equations in wave coordinates, Comm. Math. Phys. 256 (2005), 43–110.
- [95] H. LINDBLAD AND I. RODNIANSKI, The global stability of Minkowski spacetime in harmonic gauge, Ann. of Math. 171 (2010), 1401–1477.
- [96] H. LINDBLAD AND M. TAYLOR, Global stability of Minkowski space for the Einstein–Vlasov system in the harmonic gauge, Preprint arXiv:1707.06079.
- [97] J. LUK, The null condition and global existence for nonlinear wave equations on slowly rotating Kerr spacetimes, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 15 (2013), 1629–1700.
- [98] Y. MA, Wave-Klein-Gordon equations in 1 + 1 dimensions, in preparation.
- [99] G. MAGNANO AND L.M. SOKOLOWSKI, On physical equivalence between modified gravity theories and a general relativistic self-gravitating scalar field, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994), 5039–5059.
- [100] V. MONCRIEF AND O. RINNE, Regularity of the Einstein equations at future null infinity, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009), 125010.
- [101] C.S. MORAWETZ, Decay for solutions of the exterior problem for the wave equation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 28 (1974), 229–264.

- [102] C.S. MORAWETZ AND W.A. STRAUSS, Decay and scattering of solutions of a nonlinear relativistic wave equation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 25 (1972), 1–31.
- [103] G. MOSCHIDIS, A proof of the instability of AdS for the Einsteinnull dust system with an inner mirror, Preprint arXiv:1704.08681.
- [104] G. MOSCHIDIS, The Einsteinnull dust system in spherical symmetry with an inner mirror: structure of the maximal development and Cauchy stability, Preprint arXiv:1704.08685.
- [105] S. NOJIRI AND S.D. ODINTSOV, Unified cosmic history in modified gravity: from f(R)-theory to Lorentz non-invariant models, Phys. Rept. 505 (2011), 59– 144.
- [106] H. OKAWA, V. CARDOSO, AND P. PANI, Collapse of self-interacting fields in asymptotically flat spacetimes: do self-interactions render Minkowski spacetime unstable? Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014), 041502.
- [107] T. OZAWA, K. TSUTAYA, AND Y. TSUTSUMI, Normal form and global solutions for the Klein-Gordon-Zakharov equations, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 12 (1995), 459–503.
- [108] R. PENROSE, Asymptotic properties of fields and space-times, Phys. Rev. Lett. 10 (1963), 66–68.
- [109] F. PUSATERI AND J. SHATAH, Space-time resonances and the null condition for first-order systems of wave equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 66 (2013), 1495–1540.
- [110] F. PUSATERI, Space-time resonances and the null condition for wave equations, Boll. Unione Mat. Ital. 6 (2013), 513–529.
- [111] A. RENDALL, An introduction to the EinsteinVlasov system. Banach Center Publications 41 (1997), 35–68.
- [112] O. RINNE, An axisymmetric evolution code for the Einstein equations on hyperboloidal slices, Class. Quantum Grav. 27 (2010), 035014.

- [113] O. RINNE AND V. MONCRIEF, Hyperboloidal Einstein-matter evolution and tails for scalar and Yang-Mills fields, Class. Quantum Grav. 30 (2013), 095009.
- [114] M. SALGADO AND D. MARTINEZ-DEL RIO, The initial value problem of scalartensor theories of gravity, in: VII Mexican School on Gravitation and Mathematical Physics, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 91, (2007), 012004.
- [115] R. SCHOEN, S. T. YAU, On the proof of the positive mass conjecture in general relativity, Comm. Math. Phys. 65 (1979), 45–76.
- [116] E. SEIDEL AND W.-M. SUEN, Oscillating soliton stars, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 (1991), 1659.
- [117] J. SHATAH, Normal forms and quadratic nonlinear Klein–Gordon equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 38 (1985), 685–696.
- [118] J. SHATAH, Space-time resonances, Quart. Appl. Math. 68 (2010), 161–167.
- [119] T.C. SIDERIS, Decay estimates for the three space dimensional inhomogeneous Klein-Gordon equation and applications, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 14 (1989), 1421–1455.
- [120] T.C. SIDERIS AND S.-Y. TU, Global existence for systems of nonlinear wave equations in 3D with multiple speeds, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 33 (2001), 477–488.
- [121] J. SMULEVICI, Small data solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson system and the vector field method, Ann. PDE 11 (2016), 11–66.
- [122] C.D. SOGGE, Lectures on nonlinear wave equations, International Press, 2010.
- [123] A. STINGO, Global existence and asymptotics for quasi-linear one-dimensional Klein-Gordon equations with mildly decaying Cauchy data, Preprint 2017.
- [124] W.A. STRAUSS, Decay and asymptotics for $\Box u = F(u)$, J. Funct. Anal. 2 (1968), 409–457.
- [125] W.A. STRAUSS, Nonlinear wave equations, CBMS 73, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, 1989.

- [126] H. SUNAGAWA, On global small amplitude solutions to systems of cubic nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations with different mass terms in one space dimension, J. Differential Equations 192 (2003), 308–325.
- [127] H. SUNAGAWA, A note on the large time asymptotics for a system of Klein-Gordon equations, Hokkaido Math. J. 33 (2004), 457–472.
- [128] D. TATARU, Strichartz estimates for operators with non-smooth coefficients and the nonlinear wave equation I, Amer. J. Math. 122 (2000), 349–376.
- [129] D. TATARU, Strichartz estimates for operators with non-smooth coefficients and the nonlinear wave equation II, Amer. J. Math. 123 (2001), 385–423.
- [130] D. TATARU, Strichartz estimates for operators with non-smooth coefficients and the nonlinear wave equation III, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 (2002), 419–442.
- [131] M.E. TAYLOR, Partial differential equations III. Nonlinear equations, Appl. Math. Sc., Vol. 117, Springer Verlag, New York, 2011.
- [132] M. TAYLOR, The global nonlinear stability of Minkowski space for the massless Einstein–Vlasov system, Ann. P.D.E. 31 (2017).
- [133] Y. TSUTSUMI, Stability of constant equilibrium for the Maxwell-Higgs equations, Funkcial. Ekvac. 46 (2003), 41–62.
- [134] Y. TSUTSUMI, Global solutions for the Dirac-Proca equations with small initial data in 3 + 1 space time dimensions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 278 (2003), 485–499.
- [135] A. VANÓ-VINUALES, S. HUSA, AND D. HILDITCH, Spherical symmetry as a test case for unconstrained hyperboloidal evolution, Class. Quantum Gravity 32 (2015), 175010.
- [136] R.M. WALD, General relativity, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1984.
- [137] Q. WANG, An intrinsic hyperboloid approach for Einstein Klein-Gordon equations, Preprint ArXiv: 1607.01466.

- [138] Q. WANG, Global existence for the Einstein equations with massive scalar fields, in preparation.
- [139] E. WITTEN, A new proof of the positive energy theorem, Comm. Math. Phys. 80 (1981), 381–402.
- [140] K. YOKOYAMA, Global existence of classical solutions to systems of wave equations with critical nonlinearity in three space dimensions, J. Math. Soc. Japan 52 (2000), 609–632.
- [141] A. ZENGINOGLU, Hyperboloidal evolution with the Einstein equations, Class. Quantum Grav. 25 (2008), 195025.
- [142] A. ZENGINOGLU, Hyperboloidal layers for hyperbolic equations on unbounded domains, J. Comput. Phys. 230 (2011), 2286–2302.
- [143] A. ZENGINOGLU AND L.E. KIDDER, Hyperboloidal evolution of test fields in three spatial dimensions, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 124010.